# Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits

MCC-AF-ARC-1082.01

Effective: September 24, 2024



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acronyms & Abbreviations	3
Chapter 1. Fundamentals of the Audit Guidelines	5
Purpose	
Scope	_
Authorities	_
Effective Date	_
Background	•
Criteria	
Applicability	8
Roles and Responsibilities	
Audit Costs and Sanctions	
Accessibility To Books and Records	12
Compliance With Auditing Standards	12
Accountable Entity & Foreign Organizations Responsibilities of Audits	13
Audits Periods	13
Chapter 2. Selection of Independent Public Accountants	
Audit Firms	15
Chanton a Authoritative Auditing Cuidence	
Chapter 3. Authoritative Auditing Guidance	
Conceptual Framework for Independence	•
Independence Impairments	
Non-Audit Services	
Competence And CPE	· ·
QC And QA	
Related Parties	
Fraud	
Fraud Brainstorming Session	=
Inquiries With Management and Others About Fraud Risks	
Planning	
Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships	
Identifying Risk Factors and Risk Assessments	
Engagement Partner Responsibilities	
Those Charged With Governance	
Audit Evidence	
Chapter 4. Assessing Information System Controls	
Application of FISCAM to MCC Audits	46

Chapter 5. Audit Objectives	47
Audit of MCC Funds and Government Funds Eligible for MCC Reimbursement	47
Engagement of the Cost-Sharing Schedule	48
SSARS	49
The American Catalyst Facility For Development (ACFD)	49
Agreed-Upon Procedures	50
Chapter 6. Audit Scope	53
Pre-Audit Steps	53
Fund Accountability Statement	53
Notes to the Fund Accountability Statement	58
Cost-Sharing Schedule	59
Agreement With Life-Of-Project Cost-Sharing Budget	
Agreement With Annual Cost-Sharing Budget	
Internal Control	
Compliance With Agreement Terms and Applicable Laws and Regulations	
Follow-Up On Prior Audit Recommendations	
Other Audit Responsibilities	
Closeout Audit	67
Chapter 7. Audit Reports	69
What Is An Auditor's Opinion?	69
Opinion Types	69
Independent Auditor's Report on the Fund Accountability Statement Report	70
Cost-Sharing Review Report	
Report on Internal Control And Compliance	72
Findings	73
Repeat Findings	74
Management Letter	74
Appendix I	75
Illustrative Engagement Letter	75
Appendix II	83
Illustrative Management Representation Letter	83
Appendix III	91
Illustrative Examples of Consolidated Fund Accountability Statement for Compact Fundin	g – Compact
Faciliation Funding, Compact Development Funding, and Threshold Program Grant Agree Funding	
Appendix IV	
Illustrative Examples of The Cost-Sharing Schedule	



Appendix V	101
Illustrative Audit Reports	101
Appendix VI	131
Illustrative Accountant's Report on the Cost-Sharing Schedule for Agreements With Lif	
Cost-Sharing Budgets and Annual Cost-Sharing Budgets	131
Appendix VII	139
Illustrative Outline of An Auditor's Statement Of Work	
Appendix VIII	141
Illustrative Schedule of Audit Findings and Questioned Costs	141
Appendix IX	145
Independence Self-Assessment Checklist	145
Appendix X	147
MCC's Requested Supplemental Documents	
Appendix XI	151
Acceptance And Continuance Checklist	
Appendix XII	155



ACTION:	APPROVER:	DATE:	
APPROVAL:	Fouad Saad, Vice President,		
	Department Administration and Finance	September 23, 2024	
Santambar 2024	The previous policy has been rescinded and replaced by this policy		
September 2024	(AF-2021-82.1).		
	Added and revised language to the following sections: 1.10 - 1.11,		
	1.33, 1.35, 5.4, 5.5, 6.8 - 6.10, and 6.23.		
Section Reference	Introduced the Accountant's Closeout Review Report on a Fund		
	Accountability Statement, in accordance with auditing standards.		
	Revised and updated Appendix XII and the Reference Materials		

MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

# **ACRONYMS & ABBREVIATIONS**

Acronym/Abbreviation	Definition	
AC	Access Controls	
AE	Accountable Entity	
AEAP	Accountable Entity Audit Program Branch	
AICPA	American Institute of Certified Public Accountants	
ARC	Audit, Risk, and Controls Division	
AO	Agreement Officer	
CAP	Corrective Action Plan	
CDF	Compact Development Funding	
CEO	Chief Executive Officer	
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations	
CFF	Compact Facilitation Funding	
CPE	Continuing Professional Education	
D.C.	District of Columbia	
FAP	Fiscal Accountability Plan	
FAM	Financial Audit Manual	
FAS	Fund Accountability Statement	
FASAB	Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board	
FASB	Financial Accounting Standards Board	
FISCAM	Federal Information System Controls Audit Manual	
FISMA	Federal Information Security Management Act	
FY	Fiscal Year	
GAAP	Generally Accepted Accounting Principles	
GAAS	Generally Accepted Auditing Standards	
GAGAS or GAS	Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards	
GAO	Government Accountability Office	
GASB	Government Accounting Standards Board	
Green Book	Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government	
Audit Guidelines	Accountable Entities Audit Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits	
НСМ	Human Capital Management	
HR	Human Resources	
IAASB	The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board	
ICOFR	Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting	
IPA	Independent Public Accountants	
IS	Information System	
IT	Information Technology	
MCC	Millennium Challenge Corporation	
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology	
ОМВ	Office of Management and Budget	
PAA	Program Acquisition and Assistance	

Acronym/Abbreviation	Definition	
PCAOB	Public Company Accounting and Oversight Board	
PFS	Program Financial Services	
POM	Procurement Operations Manual	
PPG	Accountable Entity Procurement Policy & Guidelines	
PGG	Program Grant Guidelines	
QA	Quality Assurance	
QC	Quality Control	
QCR	Quality Control Review	
SAS	Statements on Auditing Standards	
SOW	Statement of Work	
SP	Special Publication	
SSAE	Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements	
SSARS	Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services	
State	Department of State	
Treasury	United States Department of the Treasury	
U.S.C.	United States Code	
USAID	U.S. Agency for International Development	
VAT	Value-Added Taxes	
Yellow Book	U.S. GAGAS	

# **CHAPTER 1. FUNDAMENTALS OF THE AUDIT GUIDELINES**

### **PURPOSE**

1.1 This policy establishes the audit guidelines for independent audit firms in performing contracted financial audits and review engagements for Accountable Entities¹ and foreign organizations², as required by Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) agreements ³with Recipient Country Governments⁴. This policy also provides guidance to the Accountable Entities, foreign organizations, and Covered Providers (as defined below in Section 1.7) in understanding the audit process and in selecting independent audit firms to perform the audits and/or review engagements.

# **SCOPE**

1.2 This policy (also referred to as the *Audit Guidelines*) applies to Accountable Entities, foreign organizations, Covered Providers, contracted independent audit firms, MCC's employees and contractors (including personal services contractors), whether performing work in Washington, D.C. or abroad, who are associated with financial audits and review engagements of the Accountable Entities and foreign organizations.

# **AUTHORITIES**

- **1.3** The authorities for this policy include:
  - a) Millennium Challenge Act of 2003, as amended (22 United States Code [U.S.C.] \$7701 et seq.) ("the Act").
  - b) Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Title 2, *Grants and Agreements*, Chapter II, Part 200, *Uniform Ad-ministrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.*

# **EFFECTIVE DATE**

1.4 This policy was approved as of September 23, 2024 and is effective immediately and will remain in effect until itis modified, revoked, or superseded. In the event of a reorganization of MCC, this policy will

<sup>1 &</sup>quot;Accountable Entities" are those entities designated by the Recipient Country Government and approved by MCC to carry out the Recipient Country Government responsibilities and obligations with respect to the MCC grant. For purposes of a grant made under authority Section 609(g) or 616(a) of the Act, the Accountable Entity may be a team of individuals designated by the Recipient Country Government. The Accountable Entity also manages and oversees all aspects of Compact and Threshold Program implementation.

<sup>2</sup> CFR 200.47 Foreign organization means an entity that is: (a) A public or private organization located in a country other than the United States and its territories that are subject to the laws of the country in which it is located, irrespective of the citizenship of project staff or place of performance; (b) A private nongovernmental organization located in a country other than the United States that solicits and receives cash contributions from the general public; (c) A charitable organization located in a country other than the United States that is nonprofit and tax exempt under the laws of its country of domicile and operation, and is not a university, college, accredited degree granting institution of education, private foundation, hospital, organization engaged exclusively in research or scientific activities, church, synagogue, mosque or other similar entities organized primarily for religious purposes; or (d) An organization located in a country other than the United States not recognized as a Foreign Public Entity.

<sup>3 &</sup>quot;MCC agreements" are defined as MCC-funded grants and implementing agreements.

<sup>4 &</sup>quot;Recipient Country Governments" are governments of those countries with which MCC has entered into MCC grant agreements.

remain in effect with respect to any successor position or office performing the functions of its predecessor. This policy supersedes any prior policy or guidance with respect to the subject matter hereof.

### BACKGROUND

MCC was established by the Act to administer the Millennium Challenge Account (MCA). MCC grants funds appropriated to the MCA to nations that govern justly, invest in their people, and encourage economic freedom in order to support agreed economic growth projects in those countries. MCC is a United States Government corporation that supports innovative strategies and ensures accountability for measurable results. MCC makes use of its flexible authorities to optimize efficiency in contracting, program implementation, and personnel. MCC's management unit is supervised by a Board of Directors composed of the Secretaries of the United States Department of State (State) and the United States Department of the Treasury (Treasury), the United States Trade Representative, the Administrator of the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of MCC, and four private sector members appointed by the President of the United States of America with the advice and consent of the Senate. By law, the Secretary of State is the Chair of the Board.

- 1.5 MCC maintains its central headquarters staff in Washington, D.C. and has limited staff in partner countries. Under Section 605 of the Act, MCC provides assistance to eligible countries through a Millennium Challenge Compact to support compact programs focused on reducing poverty through economic growth. Under Section 616 of the Act, MCC is authorized to provide assistance to certain candidate countries as they work to become eligible countries; these grants are smaller than compact grants and the programs are referred to as threshold programs.
- 1.6 A threshold program provides an opportunity for a partner country to demonstrate its commitment toward a potential future compact partnership with MCC. The Threshold Program has currently two main implementation models: the Accountable Entity Model and the Non-Accountable Entity Model. The Non-Accountable Entity Model is MCC-managed through direct contracting and the utilization of partnerships with other organizations such as U.S. non-governmental organizations and foreign nonprofit organizations to implement various program components.
- 1.7 A Covered Provider is an entity to which the Accountable Entity has disbursed \$1,000,000<sup>5</sup> or more of MCC funding<sup>6</sup> within a single fiscal year (FY) <sup>7</sup>as part of one or more binding agreements that meet both of the following criteria:
  - The agreement is other than a fixed price contract or fixed amount award grant for which the value has been determined through a competitive procurement or grant selection process; and
  - The agreement requires the entity to manage funding directly<sup>8</sup> on behalf of the Accountable Entity.

<sup>5</sup> Audit threshold will increase to \$1 million dollars after October 1, 2024, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.

<sup>6 &</sup>quot;MCC funding" is funding provided to Recipient Country Governments under MCC agreements.

<sup>7</sup> The relevant fiscal year is the fiscal year adopted by the Accountable Entity, Foreign Organization and/or the Recipient Country Government.

<sup>8</sup> This includes the determination and documentation of costs incurred as would be required under a cost reimbursement contract.

In addition, Implementing Entities<sup>9</sup> that directly manage more than \$1,000,000 of MCC funding, disbursed to them within a single FY, are considered to be Covered Providers.

- 1.8 The Accountable Entity performs all contracting actions necessary to engage an independent audit firm to perform the required audits of both the Accountable Entity's program and those of any Covered Providers. Funding for audits of the Accountable Entity's program is funded from compact or threshold program funds.
- **1.9** The cost of an audit of a Covered Provider may be incurred by the Covered Provider and reported as any normal expense incurred during the project. If a Covered Provider is subject to audit, this requirement should be included in bidding documents and any contracts or agreements.
- **1.10** If more than one accountable entity/MCC partner country provides funds to a Covered Provider, the entity that provides the greatest amount of funds will act as the designated lead among the countries in assuring appropriate audits are conducted of the Covered Provider, unless otherwise directed by MCC.
- agreements, and threshold program grant agreements. In April 2018, the African Growth & Opportunity Act (AGOA) and the Millennium Challenge Act Modernization Act gave MCC the authority to enter into concurrent compacts; in practice, this means that countries can have more than one compact active at a time provided that one of those programs focuses on promoting cross-border economic integration, trade and collaboration. Compact, CDF, and threshold program, Entity to contract with independent auditors that are acceptable to MCC to perform financial audits of the funds provided under the agreements at least annually, unless otherwise specified by MCC. As described in section 1.7, above, Implementing Entity agreements between an Accountable Entity and other agencies of the Recipient Country Government may require application of these *Audit Guidelines* and may result in the requirement for the Implementing Entity to contract independent auditors that are acceptable to MCC to perform financial audits of the funds provided under the agreements.
- benefit MCC, Accountable Entities, and partner organizations by increasing the agency's respective access to cutting-edge research, knowledge, data, technologies, networks and expertise, as well as co-funding. MCC's Partnership Annual Program Statement (APS) is the agency's primary mechanism by which MCC co-creates, co-funds, and co-implements partnerships that support MCC's ability to design programs, utilize new approaches for due diligence, and monitor and evaluate programs. Partnerships developed through the APS result in Cooperative Agreements with cost-sharing by partners, which may be individual organizations or a combination of organizations teaming together. MCC primarily uses the APS for MCC-led, due diligence funded activities that do not involve Accountable Entities; however, the APS is periodically used to form partnerships in instances where MCC conducts country program partnership activities on behalf of Accountable Entities. MCC's Program Partnership Solicitation (PPS) is the primary mechanism for Accountable Entity-led, MCC-funded partnerships. The PPS enables Accountable Entities to co-create and collaborate closely on development and/or implementation of a project or activity as part of a compact or threshold program. The Accountable Entity substantially funds the partnership activity with significant partner contributions and shared governance approach, which is captured in a Program

<sup>9 &</sup>quot;Implementing Entities" are defined as one or more entities of the Recipient Country Government engaged by that government to implement and carry out any Project or Activity (or a component thereof) under a MCC agreement.

Partnership Agreement (PPA). Both the APS and PPS utilize competition to form partnerships. MCC is developing additional modalities for Accountable Entity-led partnering that may be launched in the coming year(s).

# **CRITERIA**

1.13 MCC is required to follow provisions of the CFR Title 2, Grants and Agreements, Chapter II, Part 200 – Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. MCC created the Accountable Entity Audit Program (AEAP) branch within the Department of Administration and Finance's Audits, Risk, and Controls division to ensure that MCC assistance and awards comply with 2 CFR 200 to MCC assistance and to monitor the contracted accountable entity and foreign organization financial audits and review engagements. These Audit Guidelines are issued by MCC and supersede the previous Office of Inspector General's (OIG) Audit Guidelines for Financial Audits Contracted by Foreign Recipients. These Audit Guidelines focus primarily on contracted financial audits and other engagements

# **APPLICABILITY**

- 1.14 MCC agreements require that the relevant foreign public entities ¹o(Accountable Entities) and foreign organizations perform a financial audit at least annually when the recipient expends \$1,000,000 or more in MCC funding in its FY. In addition to these annual audit requirements, a close-out audit must be performed for each award in excess of \$1,000,000 expended during the life of the project, in accordance with these *Audit Guidelines*. At its own discretion, MCC may require audits more frequently than annually to mitigate risk or prevent fraud, waste, and abuse. If the Accountable Entity expends less than \$1,000,000 during a reporting period, the audit may be delayed until the subsequent period. The cumulative costs will be audited during the subsequent reporting period.
- 1.15 MCC's compact, CDF, and threshold program grant agreements also require that an audit contracted by the Accountable Entity be performed at least annually in accordance with these *Audit Guidelines* when a Covered Provider expends \$1,000,000 or more in MCC funding in its FY as part of an Implementing Entity grant agreement or contract. The determination of when an award is expended must be based on when the activity related to the award occurs. Even when an audit is not required under the *Audit Guidelines*, if MCC or the Accountable Entity determines that an audit should be performed, the contract, scope of the audit, and the draft audit report must be submitted to the Accountable Entity for review and issuance.
- 1.16 In addition, agreements for cash transfers and sector assistance may include contracted financial audit requirements. Such audits must be performed in accordance with these *Audit Guidelines*. Endowment or trust funds created out of MCC awards, fixed-price contracts, and fixed amount award grants do not require audits under these Audit Guidelines but may be undertaken at the request of the Accountable Entity or of MCC.

<sup>10 2</sup> CFR 200.46 Foreign public entity means: (a) A foreign government or foreign governmental entity; (b) A public international organization, which is an organization entitled to enjoy privileges, exemptions, and immunities as an international organization under the International Organizations Immunities Act (22 USC 288–288f); (c) An entity owned (in whole or in part) or controlled by a foreign government; or (d) Any other entity consisting wholly or partially of one or more foreign governments or foreign governmental entities.

# **ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES**

Roles and Responsibilities of MCC

- 1.17 In July 2017, the USAID OIG notified MCC that it would no longer perform certain functions related to the financial audits of Accountable Entities that it had performed previously, as a result of a peer review that identified independence issues in the audit program and program management functions that should appropriately be performed by MCC. On May 1, 2018, the OIG decided to no longer provide technical guidance to independent public accountants (IPA) firms, approve IPA deliverables for payment, review work and audit programs not already in the OIG's possession as of April 5, 2018, or review any draft reports received on or after May 1, 2018. As a result, MCC assumed the former OIG responsibilities to perform the monitoring functions.
- 1.18 MCC's AEAP responsibilities are to: 1) monitor and ensure that the required contracted financial audits of the Accountable Entity, foreign organizations, and all Covered Providers expending \$1,000,000 or more in their FYs are performed in a timely manner; 2) issue and revise guidance to the Accountable Entity regarding the scope of external financial audits performed by contracted IPA firms; 3) establish and maintain an approved list of IPA firms; 4) perform quality desk reviews of the planning documents and the draft and final audit reports to ensure the audits are compliant with 2 CFR 200 Subpart F, these *Audit Guidelines*, and Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS); 5) provide "no objections" to the Accountable Entity for payment of IPA deliverables; and 6) ensure proper actions are taken by the Accountable Entity to correct deficiencies identified by the IPAs.
- **1.19** MCC is responsible for ensuring that audit contract agreements between an Accountable Entity or foreign organization and its independent auditors contain a standard statement of work (SOW) that includes all the requirements of these *Audit Guidelines*. MCC is also responsible for overseeing the resolution of an Accountable Entity's, foreign organization's, or Covered Provider's organization-wide internal control and compliance deficiencies.

# MCC HOTLINE

All MCC and Accountable Entity staff, and all others working with MCC funding, are required to promptly report suspected incidents of fraudulent or corrupt practices through one of the following methods:

Email to <a href="mailto:hotline@mcc.gov">hotline@mcc.gov</a> or <a href="mailto:mcchotline@usaid.gov">mcchotline@usaid.gov</a>;

Filling out web form on the website of the Office of the Inspector General responsible for MCC (<a href="https://oig.usaid.gov/report-fraud">https://oig.usaid.gov/report-fraud</a>);

Telephoning the OIG at 1-800-230-6539 or 202-712-1023;

Contacting a member of MCC's AFC Team.

# Roles and Responsibilities of the OIG

1.20 The OIG provides oversight services for MCC, and monitors reports related to contracted financial audits of Accountable Entities, foreign organizations, and Covered Providers that meet the \$1,000,000 audit threshold in order to ensure compliance with GAGAS. The OIG maintains a Hotline to facilitate the reporting of allegations of fraud, waste, abuse, and mismanagement within MCC funds, programs, and operations.

# **OIG HOTLINE**

An OIG Hotline exists to receive complaints of fraud, waste, or abuse within MCC programs and operations, including mismanagement or violations of law, rules, or regulations by MCC employees or program participants. Complaints may be received directly from MCC employees, participants in MCC programs, or the general public. The Inspector General Act<sup>1</sup> and other pertinent laws provide for the protection of persons making hotline complaints. There are three options to submit complaint(s) via Internet e-mail, telephone, or U.S. mail. However, if the complainant elects to submit the complaint(s) via Internet e-mail, the complainant must waive confidentiality due to the non-secure nature of Internet e-mail systems.

# Contact Information:

• Telephone #: (1-800) 230-6539 (inside the U.S.) or (202) 712-1023

• E-mail Address: <u>ig.hotline@usaid.gov</u>

Mailing address:
 USAID OIG HOTLINE
 P.O. Box 657
 Washington, D.C. 20044-0657

1 Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended.

Authorities and Responsibilities of the Recipient Country Government

1.21 A compact, CDF, or threshold program Recipient Country Government is responsible for assigning or delegating responsibilities to an Accountable Entity. The Recipient Country Government has primary responsibility for oversight and management of the implementation of the program 1) in accordance with terms and conditions specified in the compact, CDF, or threshold program grant agreement, and relevant supplemental agreements, 2) in accordance with all applicable country laws, and 3) in a timely and cost-effective manner and in conformity with sound technical, financial, and management practices.

Authorities and Responsibilities of the Accountable Entity or foreign organizations

1.22 The Accountable Entity is an entity designated to exercise government responsibilities under the compact, CDF, or threshold program grant agreement. The Recipient Country Government delegates authority to the Accountable Entity to enter into contracts and manage the day-to-day implementation of the compact, CDF, threshold program grant agreement. The fiscal agent and procurement agent are

contracted agents of the Accountable Entity and fulfill certain fiduciary duties in accordance with the Compact, CDF, Threshold Program grant agreement. The Accountable Entity or foreign organization also procures an independent auditor to provide a periodic audit of its books and records. The fiscal agent may be a ministry within a government, an accounting firm, financial service provider, or a project manager and has responsibility for funds control, disbursements, cash management, and compliance with relevant provisions of the compact, CDF, threshold program grant agreement.

- 1.23 The Accountable Entity or foreign organization will maintain an inventory of all awarded contracts, grants, and agreements, identifying those that may require a contracted audit. Generally, those awarded for amounts greater than \$1,000,000 for periods of one year or less for something other than the provision of goods and services or civil works on other than a fixed-price basis will require a contracted audit. This inventory will be provided annually to MCC.
- 1.24 The Accountable Entity or foreign organization ensures that the required audits are performed for its programs and that all audit agreements for audits of the Accountable Entity, the Covered Providers or foreign organization and their independent auditors include the standard SOW that is contained in these Audit Guidelines. Accordingly, prior to finalization, the Accountable Entity must send all prospective audit contracts to MCC for approval prior to finalization for itself and each of its Covered Providers subject to audit, expending \$1,000,000 or more in its FY. One annual audit must cover all Accountable Entity funding to a Covered Provider subject to audit.
- 1.25 Covered Providers that have contracts or agreements with more than one recipient country must send their audit contracts for approval to the designated lead Accountable Entity with which they have an agreement. The Accountable Entity that provides the greatest amount of funds will act as the designated lead, unless otherwise directed by MCC. This Accountable Entity will perform all the needed contracting actions necessary to engage an independent audit firm to perform the required audits of the Covered Providers, subject to audit. The designated lead Accountable Entity will coordinate the audit efforts with any other accountable entities that have agreements with the Covered Provider. The Accountable Entity will provide the independent auditors with any information required in the conduct of the audits.

# **AUDIT COSTS AND SANCTIONS**

- **1.26** Accountable Entities, foreign organizations, and Covered Providers subjected to audit may use MCC funding for performing the specific audit of their MCC-funded programs. However, no audit costs may be charged under an MCC agreement if audits are not performed in accordance with these *Audit Guidelines*. It is incumbent upon the independent auditor to produce a final product that meets this requirement.
- 1.27 MCC will consider appropriate sanctions against an Accountable Entity or foreign organization in the event of continued inability or unwillingness to have an audit performed in accordance with these *Audit Guidelines*. Sanctions could include suspension of disbursements to the Accountable Entity or foreign organization until a satisfactory audit is performed. Auditors submitting unacceptable work may be noted and excluded from MCC's list of IPA firms approved for performing audits under the contracted financial audit program. Similar actions may be taken against audit firms that do not provide timely responses to MCC's requests.

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

# ACCESSIBILITY TO BOOKS AND RECORDS

# Books and Records

1.28 The Recipient Country Government must maintain and use its best efforts to ensure that all Accountable Entities, foreign organizations, Covered Providers, implementing entities, banks, and other providers maintain accounting books, records, documents, and other evidence relating to the compact, CDF, threshold program grant agreement and adequately demonstrate, to the satisfaction of MCC, the use of all MCC Funding. In addition, those records that are in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, or at the government's option and with the prior written approval by MCC, or other accounting principles, such as those: 1) prescribed by the International Accounting Standards Committee (an affiliate of the International Federation of Accountants); or 2) then prevailing in the country must be maintained for at least five (5) years after the end of the grant agreement Term or for such longer period, if any, required to resolve any litigation, claims or audit findings or any statutory requirements.

# Accessibility

1.29 The Recipient Country Government is required to, at MCC's request,: (a) permit, or cause to be permitted, authorized agents or representatives of MCC or a Permitted Designee, the OIG, the United States Government Accountability Office, and any auditor responsible for an audit planned in or conducted in furtherance of the compact, CDF, or Threshold Program grant agreement to conduct any assessment, review or evaluation of the program, and grant them the opportunity to audit, review, evaluate, or inspect activities funded by MCC Funding or undertaken in connection with the program, the utilization of goods, services and civil works purchased or funded by MCC Funding, as well as records relating to activities funded or undertaken in furtherance of, or otherwise relating to, the compact, CDF, or threshold program grant agreement, and (b) must use its best efforts to ensure access by MCC, the OIG, the United States Government Accountability Office, or relevant auditor, reviewer, or evaluator, or their respective representatives or agents to all relevant directors, officers, employees, affiliates, contractors, representatives, and agents of the government or any Provider.

### COMPLIANCE WITH AUDITING STANDARDS

- 1.30 All contracted financial audits must be conducted in accordance with U.S. GAGAS ("Yellow Book") (hereafter referred to as *Government Auditing Standards*) issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) adopted by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), which have been incorporated into *Government Auditing Standards* by reference, unless MCC approves otherwise in accordance with 1.32. If the contracted IPAs desire technical assistance related to these audits, they should contact MCC's ARC, the Program Financial Services (PFS) practice group, and, if applicable, the Agreement Officer (AO).
- **1.31** MCC is aware that some IPA firms contracted by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization may not initially fully comply with these *Audit Guidelines* because of a lack of technical knowledge and experience in using *Government Auditing Standards*. MCC will assess and consider this lack of institutional capability when accepting or rejecting planning documents and drafting and finalizing audit reports. MCC may allow exceptions to compliance with *Government Auditing Standards* and these

Audit Guidelines provided that: a) audit reports are determined to be reliable, and b) any deviations from *Government Auditing Standards*, including non-compliance with internal and external quality control review (QCR) programs and continuing education requirements, are clearly stated in the report.

**1.32** The IPA firm is responsible for upgrading its audit capabilities. Nevertheless, MCC may consider providing technical assistance to the IPA firm in certain circumstances. MCC may remove an IPA firm from the list of approved firms if the IPA firm does not make adequate progress in upgrading its audit capabilities to comply with *Government Auditing Standards* and these *Audit Guidelines*.

# ACCOUNTABLE ENTITY & FOREIGN ORGANIZATIONS RESPONSIBILITIES OF AUDITS

- 1.33 Audits of MCC funds provided to an Accountable Entity or foreign organization are to be performed by an IPA firm in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*. The Accountable Entity or foreign organization must ensure that all records are available to the IPA firms, all accounting entries and adjustments are made properly, and all other necessary steps are taken to enable the auditors to complete their work. For annual audits, draft audit reports must be issued no later than 120 days following the end of the audit period end date and no later than 120 days after the end of each audited period thereafter. If determined by MCC to be necessary, semi-annual audits draft audit reports must be issued no later than 90 days after following the end of the audit period end date and no later than 90 days after the end of each audited period thereafter. When the grant agreement requires an annual audit or semi-annual audit, the Accountable Entity must meet the \$1,000,000 disbursement threshold in the FY. These audit requirements apply to all types of grant agreements, including compact, CDF, and threshold programs grant agreement. If the disbursements are below the \$1,000,000 audit threshold, MCC may determine an audit is warranted, based upon a need to mitigate risk, or prevent fraud, waste, and abuse, among other reasons. If audit is warranted, MCC would require the Accountable Entity or foreign organization to document their audit process through an approved Audit Plan.
- 1.34 It is recommended that Audits begin before the close of the period to be audited, since initiating audits after the close of the period could hinder timely audit reporting and may unduly restrict the scope of certain audit procedures. In addition, MCC recommends that independent audits be contracted well in advance of the period to be audited so that necessary interim audit work can be performed before the close of the audit period. If the initial audit schedule is delayed, MCC will work with the Accountable Entity or foreign organization to issue an implementation letter to establish the new audit report deadline for the delayed audit period. If there is a delay in an on-going audit, the Accountable Entity must develop a memo to file and submit it to MCC for no-objection Appendix VII of these *Audit Guidelines* presents an outline of an illustrative SOW to be included in contracted financial audit agreements.

# **AUDITS PERIODS**

- 1.35 All audit ending periods must be on one of the following quarterly reporting schedule: March 31st, June 30th, September 30th, or December 31st. To determine the most appropriate initial audit ending period, consider whether the following factors have been met:
  - The Accountable Entity or foreign organization directly managed MCC funds (compact, CDF, or threshold program grant agreement or Cooperative Agreement) met the audit threshold of \$1,000,000 in disbursements or more within a single FY.

- The appropriate Accountable Entity staff (e.g., Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or equivalent of these roles/titles) and critical consultants (e.g., fiscal agent, procurement agent, or equivalent of these roles/titles) are available to support the audit.
- MCC provided the Recommended List of IPAs.

PFS or the AO should monitor to determine when the above factors are met. The Accountable Entity or foreign organization audit ending period date must be the end of the quarterly period that falls nine months after meeting the factors above (e.g., if all factors are met by the quarter ending June 30, 2023, the audit period end date should be March 31, 2024). This will be documented in the initial Audit Plan.

The Accountable Entity or foreign organization is required to submit an Audit Plan no later than 60 calendar days before the end of each audit period (e.g. – if the audit period end date is March 31, 2024, the Audit Plan is due to MCC on January 30, 2024). If the Audit Plan is not provided by its due date the AE or foreign organization must request an extension and provide a detailed explanation of the delay. The submitted Audit Plan, which is subject to MCC no-objection, will include the end date of the initial audit and subsequent annual audit end dates, based on the criteria above. It will also include a detailed schedule and narrative for completing the required audit or review engagements of the AE or foreign organization to ensure timeliness of all audits.

Once approved, the Audit Plan establishes the deadline for submission of the draft audit report following the end of the audit period based on the frequency of the audit (annual or semi-annual). For annual audits, the due date would be 120 days after the end of the audit period, and for semi-annual audits the due date would be 90 days after the end of the audit period. These deadlines must be observed as agreed unless an updated agreement is reached, necessitating a formal amendment to the Audit Plan and an implementation letter to acknowledge this revision.

# CHAPTER 2. SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

- 2.1 The Accountable Entities or foreign organizations are responsible for selecting IPA firms that are acceptable to MCC. MCC grant agreements with Recipient Country Governments or foreign organizations require that the IPA firm audit MCC funding provided under the agreements annually. In addition, these agreements provide MCC the right to require semi-annual audits if determined by MCC to be necessary.
- 2.2 MCC maintains and frequently updates a list of IPA firms that have been vetted by MCC. This approved IPA firm list provides information about each IPA firm and every IPA firm listed has been deemed to have the ability to conduct a reliable audit that results in quality audit reports in accordance with applicable auditing standards. An IPA firm must be included in this list to be contracted by an Accountable Entity or foreign organization. The process to critically examine a potentially acceptable IPA firm may take months, depending on the country's audit environment. Therefore, the Accountable Entity, the foreign organization, or PFS should contact the AEAP Senior Director to initiate the IPA vetting process as soon as there is an expected time frame for the IPA firm procurement process. MCC encourages local firms to express interest in being included on the approved IPA list and may base its decision to accept an audit firm on prior experience in conjunction with the pre-qualification review. MCC also encourages Accountable Entities to rotate IPA firms every five years among eligible audit firms to ensure independence.
- 2.3 The Accountable Entity or foreign organization must use the standard SOW (Appendix VII) when issuing the solicitation for an IPA firm. Each Accountable Entity or foreign organization is required to obtain proposals from IPA firms on MCC's approved IPA list and to select an audit firm that the Accountable Entity or foreign organization has determined to be acceptable. The Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's selection of an IPA firm may be based on factors including the firm's past performance in terms of quality and timeliness (including preparing audit reports in English), independence from the organization to be audited, membership in the country's public accounting organization, the experience and credentials of firm staff proposed to participate in the audit, the availability of firm staff to accomplish audits within required timeframes, and cost. However, audit cost cannot be a controlling factor in the selection. After the Accountable Entity or foreign organization identifies the audit firm it wishes to select, it must submit the draft contract to MCC for approval. MCC's approval is required before an Accountable Entity or foreign organization can sign a contract with an IPA. The Accountable Entity or foreign organization will verify that the firm selected is on the list of approved IPA firms, and that the SOW contained in the contract complies with these Audit Guidelines.

# **AUDIT FIRMS**

2.4 All selected IPAs should meet or make satisfactory efforts within two years of signing the contract with the Accountable Entity toward meeting. Continuing professional education (CPE) requirements and internal and external peer review requirements in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*. MCC may remove any IPA firm that fails to meet this objective from the approved list of IPAs eligible to perform audits of MCC agreements. MCC may also remove a firm from the approved list that has not performed any audits under these *Audit Guidelines* for a period of four years or has not performed audits in accordance with applicable standards.

ant to these *Audit Guidelines* and to present audit reports and other contractual deliverables in a timely manner. If MCC, through the AEAP, rejects the work of an audit firm due to noncompliance with these *Audit Guidelines*, the audit costs may not be charged to the Accountable Entity or foreign organization until such time as the Accountable Entity Audit Program finds the deliverable to be acceptable. Should the IPA firm fail to make its deliverable acceptable, the IPA firm will not be considered acceptable to perform future audits until the Accountable Entity Audit Program determines that it has undergone an external QCR, implemented the resultant recommendations, and is capable of substantially improved performance.

# **CHAPTER 3. AUTHORITATIVE AUDITING GUIDANCE**

**3.1** Government Auditing Standards include by reference the AICPA Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS). Consequently, auditors performing financial statement audits in accordance with Government Auditing Standards should comply with the requirements found in Chapters 1-5 of Government Auditing Standards and the additional requirements for financial audits found in Chapter 6 "Standards for Financial Audits" of Government Auditing Standards.

### **GENERAL STANDARDS**

- **3.2** *Government Auditing Standards* establish a foundation for the credibility of an auditor's work. The general standards are as follows:
  - Independence: In all matters of the audit, work performed by the audit organization and the
    individual auditor, either government or public, must be independent. If independence is impaired,
    auditors should decline to perform a prospective audit or terminate an audit in progress.
  - Professional judgement: The auditor must use the accumulated knowledge and experience he or
    she has gained through accounting or auditing training and comprehending ethical standards, in
    order to make informed decisions about the courses of action that are appropriate in each specific
    circumstance. Professional judgement also includes exercising reasonable care in accordance with
    applicable professional standards, ethical principles, and professional skepticism.
  - Competence: The engagement team assigned to conduct the audit must collectively possess adequate professional competence needed to address the audit objectives and perform the work in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.
  - Quality Control (QC) and Quality Assurance (QA): In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, each audit organization performing audits must: a) establish and maintain a system of QC that is designed to provide the audit organization with reasonable assurance that the organization and its personnel comply with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, and b) have an external peer review performed by reviewers independent of the audit organization being reviewed at least once every three years.

# CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR INDEPENDENCE

- **3.3** *Government Auditing Standards* establish a conceptual framework that auditors use to identify, evaluate, and apply safeguards to address threats to independence. This framework assists auditors in maintaining independence of mind and independence of appearance. The framework can be utilized to address various circumstances that create threats to independence. Auditors should apply the conceptual framework to the audit organization, audit, and individual auditor in order to:
  - Identify threats to independence;
  - Evaluate the significance of the threats identified, both individually and in the aggregate; and
  - Apply safeguards, as necessary, to eliminate the threats or reduce them to an acceptable level.

Each audit team member must complete an individual independence self-assessment checklist as evidence. See **Appendix IX**.

Evaluate Does the nonaudit Yes Yes service impair independence per circumstances for threats Is threat related to a to independence nonaudit service? Yes **Government Auditing** Threat identified? Standards? No No , No Was the nonaudit service requested by No audited entity management? Yes Does management No have suitable skills, knowledge, and experience? Yes Document consideration Evaluate threat for and document significance understanding with No management or those Is threat significant? charged with governance Yes Does the nonaudit No Identify and apply ervice involve preparing safeguard(s) accounting records and financial statements? Assess effectiveness See Figure 2 of safeguard(s) Is threat eliminated No or reduced to an acceptable level? Yes Document nature of Independence Proceed threat and any impairment Do not proceed safeguards applied

Exhibit 1: Conceptual Framework for Independence

Source: GAO. | GAO-18-568G

Is the nonaudit service preparing No financial statements Evaluate threat for **Document** in their entirety significance evaluation from a client-provided No and proceed trial balance or Is threat significant? underlying accounting records? Yes Yes Identify and apply safeguard(s) Assess effectiveness of safeguard(s) Independence Is threat eliminated No impairment Do not proceed or reduced to an acceptable level? Yes Document nature of threat and any safeguards applied **Proceed** 

Exhibit 2: Independence Considerations for Preparing Accounting Records and Financial

Source: GAO. | GAO-18-568G

# **3.4** Categories of Threat

(See reference: GAS 3.30-3.44)

Comprehensive		
Category of		
Threat	Brief Explanation of Threat	Examples of Circumstance
Self-Interest Threat	Occurs as a result of the financial or other interests of a professional accountant or of an immediate or close family member.	<ul> <li>A financial interest in a client or jointly holding a financial interest with a client</li> </ul>
		Undue dependence on total fees from a client
		Having a close business relationship with a client
		Concern about the possibility of losing a client
		Potential employment with a client
		Contingent fees relating to an engagement
		A loan to or from a client or any of its directors or officers.
Self-Review Threat	Occurs when a previous judgment needs to be re- evaluated by the professional accountant responsible for that judgment.	Reporting on the operation of financial systems after being involved in their design or implementation
		Having prepared the original data used to generate records that are the subject matter of the engagement
		A member of the team being, or having recently been, a director or officer of that client
		A member of the team being, or having recently been, employed by the client in a position to exert direct and significant influence over the subject matter of the engagement
		Performing a service for a client that directly affects the subject matter of the engagement.

Comprehensive Category of		
Threat	Brief Explanation of Threat	Examples of Circumstance
Bias Threat	Occurs when the auditor has a preconceived notion regardless of results.	<ul> <li>An auditor's having preconceptions about the objectives of a program under audit that are sufficiently strong to impact the auditor's objectivity</li> <li>An auditor's having biases associated with political, ideological, or social convictions that result from membership or employment in, or loyalty to, a particular type of policy, group, organization, or level of Government that could impact the auditor's objectivity.</li> </ul>
Familiarity Threat	Occurs when, by virtue of a close relationship with a client, its directors, officers, or employees, an auditor becomes too sympathetic to the client's interests.	<ul> <li>A member of the team having a close family member who, as an employee of the client, is in a position to exert direct and significant influence over the subject matter of the engagement</li> <li>A former partner of the firm being a director, officer of the client, or an</li> <li>An employee in a position of significant influence</li> <li>Long association of a senior member of the team with the client</li> <li>Acceptance of gifts or hospitality, unless the value is clearly insignificant, from the client, its directors, officers, or employees.</li> </ul>

Comprehensive Category of		
Threat	Brief Explanation of Threat	Examples of Circumstance
Undue Influence Threat	Occurs when the client management attempts to coerce or provide excessive influence over the auditor.	Threat of replacement over a disagreement with the application of an accounting principle
		Pressure to inappropriately reduce the extent of work performed in order to reduce fees
		Dominant personality in a senior position at the audit client, controlling dealings with the auditor.
		Unreasonable restrictions on the time allowed to complete an audit engagement or issue the report.
		External interference over assignment, appointment, compensation, and promotion.
		Restrictions on funds or other resources provided to the audit organization that adversely affect the audit organization's ability to carry out its responsibilities.
		Authority to overrule or to inappropriately influence the auditors' judgment as to the appropriate content of the report.
		Influences that jeopardize the auditors' continued employment for reasons other than incompetence, misconduct, or the audited entity's need for GAGAS engagements.

Comprehensive Category of Threat	Brief Evaluation of Threat	Examples of Circumstance
Tilleat	Brief Explanation of Threat	A member of the audit team being, or having recently been, a principal or senior manager of the audited entity
Management Participation Threat	Occurs when an auditor takes the role of management or otherwise performing management functions on behalf of the audit entity, which will lead an auditor to take a position that is not objective.	<ul> <li>An audit organization principal or employee serving as a voting member of an entity's management committee or board of directors, making policy decisions that affect future direction and operation of an entity's programs, supervising entity employees, developing, or approving programmatic policy, authorizing an entity's transactions, or maintaining custody of an entity's assets</li> <li>An audit organization principal or employee recommending a single individual for a specific position that is key to the entity or program under audit, or otherwise ranking or influencing management's selection of the candidate</li> </ul>
		An auditor preparing management's corrective action plan (CAP) to deal with deficiencies detected in the audit.
Structural Threat	Occurs as a result of a governmental structure that will affect the audit organization's ability to perform work and report results objectively.	<ul> <li>For both external and internal audit organizations, structural placement of the audit function within the reporting line of the areas under audit</li> <li>For internal audit organizations, administrative direction from the audited entity's management.</li> </ul>

# INDEPENDENCE IMPAIRMENTS

3.5 An independence impairment occurs in situations in which an engagement partner<sup>11</sup> or professional employee of the firm either: 1) committed an impairment or 2) knows of an impairment and fails to ensure that the impairment is promptly communicated to an appropriate individual within the firm. An independence impairment can compromise the engagement team's integrity, objectivity, and professional skepticism, and the threats to the appearance of independence would be considered so significant that no actions could be taken to satisfactorily address the consequences of the impairment.

# Identifying and Communicating an Impairment

3.6 When an impairment is identified, the engagement partner or QC reviewer should, in accordance with the IPA's firm's policies and procedures, promptly communicate the impairment to an appropriate individual within the firm. The responsible individual should report the impairment to those who need to take appropriate action and, when appropriate, should report the impairment to relevant network firms. The responsible engagement partner or QC reviewer should be satisfied that the interest or relationship that caused the impairment has been terminated, suspended, or eliminated and should address the consequences of the impairment. A consequence of an impairment may be that termination of the engagement is necessary.

# Addressing the Consequences of an Impairment

3.7 Depending upon the significance of the impairment, it may be necessary to terminate the engagement, or it may be possible to take action that satisfactorily mitigates the impairment. The engagement partner or QC reviewer should determine whether satisfactory action can be taken and is appropriate in the circumstances. In making this determination, the responsible individual should exercise professional judgment and take into account whether a reasonable and informed third party, weighing the significance of the impairment, the action to be taken, and all the specific facts and circumstances available to the member at that time, would likely conclude that the attest engagement team's integrity, objectivity, and professional skepticism would be compromised and, therefore, whether independence is impaired.

# Documentation

3.8 The responsible individual should document the impairment, the action taken, key decisions made, and all the matters discussed with the Accountable Entity and any discussions with MCC. When the firm continues with the audit, the matters to be documented should also include the conclusion that, in the responsible individual's professional judgment, the integrity, objectivity, and professional skepticism of the audit team have not been compromised, and the rationale for why the action taken satisfactorily addressed the consequences of the impairment such that the firm could issue a report.

# **NON-AUDIT SERVICES**

**3.9** Auditors have traditionally provided a range of non-audit services that are consistent with their skills and expertise. Before auditors agree to provide a non-audit service to an audited entity, they should

<sup>11</sup> An individual within the IPA firm who is responsible for the audit engagement, its performance, and the review of the auditor's report that is issued on behalf of the firm and who, when required, has the appropriate authority from a profession- al, legal, or regulatory body.

determine whether providing such a service would create a threat to independence, either by itself or in aggregate with other non-audit services provided, with respect to any *Government Auditing Standards* engagement they conduct. <sup>12</sup>

- **3.10** The IPA may be able to provide non-audit services without impairing independence if:
  - a) The non-audit services are not expressly prohibited;
  - b) The auditor has determined that the general requirements for performing non-audit services have been met; and
  - c) Any significant threats to independence have been eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level through the application of safeguards. Auditors should use the conceptual framework to evaluate independence given the facts and circumstances of individual services not specifically prohibited. <sup>13</sup>

If the auditor performs such services, then these services need to be outlined within the contract, audit plan, and audit scope within the audit report. The IPA should also disclose in supporting documentation or within the report that non-audit services were performed.

# **Documentation Requirements**

- **3.11** In connection with non-audit services, the auditor should establish and document their understanding with the audited entity's management or those charged with governance, as appropriate, regarding the following:
  - a) Objectives of the non-audit services;
  - b) Services to be performed;
  - c) The audited entity's acceptance of its responsibilities;
  - d) The auditor's responsibilities; and
  - e) Any limitations of the non-audit service. 14

(MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.)

# Threats and Safeguards Applied

In cases where threats to independence are not at an acceptable level, thereby requiring the application of safeguards, the auditor should document the threats identified and the safeguards applied to eliminate the threats or reduce them to an acceptable level.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>12</sup> See paragraph 3.64 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>13</sup> See paragraph 3.86 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>14</sup> See paragraph 3.77 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>15</sup> See paragraph 3.107 of Government Auditing Standards

# Management's Skills, Knowledge, or Experience

The auditor should document consideration of management's ability to effectively oversee non-audit services to be performed.<sup>16</sup>

### Failure to Document

While insufficient documentation of an auditor's compliance with the independence standard does not, by itself, evidence impaired independence, appropriate documentation is required under the Government Auditing Standards QC and assurance requirements.<sup>17</sup>

### Routine Activities

Routine activities performed by auditors that relate directly to the performance of an audit are not considered non-audit services under Government Auditing Standards.

Examples of routine activities include:

- Providing advice to the audited entity on an accounting matter as an ancillary part of the overall financial audit
- Providing advice to the audited entity on routine business matters
- Educating the audited entity on matters within the technical expertise of the auditors
- Providing information to the audited entity that is readily available to the auditors, such as best practices and benchmarking studies.<sup>18</sup>

# COMPETENCE AND CPE

3.12 Competence includes being knowledgeable about specific GAGAS requirements and having the skills and abilities to proficiently apply that knowledge on GAGAS engagements. CPE contributes to auditors' competence.<sup>19</sup>

# Competence

**3.13** Competence is derived from a combination of education and experience. Education is a structured and systematic process aimed at developing knowledge, skills, and other abilities; it is a process that is typically but not exclusively conducted in academic or learning environments. Experience refers to workplace activities that are relevant to developing professional proficiency.

Competence is not necessarily measured by years of auditing experience because such a quantitative measurement may not accurately reflect the kinds of experiences gained by auditors in any given time

<sup>16</sup> See paragraphs 3.78 - 3.81 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>17</sup> See paragraph 3.107 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>18</sup> See paragraphs 3.70 and 3.71 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>19</sup> See paragraph 4.01 of Government Auditing Standards

period. Maintaining competence through a commitment to learning and development throughout auditors' professional lives is an important element for auditors.<sup>20</sup>

### **CPE**

Auditors who plan, direct, perform engagement procedures for, or report on an engagement con-ducted in accordance with GAGAS should develop and maintain their professional competence by

completing at least 80 hours of CPE in every two-year period. 24 of the 80 hours of CPE are required to be directly related to the Government environment, Government auditing, or the specific or unique environment in which the audited entity operates. 56 of the 80 hours of CPE are required to directly enhance auditors' professional expertise to conduct engagements.<sup>21</sup>

- 3.14 The IPA firm should monitor the auditor compliance with the CPE requirements to ensure that auditors complete sufficient CPE in qualifying programs and subjects, as well as maintain documentation. The auditor must complete accredited CPE courses to be compliant with the GAGAS requirements; unaccredited and self-taught courses may not be considered compliant. MCC will request a copy of the engagement team members' CPEs to review (see **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide). Examples of CPE subjects that may qualify for the 24-hour requirement are listed below:
  - a) GAGAS and related topics, including internal control, as addressed in GAGAS
  - b) The applicable AICPA SAS
  - c) The applicable AICPA Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) and Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS)
  - d) The applicable auditing standards issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors, the Public Company Accounting and Oversight Board (PCAOB), the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), or other auditing standard-setting body
  - e) Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) or the applicable financial reporting framework being used, including those issued by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB), the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
  - f) Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government (Green Book)
  - g) Internal Control—Integrated Framework, as applicable
  - h) Requirements for recipients of Federal contracts or grants, including Single Audits under the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
  - i) Requirements for Federal, state, or local program audits

<sup>20</sup> See paragraph 4.06 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>21</sup> See paragraph 4.16 of Government Auditing Standards

- j) Relevant or applicable audit standards or guides, including those for Information Technology (IT) auditing and forensic auditing
- k) IT auditing topics applicable to the Government environment
- l) Fraud topics applicable to a Government environment
- m) Statutory requirements, regulations, criteria, guidance, trends, risks, or topics relevant to the specific and unique environment in which the audited entity operates
- n) Statutory requirements, regulations, criteria, guidance, trends, risks, or topics relevant to the subject matter of the engagement, including scientific, medical, environmental, educational, or any other specialized subject matter
- o) Topics directly related to the Government environment, including the nature of Government (e.g., structures, financing, operations), economic or other conditions and pressures facing Governments, common Government financial management issues, appropriations, measurement or evaluation of Government financial or program performance, and application of general audit methodologies or techniques to a Government environment or program
- p) Specialized audit methodologies or analytical techniques, including the use of complex survey instruments, actuarial estimates, statistical analysis tests, or statistical or nonstatistical sampling
- q) Performance auditing topics, including obtaining evidence, professional skepticism, and other applicable audit skills
- r) Government ethics and independence
- s) Partnerships between Governments, businesses, and citizens
- t) Legislative policies and procedures
- u) Topics related to fraud, waste, abuse, or improper payments affecting Government entities
- v) Compliance with laws and regulations.<sup>22</sup>

Examples of CPE subjects that may qualify for the 56-Hour Requirement are listed below:

- a) Subject matter categories for the 24-hour requirement listed above
- b) General ethics and independence
- c) Topics related to accounting, acquisitions management, asset management, budgeting, cash management, contracting, data analysis, program performance, or procurement
- d) Communicating clearly and effectively, both orally and in writing
- e) Managing time and resources
- f) Leadership
- g) Software applications used in conducting engagements

<sup>22</sup> See paragraph 4.23 of Government Auditing Standards

- h) IT
- i) Economics, Human Capital Management (HCM), social and political sciences, and other academic disciplines that may be applied in engagements, as applicable.<sup>23</sup>

# QC AND QA

An audit organization conducting engagements in accordance with GAGAS must establish and maintain a system of QC that is designed to provide the audit organization with reasonable assurance that the organization and its personnel comply with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.<sup>24</sup> The firm's system of QC should include policies and procedures that address each of the following elements of QC: a) leadership responsibilities for quality within the firm (the "tone at the top"), b) relevant ethical requirements, c) acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific engagements, d) human resources (HR), e) engagement performance, and f) Monitoring.

- **3.15** A system of QC consists of policies designed to achieve the objectives of the system and the procedures necessary to implement and monitor compliance with those policies. The nature, extent, and formality of a firm's QC policies and procedures will depend on various factors, including the firm's size, the number and operating characteristics of its offices, the degree of authority allowed to, and the knowledge and experience possessed by, firm personnel, and the nature and complexity of the firm's practice.
- **3.16** An audit organization should document its QC policies and procedures and communicate those policies and procedures to its personnel. The audit organization should document compliance with its QC policies and procedures and maintain such documentation for a period of time sufficient to enable those performing monitoring procedures and peer reviews to evaluate the extent to which the audit organization complies with its QC policies and procedures. MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.

### **RELATED PARTIES**

- 3.17 The auditor has a responsibility to perform audit procedures to identify, assess, and respond to the risks of material misstatement arising from the Accountable Entity's failure to appropriately account for or disclose related party relationships, transactions, or balances. The auditor should obtain an understanding of the Accountable Entity's relationships, the terms and business purposes, and transactions involving related parties to be able to:
  - a) Recognize fraud risk factors and document those factors within the fraud risk reassessment, if any, arising from related party relationships and transactions that are relevant to the identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to fraud; and
  - b) Conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether the financial statements, insofar as they are affected by those relationships and transactions, achieve fair presentation.

<sup>23</sup> See paragraph 4.24 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>24</sup> See paragraph 5.02 of Government Auditing Standards

<sup>25</sup> See paragraph 5.04 of Government Auditing Standards

The auditor must obtain and document sufficient appropriate audit evidence to determine whether related parties, relationships, and transactions with related parties have been properly identified, ac- counted for, and disclosed in the financial statements. MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.

### **FRAUD**

- **3.18** An auditor conducting an audit in accordance with GAAS is responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Due to the inherent limitations of an audit, an unavoidable risk exists that some material misstatements of the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with GAAS.
- 3.19 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error. This is because fraud may involve sophisticated and carefully organized schemes designed to conceal it, including forgery, deliberate failure to record transactions, or intentional misrepresentations being made to the auditor. Such attempts at concealment may be even more difficult to detect when accompanied by collusion. Collusion may cause the auditor to believe that audit evidence is persuasive when it is, in fact, false. The auditor's ability to detect fraud depends on factors including the skillfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and the seniority of those individuals involved. Although the auditor may be able to identify potential opportunities for fraud to be perpetrated, it is difficult for the auditor to determine whether misstatements in judgment areas, including accounting estimates, are caused by fraud or error.<sup>26</sup>
- 3.20 Auditors have several explicit requirements to address the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud or error. One of the requirements for planning an audit is a discussion (i.e., brain- storming session) among the engagement team members. The discussion must cover how and where the entity's financial statements might be susceptible to fraud, an evaluation of fraud risk factors identified from the brainstorming session and through other risk assessment procedures (e.g., from discussions with management and others within the entity), an overall assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to fraud, and documenting the fraud risk assessment process, including the audit procedures designed to respond to the fraud risk assessments.

# FRAUD BRAINSTORMING SESSION

3.21 Prior to conducting the fraud brainstorming session, auditors should collect information regarding the risk of material misstatement due to fraud or error. This information may include reviewing prior-year working papers, discussing with management and those charged with governance regarding the entity's processes for preventing and detecting fraud, reviewing the financial reporting framework, and reviewing the entity's internal controls established to mitigate the risk of fraud. This information is then incorporated in the formal brainstorming session attended by key engagement team members. The purpose of the brainstorming session is to identify fraud risk factors, guided by the fraud triangle model,<sup>27</sup> and to instill

<sup>26</sup> AICPA SAS 122, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit, AU-C Section 240.06

<sup>27</sup> The fraud triangle is a model for explaining the factors that cause someone to commit occupational fraud. Donald R. Cressey, Other People's Money (Montclair: Patterson Smith, 1973) p. 30

the importance of remaining professionally skeptical, notwithstanding an auditor's past experience of management honesty and integrity.

A fraud brainstorming session can be broken down into the following five steps: 1) select the team, 2) choose an approach, 3) prepare for the meeting, 4) conduct the meeting, and 5) follow-up and documentation.

Based on the engagement team's evaluation of the identified fraud risk factors, an assessment of the risks of material misstatement due to fraud or error is made at the financial statement-level and at the assertion-level. Auditors respond to the risk assessment by designing audit procedures to mitigate these risks.

### INQUIRIES WITH MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS ABOUT FRAUD RISKS

3.22 Auditors must inquire whether management has knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud within the entity. Auditing standards also require auditors to inquire of the audit committee about its views of the risks of fraud and whether the audit committee has knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud. If the entity has an internal audit function, the auditor should inquire about internal audit's views of fraud risks and whether they have performed any procedures to identify or detect fraud during the year. Auditing standards further require the auditor to make inquiries of others within the entity whose duties lie outside the normal financial reporting lines of responsibility about the existence or suspicion of fraud. These management inquiries must be properly documented within the IPA's work papers, as MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See Appendix X for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.

#### **PLANNING**

- **3.23** While planning continues throughout the audit, the objectives of planning are to gain an understanding of the entity to be audited; to understand its environment, including internal control; to identify significant areas for audit; and to design effective and efficient audit procedures. To accomplish this, the auditor's planning methodology should include the following:<sup>28</sup>
  - a) Performing preliminary engagement activities relating to: 1) acceptance and continuance of client relationships and audit engagements; 2) compliance with relevant ethical requirements; and 3) establishing an understanding of the terms of the engagement with management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance, including establishing that certain preconditions for an audit are present (see **Appendix I**).
  - b) Understanding the entity's operations and its environment, including its organization, management style, internal control, and internal and external factors influencing its operating environment.
  - c) Performing analytical procedures to assist in planning the audit.
  - d) Identifying significant accounting applications, cycles, and financial management systems; relevant budget restrictions; significant provisions of applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements; and relevant internal controls.

<sup>28</sup> Government Accountability Office (GAO)-22-105894, Financial Audit Manual, Volume 1, Section 110, Planning Phase, updated May 2023

- e) Determining the likelihood of effective Information System (IS) controls.
- f) Identifying significant items, accounts, and assertions and using them in planning the audit.
- g) Determining materiality for the financial statements taken as a whole, including performance materiality, which is the portion of materiality that the auditor allocates to line items, accounts, or classes of transactions. Additionally, if a compact, CDF, or threshold program grant agreement has multiple fund types, materiality should be established at the individual fund type level. Establishing a single materiality at only the consolidated level places materiality at a higher dollar amount, and material errors at the individual fund type may not be detected.
- h) Performing a preliminary risk assessment to determine the risk of material misstatement due to error or fraud.
- i) Establishing the overall audit strategy, which sets the scope, timing, and direction of the audit and guides the development of an audit plan.
- j) Developing an audit plan, which will outline the nature, timing, and extent of direction and super- vision of audit team members and review of their work. The nature, timing, and extent of the direction and supervision of the audit team members and review of their work vary, depending on many factors, including: the size and complexity of the entity, the area of the audit (e.g., fraud and accounting estimates), the assessed risks of material misstatement, and the capabilities and competence of the individual team members performing the work.<sup>29</sup>

The auditor should document these procedures, as MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.

### ACCEPTANCE AND CONTINUANCE OF CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS

- 3.24 The engagement partner should be satisfied that appropriate procedures regarding the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and audit engagements have been followed. These procedures are established by the auditing organization as part of its system of quality control and documented. The engagement partner should also determine that the conclusions reached in performing the procedures are appropriate. The following information assists the engagement partner in making this determination:
  - The integrity of the principal owners, key management, and those charged with governance of the entity.
  - Whether the engagement team is competent to perform the audit engagement and has the necessary capabilities, including time and resources.
  - Whether the audit organization and the engagement team can comply with relevant ethical requirements.
  - Significant findings or issues that have arisen during the current or previous audit engagement and their implications for continuing the relationship.

The auditor should document these procedures, as MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix XI** for an example of an Acceptance and Continuance Checklist and **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.

### IDENTIFYING RISK FACTORS AND RISK ASSESSMENTS

3.25 The auditor should design and perform risk assessment procedures to obtain audit evidence that provides an appropriate basis for: 1) the identification and assessment of risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, at the financial statement and relevant assertion levels; and 2) the design of further audit procedures. The auditor should design and perform risk assessment procedures in a manner that is not biased towards obtaining audit evidence that may be corroborative or towards excluding audit evidence that may be contradictory. The risk assessment procedures should include the following:(a) inquiries of management and others within the entity, including individuals within the internal audit function; (b) analytical procedures; and (c) observation and inspection.<sup>30</sup> The auditor's assessments of inherent risk and control risk affect the auditor's assessment of the risks of material misstatement. The risks of material misstatement affect the nature, extent, and timing of other audit procedures, including substantive procedures and control tests.

Based on evidence obtained throughout the audit, the auditor should monitor and revise, if needed, preliminary assessments made during the Planning Phase for risk of material misstatement and the likelihood of control effectiveness. The auditor should revise audit procedures, as needed.

The auditor should document these procedures, as MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.

### **ENGAGEMENT PARTNER RESPONSIBILITIES**

**3.26** In accordance with GAGAS, the engagement partner is the individual within the IPA firm who is responsible for the audit engagement, its performance, and the review of the auditor's report that is issued on behalf of the firm and who, when required, has the appropriate authority from a profession- al, legal, or regulatory body. The engagement partner should take responsibility for the following:<sup>31</sup>

- a) The direction, supervision, and performance of the audit engagement in compliance with professional standards, applicable legal and regulatory requirements, and the firm's policies and procedures. The auditor's report being appropriate in the circumstances.
- b) The reviews being performed in accordance with the firm's review policies and procedures.
- c) On or before the date of the auditor's report, the engagement partner should, through a review of the audit documentation and discussion with the engagement team, be satisfied that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to support the conclusions reached and for the auditor's report to be issued.

31 22 AICPA SAS 122, Quality Control for an Engagement Conducted in Accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, AU-C Section 220A

<sup>20</sup> 

- d) The engagement team undertaking appropriate consultation on difficult or contentious matters.
- e) Be satisfied that members of the engagement team have undertaken appropriate consultation during the course of the engagement, both within the engagement team and between the engagement team and others at the appropriate level within or outside the firm.
- f) Be satisfied that the nature and scope of such consultations are agreed with, and conclusions resulting from such consultations are understood by, the party consulted.
- g) Determine those conclusions resulting from such consultations have been implemented.

### THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE

3.27 Depending upon the organizational structure of the Accountable Entity or foreign organization, there may be certain people, organizations, or entities responsible for the governance of the Accountable Entity that may or may not be separate from management. The AICPA's Clarified Standards of AU-C section 260 (SAS No. 122, *The Auditor's Communication with Those Charged with Governance*) make the distinction between management and those charged with governance as follows:

- Management: The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity's operations. For some entities, management includes some or all of those charged with governance; for example, executive members of a governance board or an owner-manager.
- Those Charged with Governance: The person(s) or organization(s) (for example, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of the entity and the obligations related to the accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. Those charged with governance may include management personnel; for example, executive members of a governance board or an owner-manager.

The auditor should determine in planning the audit engagement the appropriate person(s) within the entity's governance structure with whom to communicate.

In some cases, all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity (e.g., a small business in which a single owner manages the entity and no one else has a governance role). In these cases, if matters required by this section are communicated with a person(s) with management responsibilities and that person(s) also has governance responsibilities, the matters need not be communicated again. Required communications from the auditor during an audit should include (see **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide):

- · Auditor's responsibility with regard to the financial statement audit, including:
  - The auditor is responsible for forming and expressing an opinion about whether the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
  - The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities.
  - The auditor must provide a copy of the engagement letter to those charged with governance.

- Planned scope and timing of the audit, which includes communicating about the significant risks identified by the auditor.
- The nature of planned work and level of assurance provided related to internal control over financial reporting and compliance with significant provisions of applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.
- The form, timing, and expected general content of communications related to the audit (i.e., an audit report, cost-sharing review report, management letter, etc.)
- Significant findings or issues noted during the audit, including:
  - The auditor's views about qualitative aspects of the entity's significant accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting estimates, and financial statement disclosures.
  - Significant unusual transactions (if applicable)
  - Significant difficulties encountered during the audit (if applicable)
  - Disagreements with management (if applicable)
  - Circumstances that affect the form and content of the auditor's report
  - Matters that are difficult or contentious for which the auditor consulted outside the engagement team and that are, in the auditor's professional judgment, significant and relevant to those charged with governance regarding their responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process.
  - Other findings or issues, if any, arising during the audit that are, in the auditor's professional judgment, significant and relevant to those charged with governance regarding their responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process.
- Uncorrected misstatements accumulated by the auditor and the effect that they, individually or in the aggregate, may have on the opinion in the auditor's report:
  - The auditor's communication should identify material uncorrected misstatements individually.
  - The auditor should request that uncorrected misstatements be corrected.
  - The auditor should communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. In addition, the auditor should communicate that uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even if the auditor has concluded that the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements under audit.

If there are parties that are charged with governance of an Accountable Entity or foreign organization that differ from management, the auditor would also be required to communicate the following:

- Material, corrected misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of audit procedures.
- Significant findings or issues arising during the audit that were discussed, or were the subject of correspondence, with management.
- The auditor's views about significant matters that were the subject of management's consultations with other accountants on accounting or auditing matters when the auditor is aware that such consultation has occurred.
- Written representations the auditor is requesting.

The auditor should document all required communications with those charged with governance. If the communication is performed orally, the auditor is still required to document when and to whom communication was made within the audit documentation. If the communication was written, the auditor should retain a copy of the communication with the audit documentation.

If, as part of its communication to those charged with governance, management communicated some or all of the matters required to be communicated by the auditor, and as a result, the auditor did not communicate these matters at the same level of detail as management, the auditor should include a copy or summary of management's communications provided to those charged with governance in the audit documentation. Conversely, if management's communication was not as detailed as the auditor's communication, the auditor should communicate any omitted or inadequately described matters to those charged with governance. The auditor would not be required to communicate matters at the same level of detail as to management, as long as the auditor (a) participated in management's discussion with those charged with governance and (b) affirmatively confirmed to those charged with governance that management has adequately communicated these matters.

### AUDIT EVIDENCE32

3.28 The objective of the auditor is to evaluate information to be used as audit evidence, including the results of audit procedures, to inform the auditor's overall conclusion about whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained. Audit evidence is information to which audit procedures have been applied, ordinarily during the course of the current-year audit. Information to be used as audit evidence may also be obtained by the auditor as part of designing and performing risk assessment procedures in accordance with AU-C Section 315, *Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement*, including from:

- a) the auditor's previous experience with the entity and audit procedures performed in previous audits, when the auditor has evaluated whether such information remains relevant and reliable as audit evidence for the current audit,
- b) the auditor's procedures regarding acceptance or continuance of the client relationship or the audit engagement, and
- c) when applicable, other engagements performed by the engagement partner for the entity.

The nature of the audit procedures that the auditor performs to use information as audit evidence may depend on the source of the information and range from simple to extensive audit procedures. For example, when using information from an external information source, obtaining the information may be relatively straightforward, and the auditor's procedures to evaluate that information would be largely focused on the relevance and reliability of the information, including its source, in accordance with SAS 145. On the other hand, audit procedures to obtain evidence about the accuracy and completeness of the information, such as tests of controls, may be necessary when the auditor intends to use information generated internally from the entity's general and subsidiary ledgers as audit evidence.

### Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence

**3.29** As explained in AU-C Section 200, *Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards*, reasonable assurance is obtained when the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce audit risk (that is, the risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate opinion when the financial statements are materially misstated) to an acceptably low level.<sup>33</sup>

The quantity of audit evidence, in and of itself, is not solely determinative of its persuasiveness. For example, obtaining more of the same type of audit evidence may not compensate for its lack of appropriateness. However, as the quality of audit evidence increases, the need for additional corroborating audit evidence decreases. Depending on the auditor's consideration of relevance and reliability, information obtained from a single source may provide persuasive audit evidence.

## Evaluating Information to Be Used as Audit Evidence

- **3.30** Information to be used as audit evidence may take different forms, which influences the nature of audit procedures that may be necessary to obtain or evaluate the information. Different forms of information, individually or in combination, include:
  - *oral information* obtained through a verbal response to an inquiry of management or external information sources (for example, oral inquiries made during the course of the audit).
  - *visual information* obtained through observation (for example, a message that appears onscreen for a control restricting access to an IT system or observed by the auditor using remote observation tools).
  - *paper documents*, which are obtained in documentary form (for example, an original executed sales contract or a written confirmation).
  - *electronic information*, which includes
    - *documents* obtained in electronic documentary form (for example, a scanned version of an executed sales contract or an electronic confirmation).

<sup>33</sup> AICPA SAS 122, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards, AU-C Section 200.06

• *data stored* in the entity's IT system or obtained electronically from an external information source. Such data may be manually input into the system or may be electronically generated (for example, an electronic data interface between the entity and a service organization).

# Relevance and Reliability of the Information, Including Its Source

The source of the information to be used as audit evidence often affects the consideration of its relevance and reliability. Information to be used as audit evidence may be obtained directly or derived individually or in combination from different sources, including the following:

- a) *Management*. Management may provide the auditor with information obtained from the financial reporting process used to prepare the financial statements, including disclosures (for example, the entity's accounting records) as well as information obtained from outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers (for example, from the entity's risk management system or sales functions). This information may be stored by the entity within its IT systems or in a remote server. Management may also employ or engage a specialist who may provide information to be used as audit evidence.
- b) External information sources and other external parties. Management or the auditor may use information obtained from external information sources and other external parties (for example, information used as inputs to forecasts or models used to prepare accounting estimates or accumulated by an auditor to analyze industry trends). The auditor may obtain external confirmations or make inquiries of external parties to corroborate management's assertions.
- c) Auditor. The auditor may develop information to be used as audit evidence. For example, an auditor may accumulate and analyze industry trends to be used in the audits of entities in that industry. The auditor may also employ or engage a specialist to assist the auditor in developing audit evidence, which could include developing an independent expectation to evaluate the reasonableness of an accounting estimate. The auditor may also use automated tools and techniques to analyze information provided by management or external parties, resulting in audit evidence.

Accounting records are an example of information provided by management that is obtained from the financial reporting process and may include the following:

- The records of initial accounting entries and supporting records, such as checks and records of
  electronic fund transfers; invoices; contracts; the general and subsidiary ledgers; and journal
  entries.
- Records, such as spreadsheets, cost allocations, computations, reconciliations, and disclosures.

An example of information provided by management that is obtained from outside the general and subsidiary ledgers is internal marketing information developed by the entity's sales function as an assumption in making an accounting estimate for a warranty provision.

# Evaluating Audit Evidence from MCC

When evaluating audit evidence related to determinations of whether an Accountable Entity or Covered Provider complied with the MCC Accountable Entity Procurement Policy & Guidelines, the MCC Cost

39

Principles for Government Affiliates, or other related guidance or policies issued by MCC, written determinations by MCC provided to the Accountable Entity or the Covered Provider are accorded the highest reliability and relevance. When obtained from an Accountable Entity or Covered Provider, or provided directly by MCC, these written interpretations are the determinative source for considerations, when in question, of whether controlling guidance was complied with and/or whether a cost should be determined to be allowable. The auditor should take care to scrutinize such documentation and, if necessary, seek verification from MCC if it is possible that such written determinations are not authentic or were provided without complete information as revealed through the auditor's observations.

### Relevance

The relevance of the information to be used as audit evidence relates to the logical connection with, or bearing upon, the auditor's purposes. Information from one source may be relevant when performing one or more audit procedures.

### Reliability

The reliability of audit evidence depends on the nature and source of the audit evidence and the circumstances under which it is obtained. Generally, the reliability of audit evidence increases when it is obtained from external parties because the information is less susceptible to management bias. Consideration of the sources of information to be used as audit evidence includes the possibility that the information source may not be reliable.

Information obtained directly by the auditor (for example, observation of the application of a control) may be more reliable than information obtained indirectly or by inference (for example, inquiry about the application of a control). When information has been obtained indirectly or by inference, the auditor may perform additional audit procedures to evaluate the reliability of that information, such as by reperforming the control activity.

Information in documentary form, whether paper or electronic, may be more reliable than evidence obtained through oral inquiries (for example, a contemporaneously written record of a meeting may be more reliable than a subsequent oral representation of the matters discussed).

Determining whether controls are effectively designed and implemented (including general IT controls, as appropriate) may help the auditor design appropriate audit procedures to evaluate the reliability of information. In some cases, the reliability of such information may only be established when the related controls, whether manual or automated, including those over the preparation and maintenance of the information, have been tested and determined to be operating effectively.

Using electronic information may require the auditor to perform additional audit procedures to establish its reliability. For example, when using a scanned version of an executed sales contract provided by the sales department, additional audit procedures, such as confirmation of the key terms with a third party, may be necessary if the auditor has not tested the operating effectiveness of the controls around execution of the original contract and the maintenance of the scanned version.

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

## MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

The reliability of information to be used as audit evidence is affected to varying degrees by the following attributes, individually or in combination:

- Accuracy
- Completeness
- Authenticity
- Susceptibility to management bias

These attributes are also relevant when automated tools and techniques are used to obtain audit evidence.

## **CHAPTER 4. ASSESSING INFORMATION SYSTEM CONTROLS**

- 4.1 The Accountable Entity or foreign organization is responsible for managing the IS internal and external controls for the life of the grant agreement. The Federal Information System Controls Audit Manual<sup>34</sup> (FISCAM) presents a methodology for performing IS control audits of Federal and other governmental entities in accordance with professional standards. It is designed to be used as guidance for financial and performance audits and attestation engagements performed in accordance with *General Auditing Standards*. The FISCAM control activities are consistent with National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Special Publication (SP) 800-53 and all SP 800-53 controls.<sup>35</sup>
- 4.2 IS controls consist of those internal controls that depend on IS processing, including general controls (e.g., entity-wide-, system-, business process application-levels); business process application controls (e.g., input, processing, output, master file, interface, data management system controls); and user controls (e.g., controls performed by people interacting with IS). General and business process application controls are always IS controls. A user control is an IS control if its effectiveness depends on IS processing or the reliability (e.g., accuracy, completeness, validity) of information processed by IS. Conversely, a user control is not an IS control if its effectiveness does not depend on IS processing or the reliability of information processed by IS.<sup>36</sup>
- 4.3 In the planning phase, the auditor, with the assistance of an IS controls specialist or an IS auditor, should use an appropriate methodology to understand the design of IS controls and whether they have been implemented and to determine whether IS controls are likely to be effective and should therefore be considered further in the audit.
- 4.4 The procedures performed to determine the likelihood of effective IS controls build on those procedures performed to gain an understanding of the entity's operations, including the design of its internal controls, and assess the effects of IS on inherent risk and the control environment, risk assessment, information and communication, and monitoring. The auditor should obtain an understanding of each of the five components of internal control—control environment, risk assessment, information and communication, monitoring, and control activities—sufficient for assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, as well as for determining the nature, extent, and timing of further audit procedures. The auditor should document these procedures, as MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.
- 4.5 IS do not affect the audit objectives for an account or a cycle. However, IS (or lack thereof) can intro- duce inherent risk factors that are not present in a manual accounting system. The auditor should consider each of the following IS factors and assess the overall impact of IS processing on inherent risk.
  - d) **Uniform processing of transactions**: Because IS process groups of identical transactions consistently, any misstatements arising from erroneous computer programming will occur consistently in

<sup>34</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, February 2009

<sup>35</sup> NIST SP 800-53, Security and Privacy Controls for Federal Information Systems and Organization. The NIST is a non-regulatory agency of the U.S. Department of Commerce and was established to encourage and assist innovation and science through the promotion and maintenance of a set of industry standards. NIST SP 800-53 is a set of standards and Audit Guidelines to help Federal agencies and contractors meet the requirements set by Federal Information Security Management Act (FISMA).

<sup>36</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, February 2009

- similar transactions. However, the possibility of random processing errors is reduced substantially in computer-based IS.
- e) **Automatic processing**: The IS may automatically initiate transactions or perform processing functions. Evidence of these processing steps (and any related controls) may or may not be visible.
- f) Increased potential for undetected misstatements: Computers use and store information in electronic form and require less human involvement in processing. This increases the potential for individuals to gain unauthorized access to sensitive information and to alter data without visible evidence. Due to the electronic form, changes to computer programs and data may not be readily detectible. Also, users may be less likely to challenge the reliability of computer output than manual reports. As such, management should evaluate security threats, which can be from internal or external sources. External threats are particularly important for entities that depend on telecommunications networks and the Internet. Internal threats may come from former or disgruntled employees.

The impact of these factors typically will be pervasive in nature. An IS controls specialist or an IS auditor may assist the auditor in considering these factors and making this assessment. More detail on assessing information system risks and controls in a financial statement audit is available in the FISCAM.

**4.6** FISCAM describes the audit methodology for assessing the effectiveness of IS controls along with the IS controls those auditors evaluate when assessing confidentiality, integrity, and availability of information and IS. The manual is designed to be primarily used for both financial and performance-based audits and attestation engagements in accordance with GAGAS.

In addition, this manual is intended for auditors performing financial, performance, and attestation engagements to assist in the understanding the work performed by IS specialists.<sup>37</sup>

### 1. ACCESS CONTROLS (AC)

ACs limit or detect inappropriate access to computer resources, protecting from unauthorized modification, loss, and disclosure. Such controls include both logical and physical ACs. Logical ACs require user authentication. Physical ACs involve restricting access to computer resources and protecting these controls from intentional or unintentional loss. Without sufficient AC, unauthorized individuals, including outside intruders and former employees, can duplicate sensitive data and make changes undetected for malicious purposes or personal gains. The objective of limiting access is to ensure the following: outsiders are unable to gain authorization to an entity's system data; authorized users are the only users with access to carry out their specific functions; accessibility to sensitive data is limited to few individuals; and employees, as well as contractors, are restricted from performing functions that are beyond their individual responsibilities. Meeting these objectives reduces the risk of inappropriate modification or disclosure of data without interfering with user's needs.<sup>38</sup>

The six critical elements for AC are as follows: boundary protection, identification and authentication, authorization, sensitive system resources, audit and monitoring, and physical security.

<sup>37</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section 1.1

<sup>38</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section 3.2

- a) **Boundary Protection**: System protection controls connectivity to and from network connected devices. Implementing multiple layers of security to protect IS internally and externally is a best practice for protecting systems against cyber-attacks.<sup>39</sup>
- b) Appropriate identification and authentication: Identification and authentication should be unique to each user. Account policies (e.g., password policies, account lockout policies) should be established and enforced based primarily on risk. Identification is the process of distinguishing users from all others through IDs. Authentication is primarily implemented through the use of passwords. To ensure that passwords are not guessed, attempts to log on to the system should be limited; typically, after three to seven attempts. Encryption is also a best practice to reduce the risk of password disclosure. Management should implement effective procedures when determining compliance with authentication policies, considering risk and potential loss of the entity's operations due to potential breach of security. These assessments measure the severity of potential harm and the likelihood of an occurrence of a wide variety of impacts.<sup>40</sup>
- c) Implement effective authorization controls: Authorization is used to allow or prevent actions based on predefined rules. Authorization includes principles of legitimate use, least privilege, and segregation of duties. Access rights and privileges are used to implement security policies that determine what users can do once allowed into the system. Access rights, also referred to as "permissions," allow users to look at, read, or write certain files or directories. Maintaining access rights, permissions, and privileges is the most important aspect of administering system security.<sup>41</sup>
- d) Adequately protect sensitive system resources: Three main areas related to sensitive system resources are: restricting and monitoring access, implementing adequate media controls over sensitive data, and implementing effective cryptographic controls. Restricting access to sensitive system resources and related documentation is critical to controlling the integrity of IS.<sup>42</sup>
- e) **Implement an effective auditing and monitoring capability**: Audit and monitoring involves collection, review, and analysis of auditable events for inappropriate or unusual activity and appropriate investigation and reporting of such activity. Audit and monitoring controls can help security professionals routinely assess computer security.<sup>43</sup>
- f) Establish adequate physical security controls: Adequate physical security controls should be established that are appropriate to the risks of physical damage or access. In evaluating the effectiveness of physical security controls, the auditor should consider the effectiveness of the entity's policies and practices pertaining to the facility and areas housing sensitive information technology components. Physical security controls should be established in the following areas: security management; perimeter security; entry security; interior security; and emerging threats. Controls should also be in place to protect computer resources from intentional or unintentional loss or impairment, as well as restrict access to them.<sup>44</sup>

<sup>39</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section AC-1

<sup>40</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section AC-2.1

<sup>41</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section AC-3

<sup>42</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section AC-4

<sup>43</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section AC-5

<sup>44</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section AC-6

## 2. SEGREGATION OF DUTIES

Effective segregation of duties begins with entity wide policies and procedures that are implemented at the system and application levels. Work responsibilities should be segregated so that one individual does not control all critical stages of a process. Often, segregation of duties is accomplished by dividing roles and responsibilities between groups, as this diminishes the likelihood that errors and wrongful acts will go undetected because the activities of one individual or group will serve as a check on the activities of others. Inadequate segregation of duties increases the risk that erroneous or fraudulent transactions are processed and computer resources could be damaged or destroyed.<sup>45</sup>

- a) Segregate incompatible duties and establish related policies: In determining if duties are appropriately segregated, the entity's operations should be analyzed. Once assessed, identify the incompatible duties and assign duties to different organizational units or individuals. Federal internal control standards specify that key duties and responsibilities for authorizing, processing, recording, and reviewing transactions should be segregated. Functions and related tasks performed by each unit should be documented for the unit and written in job descriptions and, additionally, should be clearly communicated to personnel assigned. Management should further analyze operations and identify incompatible duties that are then segregated through policies and organizational divisions. The following include examples of restrictions that are generally addressed in policies about segregating of duties and are achieved through organizational divisions and AC. Application users should not have access to operating systems or application software; computer operators should not have access to program libraries or data files; and only users (not computer staff) should be responsible for transaction origination or correction and initiating changes to application files.<sup>46</sup>
- b) Formal Operating Procedures, Supervision, and Review for Personnel Activities: Personnel activities require formal operating procedures and active supervision and review, especially for computer operators and system administrators. Formal operating procedures require detailed, written instructions for personnel to follow while performing their duties. Activity logs should exist for supervisors to perform reviews over and then investigate any abnormalities. Management should also perform periodic reviews over activities that cannot be controlled by physical or logical AC.<sup>47</sup>

## 3. CONTINGENCY PLANNING

It is critical that an entity have in place procedures for protecting information resources and minimizing the risk of unplanned interruptions and planning in place to recover critical operations, should interruptions occur. Such plans should consider activities performed at general support facilities, if applicable, as well as those performed by users of specific applications. Per FISMA, entities that perform work on behalf of Federal agencies are to implement security programs that detail plans ensuring the continuing of operations of IS in the event of potential damage or interruption.<sup>48</sup>

<sup>45</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section SD-1.1

<sup>46</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section SD-1.1

<sup>47</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section SD 2.1

<sup>48</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section 3.5 Contingency Planning

- a) Assess the criticality and sensitivity of computerized operations and identify supporting resources: Management should analyze data and operations to determine which are most critical, and which resources are needed to recover and support them.
- b) Prevent and minimize potential damage and interruption: There are steps that an entity should take to prevent or minimize damage that can occur from unexpected events, including:
  - Routinely duplicating or backing up data files
  - Arranging for remote back up facilities
  - Establishing an IS recovery and reconstitution capability
  - Installing environmental controls
  - Ensuring that staff and other system users understand their responsibilities in the event of an emergency
- c) Develop and document a comprehensive contingency plan: A contingency plan should be developed for restoring critical applications. In addition, the contingency plan should identify critical systems, applications, or any subordinate plans. These plans should be documented, communicated to staff that are affected, and updated to reflect current operations.<sup>49</sup>
- d) Periodically test the contingency plan and adjust it as appropriate: Testing the contingency plans is essential to determine they will function in an emergency situation. According to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), Federal managers have reported that testing revealed essential weaknesses. Tests will assess how well employees have been trained in carrying out their roles and responsibilities in a disaster situation. Through the testing process, the contingency plans substantially improved, and it assisted management with identifying weaknesses and making changes accordingly.

These steps are inexpensive ways to prevent minor problems from becoming costly disasters.<sup>51</sup>

## 4. SECURITY MANAGEMENT

The foundation of a security control structure and a reflection of senior management's commitment to addressing security risks is an entity-wide information security management program. The pro- gram should establish a framework and continuous cycle of activity for assessing the risk, developing, and implementing effective security procedures, and monitoring the effectiveness of these procedures. Without a well-designed program, system controls may be inadequate.<sup>52</sup>

a) **Establish a security management program or protocols**: Policies and procedures should exist that clearly describe the security management program. All major systems and facilities and an outline of the duties of those responsible for overseeing security and those who own, use, or rely on

<sup>49</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section CP-3

<sup>50</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section CP-4

<sup>51</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section CP-2

<sup>52</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section 3.1

- computer resources should be covered in this security management plan. The policies, plans, and procedure should be updated and revised to reflect system and organizational changes, as well as any problems or risk identified during implementation or audits.<sup>53</sup>
- b) **Periodically assess and validate risks**: A comprehensive risk assessment should be the starting point for developing or modifying an entity's security policies and security plans. These assessments help ensure that threats and vulnerabilities are identified. Appropriate risk assessment policies and procedures should be documented and based on the security categorizations. <sup>54</sup> (*Please note: this area is only applicable to AEs or foreign organizations that are not utilizing SAP Core Solutions.*)
- c) Document and implement security control policies and procedures: Security control policies should be documented and approved by management. These policies should consider risks, address general and application controls, and ensure that users are held accountable for their actions. Also, a formal sanctions process should be established for personnel who do not comply with IS control policies and procedures.<sup>55</sup>
- d) Implement effective security awareness and other security-related personnel policies: An ongoing security awareness program should be implemented that includes first time training for all employees, contractors, and users, and distribution of security policies detailing rules and expected behaviors to all personnel.<sup>56</sup>

### APPLICATION OF FISCAM TO MCC AUDITS

The standards outlined above were derived from FISCAM and are designed to assist the Accountable Entity or foreign organization and their auditors in complying with these requirements by describing, for each type of compliance requirement, the objectives of internal control, and certain characteristics of internal control that, when present and operating effectively, may ensure compliance with program requirements. All parties should exercise judgment in determining the most appropriate and cost-effective internal control structure given that the entities most likely to be audited in this context are neither Federal entities nor going concerns.

<sup>53</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section SM-1

<sup>54</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section SM-2

<sup>55</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section SM-3

<sup>56</sup> FISCAM, GAO-09-232G, Section SM-4

## **CHAPTER 5. AUDIT OBJECTIVES**

The financial audit must include a specific audit of all Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's 5.1 MCC-funded programs. The Fund Accountability Statement is the basic financial statement to be audited that presents the Accountable Entity's revenues, costs incurred, cash balance of funds provided to the Accountable Entity or foreign organization by MCC, and assets and technical assistance directly procured by MCC for the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's use. Fund Accountability Statements for all fund types that are established per the Compact, CDF, or Threshold program grant agreements should be presented in the audit report from year-to-year, regardless of whether there was any activity in the current audit period. The Fund Accountability Statement should be reconciled to the MCC funds included in the financial statements by a note to the financial statements or the Fund Accountability Statement. All currency amounts in the Fund Accountability Statement, Cost-Sharing Schedule, and the reported findings, if any, must be stated in U.S. dollars. The auditors should indicate the exchange rate(s) used in the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement. (See Illustrative Examples of the Fund Accountability Statement in Appendix V of these Audit Guidelines). Please note that detailed audit procedures are not required from the auditor for funding that is determined to be MCC-Managed since those funds will be audited by MCC's independent financial statement auditors. However, the auditor is required to verify the balances reported.

# AUDIT OF MCC FUNDS AND GOVERNMENT FUNDS ELIGIBLE FOR MCC REIMBURSEMENT

- **5.2** A financial audit of the funds provided by MCC must be performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* or other approved standards, where applicable, and accordingly includes such tests of the accounting records, as deemed necessary under the circumstances. The specific objectives of the audit of the MCC funding are to:
  - a) Express an opinion on whether the Fund Accountability Statement for the MCC-funded programs presents fairly, in all material respects, revenues received, costs incurred, and assets and technical assistance directly procured by the AE or foreign organization for the period audited, in conformity with the terms of the agreements and generally accepted accounting principles or other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis).
  - b) Evaluate and obtain a sufficient understanding of the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's internal control related to the MCC-funded programs, assess control risk, and identify significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in in the design and effectiveness of these internal controls. This evaluation should include the internal control related to required cost-sharing contributions.
  - c) Perform tests to determine whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization complied, in all material respects, with agreement terms (including cost-sharing, if applicable) and applicable laws and regulations related to MCC-funded programs. All material instances of noncompliance and all illegal acts that have occurred or are likely to have occurred should be identified. Such tests should include the compliance requirements related to required cost-sharing contributions, if applicable.
  - d) Determine if the Accountable Entity or foreign organization has taken adequate corrective action on prior audit report recommendations.

e) If applicable, conduct a review engagement of the Cost-Sharing Schedule to determine if the schedule is fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity to prepare the schedule.

The specific objectives of the audit of the Recipient Country Government's or foreign organization's funding that may be eligible for MCC reimbursement are determined by the specific requirement of the relevant Audit Planning Document submitted by the audit firm, as well as the requirements of any applicable supplemental agreements between MCC and the Recipient Country Government or foreign organization.

5.3 Auditors must design audit steps and procedures in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* to provide reasonable assurance of detecting instances or transactions in which fraud or illegal acts have occurred or are likely to have occurred. If such evidence exists, the auditors must contact the Ac- countable Entity Audit Program Senior Director and report the issue to the OIG hotline. In addition, the auditor should exercise due professional care in pursuing indications of possible fraud and illegal acts so as not to interfere with potential future investigations or legal proceedings.

### ENGAGEMENT OF THE COST-SHARING SCHEDULE

- 5.4 MCC agreements may require cost-sharing contributions by the Recipient Country Government (also called government contributions) or foreign organization. As a part of the audit of the Fund Accountability Statement, the auditor should determine whether the cost-sharing contributions were provided and accounted for by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization in accordance with the terms of the agreements, if applicable. The audit firm should clearly state whether or not cost-sharing contributions were required by the agreement within the summary or background of the audit report.
- 5.5 Once the auditor determines that cost-sharing contributions were provided, the approach to examine the Cost-Sharing Schedule will be different depending on the type of engagement. At a minimum, the auditors must perform a review engagement of the Cost-Sharing Schedule to determine if the schedule is fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization to prepare the schedule. Generally, the terms of the grant agreement would require a review engagement of the Cost-Sharing Schedule; however, there may be a requirement or request of an audit engagement of the cost-sharing contributions. If there is a request or requirement of an audit of the cost-sharing contributions, then the Accountable Entity or foreign organization must send a request to the Accountable Entity Audit Program Senior Director providing an explanation as to why there is a need for an increased level of assurance. The review or audit engagement must be properly documented (See Section 5.7 5.9).
- **5.6** For the approved audit engagement of the cost-sharing contributions, the auditor must ensure that audit procedures over cost-sharing contributions are performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and the requirements as outlined in these *Audit Guidelines*. The audit would be considered a separate engagement that would require the following elements:
  - a) A separate Fund Accountability Statement for cost-sharing contributions should be prepared in place of a cost-sharing review schedule. The Fund Accountability Statement for cost-sharing con-

- tributions should be prepared similarly to any other individual Fund Accountability Statement as outlined in **Sections 6.3 6.7** of these *Audit Guidelines*. See **Appendix III** for illustrative examples.
- b) A separate Independent Auditor's Report on cost-sharing contributions should be prepared in place of a cost-sharing review report. The report should mirror the requirements outlined in **Chapter** 7 of these *Audit Guidelines*, including the issuance of an opinion on the corresponding Fund Accountability Statement and a Report on Internal Controls and Compliance prepared in conjunction with the audit. See **Appendix V** for illustrative examples of all applicable audit reports.
- c) A separate schedule of questioned costs and/or findings related to cost-sharing contributions. The elements of this schedule should mirror the requirements as outlined in **Sections 7.5 7.8** and **Appendix VIII** of these *Audit Guidelines*.
- d) A separate Management Representation Letter. See Appendix II for an illustrative example.
- 5.7 The auditors should question all cost-sharing contributions that are either ineligible or unsupported costs. For audits of agreements that present a cost-sharing budget on an annual basis and for close-out audits of awards that present cost-sharing budgets on a life-of-project basis, the auditors will review the Cost-Sharing Schedule to determine if cost-sharing contributions were provided by the Accountable Entity in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The type of cost-sharing budget must be disclosed within the audit report.

### **SSARS**

- gagement requires that the auditor perform procedures designed to accumulate review evidence that will provide a reasonable basis for obtaining limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order for the statements to be in conformity with the applicable financial reporting framework. The accountant/auditor should apply professional judgment in determining the specific nature, timing, and extent of review procedures. Such procedures should be tailored based on the accountant/auditor's understanding of the industry in which the client operates and the accountant's knowledge of the entity.
- 5.9 Review evidence obtained through the performance of analytical procedures and inquiry will ordinarily provide the accountant with a reasonable basis for obtaining limited assurance. However, the accountant/auditor should perform additional procedures if the he or she determines such procedures to be necessary to obtain limited assurance that the financial statements are not materially misstated.

## THE AMERICAN CATALYST FACILITY FOR DEVELOPMENT (ACFD)

**5.10** MCC and the U.S. International Development Finance Corporation (DFC) developed an MCC-funded blended finance mechanism to provide strategic grants that DFC will use in support of catalytic investments called the American Catalyst Facility for Development (ACFD), which works within both agencies' existing authorities and country portfolios. MCC and DFC may initiate the ACFD in countries in which both DFC is currently working and MCC has a signed compact or threshold program grant agreement. ACFD is designed to leverage the strengths of both agencies to enable coordinated invest-

<sup>57</sup> AICPA SSARS, Review of Financial Statements, AR-C Section 90

ments aimed at crowding-in the private sector and maximizing the overall impact of the U.S. government development efforts and furthering American strategic interests abroad. ACFD funds can be used to pay for instruments including both administrative and subsidy costs of DFC guarantees, credit guarantees from other providers, interest rate buy-downs, letters of credit, viability gap funding, currency hedging, other credit enhancements, equity investments and payment of transaction costs. ACFD activities must comply with the ACFD Operations Guide.

- 5.11 Depending on the nature of the transaction and purpose of ACFD funding, the Accountable Entity is responsible for implementing the program that can provide funds to the DFC, or through a Deposit Account Control Agreement (DACA) account<sup>58</sup> under two options (referred to as Option A or Option B in the MCC ACFD Operations Guide). At financial close of an ACFD project, or earlier in the case of upstream costs, funds will be authorized by MCC for disbursement by the Accountable Entity under the eligible program. Additionally, MCC can transfer budgetary resources directly to DFC for loans, guarantees, and equity investments. For compacts, the amount that can be transferred from MCC to DFC is capped at 10% of the relevant compact budget envelope, up to a maximum of \$50 million. For threshold programs the ACFD allocation will not exceed 15% of the total program amount.
- **5.12** MCC agreements may require an engagement for the ACFD funds and ARC will provide procedures for the development, implementation, monitoring, and accountability of these funds at a later date.

## AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES

- 5.13 There may be a requirement or request for the auditor to perform an agreed-upon procedures engagement over specific subject matter relating to the Accountable Entity or foreign organization. If there is a requirement or request of an agreed-upon procedures engagement, then the Accountable Entity or foreign organization must send a request to the Accountable Entity Audit Program Branch Senior Director providing an explanation as to why there is a need for the additional engagement.
- **5.14** For the approved agreed-upon procedures engagement, the auditor must ensure that audit procedures are performed in accordance with the AICPA Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) and the requirements as outlined in these *Audit Guidelines*. The agreed-upon procedures engagement would be considered a separate engagement from the audit and would require the following elements:
  - a) A separate Independent Accountant's Report on agreed-upon procedures should be prepared. The report should be in compliance with AT-C Sections 210 and 215 of the AICPA Clarified Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements and mirror the requirements outlined in **Chapter 7** of these *Audit Guidelines*.
  - b) A separate Management Representation Letter. In accordance with AICPA SSAE No. 19, the practitioner (auditor) should request from the engaging party (Accountable Entity or foreign organization) written representations in the form of a letter addressed to the practitioner (auditor). The representations should include the following:
    - A statement that the responsible party is responsible for the subject matter

<sup>58</sup> A DACA is a tri-party agreement among a deposit customer (the debtor), a deposit customer's lender (the secured party) and a bank.

- If applicable, a statement that the engaging party has obtained from all necessary parties' agreement to the procedures and acknowledgment that the procedures are appropriate for their purposes
- A statement that it has provided the practitioner with all relevant information and access, as applicable, as agreed upon in the terms of the engagement
- A statement that all known matters contradicting the subject matter and any communication from regulatory agencies or others affecting the subject matter have been disclosed to the practitioner, including communications received between the end of the period addressed by the subject matter and the date of the practitioner's report
- A statement that it is not aware of any material misstatements in the subject matter
- A statement that it has disclosed to the practitioner all known events subsequent to the period (or point in time) of the subject matter being reported on that would have a material effect on the subject matter
- Any additional representations that the practitioner determines are appropriate.

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

## **CHAPTER 6. AUDIT SCOPE**

6.1 The auditors should use the following steps as the basis for preparing their audit programs and their review. These steps are not considered all-inclusive or restrictive in nature, and do not relieve the auditor from exercising due professional care and judgment. The steps should be modified to fit local conditions and specific program design, implementation procedures, and agreement provisions, which may vary from program to program. Any limitations in the scope of work must be communicated as soon as possible to the Senior Director of the Accountable Entity Audit Program.

### PRE-AUDIT STEPS

- **6.2** Below is a listing of documents related to MCC programs. The auditors should review the applicable documents considered necessary to perform the audit:
  - The grant agreements between MCC and the Recipient Country Government or foreign organization
  - The sub-agreements or Implementing Entity agreements between the Accountable Entities or foreign organizations and other Implementing Entities, as applicable
  - Contracts and subcontracts with third parties, if any
  - The budgets, implementation letters, and written procedures approved by MCC
  - MCC Cost Principles for Accountable Entities
  - MCC's Accountable Entity Procurement Policy & Guidelines (PPG)
  - MCC's Program Grant Guidelines (PGG)
  - Fiscal Accountability Plan (FAP)
  - Procurement Operations Manual (POM)
  - Applicable Procurement Laws and Regulations (these laws and regulations will be identified in the compact, CDF, or threshold program grant agreement and supplemental agreements)
  - All program financial and progress reports; charts of accounts; organizational charts; accounting
    systems descriptions; procurement policies and procedures, including POM; and receipt, warehousing, and distribution procedures for materials, as necessary, to successfully complete the
    required work
  - · Any agreed-upon procedures
  - Any previous audits and financial reviews that directly relate to the objectives of the audit.

### FUND ACCOUNTABILITY STATEMENT

6.3 The auditors must examine the Consolidated Fund Accountability Statement<sup>59</sup> for MCC-funded programs, including the budgeted amounts by category and major items; the revenues received from

<sup>59</sup> A "Fund Accountability Statement" is a financial statement that presents an MCC recipient's revenues, costs incurred, cash balance of funds (after considering reconciling items), and assets and technical assistance directly procured by MCC that were

MCC for the period covered by the audit; the costs reported by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization, as incurred during that period; and the assets and technical assistance directly procured by MCC for the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's use. The Consolidated Fund Accountability Statement must include all MCC funding identified by each specific program or agreement. All Fund Accountability Statements for all fund types that are established per the Compact/Threshold program agreements should be presented in the audit report from year-to-year, regardless of whether there was any activity in the current audit period. A separate Fund Accountability Statement is required for individual MCC funding categories, such as: Initial Engagement Funding (IEF), Compact funds, Compact Facilitation Funding (CFF), Compact Development Funding (CDF), and Threshold Program Funding. MCC Funding Categories are described in the table below:

## **MCC Fund Categories:**

Fund	Previous Terminology	Purpose
Initial Engagement <sup>60</sup>	"Initial Engagement Funding" "IEF" (or, in some legal agreements, "Compact Development Funding for Initial Engagement")	Funding to assist a newly selected eligible compact country with the immediate and initial start-up of compact development, covering such costs as salaries, travel, office space and related expenses for core team members. This funding is typically managed by MCC.
CDF <sup>61</sup>	<ul><li>609g funding</li><li>"Compact Development Funding" or "CDF"</li></ul>	Funding to assist a country selected for compact assistance for the purpose of facilitating the development of potential compact projects.
CFF <sup>62</sup>	<ul> <li>"Compact Implementation Funding" or "CIF"</li> <li>"Compact-Compact Development Funding" or "C-CDF"</li> </ul>	Funding that is made available to a partner country upon the signing of a compact agreement for the purpose of facilitating compact implementation, covering program administration start-up expenses and additional technical designs or studies prior to implementation.
Threshold Program		Funding that is made available to a partner country upon entry into force of a threshold program grant agreement.

provided by MCC agreements.

60 These funds come from MCC's statutory authority under Section 609(g) of the MCA.

61 Ibid.

62 Ibid.

Fund	Previous Terminology	Purpose
Compact		Funding that is made available to a
		partner country upon entry into force
		(EIF) of a compact for the purpose of
		implementing the projects and activities
		identified in the compact agreement.
		Note: This funding is committed upon
		signing of the compact agreement and
		obligated upon EIF.

The revenues received from MCC less the costs incurred, after considering any reconciling items, must reconcile with the balance of cash-on-hand or in bank accounts. The Fund Accountability Statement should not include cost-sharing contributions provided from the Recipient Country Government's or foreign organization's own funds or in-kind contributions. However, a separate Cost-Sharing Schedule must be included and prepared by the Accountable Entity and reviewed by the auditor, as stated in **Appendix IV** of these *Audit Guidelines*.

- **6.4** The auditor must not prepare or assist the Accountable Entity or foreign organization in preparing the Fund Accountability Statement, and the Accountable Entity or foreign organization must accept responsibility for the Statement's accuracy before the audit commences.
- Accountability Statement must comply with Audit Guidelines<sup>63</sup>. The Fund Accountability Statement must separately identify those revenues and costs applicable to each specific MCC agreement. The audit must evaluate program implementation actions and accomplishments to determine whether specific costs incurred are allowable, allocable, and reasonable under the agreement terms, as well as to identify areas where fraud and illegal acts have occurred or are likely to have occurred as a result of inadequate internal control. At a minimum, the auditors must:
  - Review costs billed to and reimbursed with MCC funds, as well as costs incurred but pending reimbursement by MCC, identifying and quantifying any questioned costs. All costs that are not supported with adequate documentation or are not in accordance with the agreement terms or the Cost Principles for Accountable Entities Involved in MCC Compact Implementation or in the Accountable Entity's Fiscal Accountability Plan must be reported as questioned.
  - All questioned costs must be properly classified and presented as an internal control or a noncompliance finding and must be cross-referenced to any corresponding findings in the report.
  - Disclose questioned costs. Questioned cost is defined as a cost that is questioned by the auditor because of an audit finding: 1) Which resulted from a violation or possible violation of a statute, regulation, or the terms and conditions of the agreement; 2) Where the costs, at the time of the audit, are not supported by adequate documentation; or 3) Where the costs incurred appear unreasonable and do not reflect the actions a prudent person would take in the circumstances.

<sup>63</sup> AICPA SAS No. 139, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks, AU-C Section 800

The questioned costs must be identified in the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement. Questioned costs must be presented in the Fund Accountability Statement in two separate categories:

- Ineligible costs that are explicitly questioned because they are unreasonable, prohibited by the agreements or applicable laws and regulations, or are not program related.
- Unsupported costs that are not supported with adequate documentation or did not have required prior approvals or authorizations.
- Review the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement. The notes to the Fund Accountability Statement must briefly describe both material and immaterial questioned costs and must be cross-referenced to any corresponding findings in the report (see paragraphs **6.8-6.9** below for further requirements for the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement).
- Review general and program ledgers to determine whether costs incurred were properly recorded. Reconcile direct costs billed to, and reimbursed by, MCC to the program and general ledgers.
- Review the procedures used to control the funds, including transfer of funds to contracted financial institutions or other implementing entities. Review the bank statements and the controls on those bank accounts. Perform positive confirmation of balances, as necessary.
- Determine whether advances of funds were justified with documentation, including reconciliations of funds advanced, disbursed, and available. The auditors must ensure that all funding received by the Accountable Entity from MCC was appropriately recorded in the recipient's accounting records and that those records were periodically reconciled with information provided by MCC.
- Determine whether program income was added to funds used to further eligible projects, program objectives to finance the non-Federal share of the project or program, or deducted from program costs, in accordance with MCC regulations, other implementing guidance, or the terms and conditions of the award.
- Review procurement procedures to determine whether they were conducted in a manner consistent with MCC's Accountable Entity Procurement Policy & Guidelines to ensure compliance with these guidelines, as well as ensuring that adequate controls were in place over the qualities and quantities received.
- Review direct salary charges to determine whether salary rates were reasonable for that position, in accordance with those approved by MCC when MCC approval is required and supported by appropriate payroll records. Determine if overtime was charged to the program and whether it was allowable under the terms of the agreements. Determine whether allowances and fringe benefits received by employees were in accordance with the agreements and applicable laws and regulations. The auditors should question unallowable salary charges in the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Review travel and transportation charges to determine whether they were adequately supported
  and approved. Travel charges that are not supported with adequate documentation or not in accordance with agreements and regulations must be questioned in the Fund Accountability Statement.

- Review assets (e.g., supplies, materials, vehicles, equipment, food products, tools), whether procured by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization. The auditors should determine whether assets exist or were used for their intended purposes in accordance with the terms of the agreements and whether control procedures exist and have been placed in operation to adequately safeguard the assets. As part of the procedures to determine if assets were used for intended purposes, the auditors should perform end-use reviews for an appropriate sample of all assets based on the control risk assessment. End-use reviews may include site visits to verify that assets exist or were used for their intended purposes in accordance with the terms of the agreements. The cost of all assets whose existence or proper use in accordance with the agreements cannot be verified must be questioned in the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Review technical assistance and services, consultant services, and grant activity procured by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization. The auditors should determine whether technical assistance, services, and grants were used for their intended purposes in accordance with the terms of the agreements. The cost of technical assistance, services, and grants not properly used in accordance with terms of the agreements must be questioned in the Fund Accountability Statement.
  - In addition to the above audit procedures, if technical assistance and services were contracted by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization from a non-U.S. contractor, the auditors should perform additional audit steps on the technical assistance and services, unless the Accountable Entity or foreign organization has separately contracted for an audit of these costs. When testing for compliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations, the auditors should not only consider agreements between the Accountable Entity or foreign organization and MCC but also agreements between the Accountable Entity or foreign organization and the non-U.S. contractors providing technical assistance and services. The agreements between the Accountable Entity or foreign organization and non-U.S. contractors should be audited using the same audit steps described in the other paragraphs of this section, including all tests necessary to specifically determine that costs incurred are allowable, allocable, reasonable, and supported under agreement terms.
  - If the technical assistance and services were not contracted by the Accountable Entity or
    foreign organization from a non-U.S. contractor, the auditors are still responsible for determining whether technical assistance and services were used for their intended purposes in
    accordance with the terms of the agreements. However, the auditors are not responsible for
    performing additional audit steps for the costs incurred under the technical assistance and
    services agreements.
- Determine the likelihood of effective IS controls.
- 6.6 There may be situations where an Accountable Entity or foreign organization has more than one MCC-funded agreement, either for multiple projects in one country or for projects in multiple countries. The Fund Accountability Statement included as **Appendix III** illustrates how to report the results of a single audit that covers more than one legal agreement (e.g., CDF agreement and compact). In such cases, the Fund Accountability Statement must separately disclose the financial information (e.g., revenues, costs) for each agreement and must identify the country program to which each agreement applies. Questioned costs and internal control and compliance findings of any audits of sub-recipient must be

reported in the Accountable Entity's financial audit using the same treatment and procedures as the recipient's own questioned costs and findings. The same reporting principles apply when only one Accountable Entity agreement is covered by the audit.

6.7 The auditors must generally express a single opinion on the Consolidated Fund Accountability Statement that includes more than one agreement with MCC. Auditors must *not* express separate opinions on Fund Accountability Statements of each agreement or program unless specifically requested to do so by MCC or the Accountable Entity. If the Accountable Entity requests multiple opinions, the Accountable Entity must request approval from MCC.

## NOTES TO THE FUND ACCOUNTABILITY STATEMENT

- 6.8 Note disclosures (also referred to as "notes") to the financial statements are supplementary information that is presented in narrative and numeric format that provides further explanatory or descriptive information about the applicable financial reporting framework being presented in a financial statement audit report. The notes are essential to fully understanding the information being presented on the face of the financial statements and should be presented in a fashion that aids MCC stakeholders in better understanding the financial position of an Accountable Entity or foreign organization.
- 6.9 The Fund Accountability Statement must be accompanied by notes that provide explanatory information relevant to the statement. In addition to examining the Fund Accountability Statements, the auditors must review the related notes prepared by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization. The auditor must not prepare or assist the Accountable Entity or foreign organization in preparing the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement, and the Accountable Entity or foreign organization must accept responsibility for the accuracy of the notes before the audit commences.
- **6.10** At a minimum, the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement must include the following elements:
  - A summary of the significant accounting policies, the authorized exchange rates used during the audit period and foreign currency restrictions, if any, and an explanation of other key elements/important items of the statements.
    - Note 1 to the Fund Accountability Statement must describe the significant accounting policies, including the basis of accounting on which the statements are prepared. The basis of accounting should agree with how the Fund Accountability Statements are presented. For example, if the Fund Accountability Statement presents receivables and payables, then the notes should state that the statements were prepared on a modified cash basis, not on a cash basis.
    - For the authorized exchange rate(s) used during the audit period, if a weighted average rate was used, the note should include the methodology used in obtaining that rate.
  - If the Accountable Entity or foreign organization prepares multiple Fund Accountability Statements (i.e., a consolidated statement and individual statements for different fund types), the individual statements must be accompanied by their own set of notes.

59

- The basis of accounting listed in the notes must be consistent for all Fund Accountability Statements prepared by the Accountable Entity or foreign organization and presented in the audit report. For example, if the consolidated Fund Accountability Statement is prepared on a modified cash basis, then the individual statements must also be prepared on the modified cash basis.
- When appropriate, notes should be cross-referenced to the appropriate line item on the face of the Fund Accountability Statement.
- The notes should provide a description of the costs incurred and/or how those expenditures help achieve the objectives of each sub-activity presented in the Fund Accountability Statement. Additionally, at a minimum, a note should be included for the Total Costs Incurred line item for the current audit period. However, it is recommended that the notes include a note related to costs incurred for each program element line item presented in the Fund Accountability Statement.
- The notes should present a note reconciling the ending fund balance amount to cash on hand in bank accounts after considering any reconciling items.
- The dollar amounts in the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement must be presented in full, unrounded dollar amounts with cents. Additionally, the calculations/totals in the notes should not be off by rounding.
- If necessary, the notes should present detailed breakdowns/calculations of the amounts presented in the Fund Accountability Statement (e.g., a note for a "Program Administration" line item presented in the statement could be explained further and broken down into sub-line items such as HR management, office supplies, and transportation). The total of the sub-line item amounts within the note must agree/reconcile exactly to the amount for the total line item presented in the Fund Accountability Statement.
- If questioned costs are noted as a result of the audit report, the notes should:
  - Briefly describe both material and immaterial questioned costs.
  - Be cross-referenced to the line item that the questioned costs impact on the Fund Accountability Statement.
  - Cross-reference the questioned cost to the corresponding finding in the Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters.

### **COST-SHARING SCHEDULE**

Most grant agreements with cost-sharing contributions by the Recipient Country Government establish a life-of-project budget. However, some agreements may establish annual budgets for those contributions. The type of cost-sharing contribution selected must be properly disclosed through the audit report. The examination of the Cost-Sharing Schedule must be approached differently depending on whether the cost-sharing budget is a life-of project budget or an annual budget. In either case, the examination consists principally of inquiries of Accountable Entity personnel and analytical procedures applied to financial data supporting the Cost-Sharing Schedule, if it is a review engagement. The audit of the cost-sharing

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

contribution must include an opinion on the Cost-Sharing Schedule and follow the elements in **Section 5.5**. The examination of the cost-sharing contribution is a separate engagement and should have its own engagement work papers to support the auditor's negative or positive assurance.

**6.11** The Accountable Entity must prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule from the Accountable Entity's books and records. In addition, the Accountable Entity must accept responsibility for the schedule's accuracy before the review or audit commences.

### AGREEMENT WITH LIFE-OF-PROJECT COST-SHARING BUDGET

- **6.12** For an agreement with a life-of-project budget for cost-sharing contributions, it is not possible to determine whether the contributions have been made as required until the agreement ends. Nonetheless, MCC and the Accountable Entity need reliable information to monitor actual cost-sharing contributions throughout the life of the agreement.
- 6.13 Thus, for agreements with a life-of-project budget for cost-sharing contributions, for each year that an audit is performed in accordance with these *Audit Guidelines*, the auditors will review the Cost-Sharing Schedule to determine if the schedule is fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity to prepare the schedule. The auditors must question all cost-sharing contributions that are either ineligible or unsupported costs. An ineligible cost is a cost that is unreasonable, prohibited by the agreements or applicable laws and regulations, or is not program related. An unsupported cost lacks adequate documentation or does not have required prior approvals or authorizations. All questioned costs must be briefly described in the notes to the Cost-Sharing Schedule. In addition, all questioned costs, regardless of materiality, must be included as findings in the report on compliance. Notes to the Cost-Sharing Schedule must be cross-referenced to the corresponding findings in the report on compliance. Also, reportable internal control weaknesses related to cost-sharing contributions must be set forth as findings in the report on internal control. (See an illustrative example of a Cost-Sharing Schedule at Appendix IV of these *Audit Guidelines*.)
- **6.14** In addition, for closeout audits of agreements with a life-of-project budget for cost-sharing contributions, the auditors will review the Cost-Sharing Schedule to determine if the recipients provided such contributions in accordance with the terms of the agreement. If actual contributions were less than budgeted contributions, the shortfall will be identified in the appropriate column of the Cost-Sharing Schedule. (See an illustrative example of a Cost-Sharing Schedule at **Appendix IV** of these *Audit Guidelines*.)

## AGREEMENT WITH ANNUAL COST-SHARING BUDGET

**6.15** For agreements with an annual budget for cost-sharing contributions, for each year that an audit is performed in accordance with these Audit Guidelines, the auditors will review the Cost-Sharing Schedule to determine whether: a) the schedule is fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule, and b) contributions were provided by the Accountable Entity in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The auditors must question all cost-sharing contributions that are either ineligible or unsupported costs. An ineligible cost is unreasonable, prohibited by the agreements (including the MCC Cost Principles) or applicable laws and regulations or is not program-related. An unsupported cost lacks adequate documentation or does not have required

prior approvals or authorizations. All questioned costs must be briefly described in the notes to the Cost-Sharing Schedule. In addition, all questioned costs, regardless of materiality, must be included as findings in the report on compliance. Notes to the Cost-Sharing Schedule must be cross-referenced to the corresponding findings in the report on compliance. Also, reportable internal control weaknesses related to cost-sharing contributions must be set forth as findings in the report on internal control. If actual cost-sharing contributions were less than budgeted contributions, the shortfall will be identified in the appropriate column of the Cost-Sharing Schedule.

### INTERNAL CONTROL

**6.16** The auditors must review and evaluate the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's internal control related to MCC programs to obtain a sufficient understanding of the design of relevant control policies and procedures and whether those policies and procedures are in operation. The GAO Green Book<sup>64</sup> may prove helpful in assessing the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's internal control. The internal control environment must be documented in the working papers.

6.17 Auditors must then prepare the report required by these *Audit Guidelines*, identifying deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control. A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A deficiency in design exists when: a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is missing, or b) an existing control is not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does not operate as designed or when the person performing the control does not possess the necessary authority or qualifications to perform the control effectively.

A significant deficiency is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (ICOFR) that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those responsible for oversight of the Accountable Entity, Covered Provider's or the foreign organization's financial reporting.

A material weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in ICOFR, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses must be set forth in the report as "findings" (see **Appendix V** of these *Audit Guidelines*). Other matters related to internal control (e.g., control deficiencies) should be included in a separate management letter to the Accountable Entity or foreign organization and referred to in the report on internal control. The management letter should be provided to the MCC along with the audit report.

The major internal control components to be studied and evaluated include the controls related to each revenue and expense account on the Fund Accountability Statement. The auditors must:

a) Obtain a sufficient understanding of internal control to plan the audit and to determine the nature, timing, and extent of tests to be performed.

<sup>64</sup> GAO, Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government, GAO-14-704G, September 2014

- b) Assess inherent risk and control risk, as well as determine the combined risk. Inherent risk is the susceptibility of an assertion (e.g., an account balance) to a material misstatement, assuming there are no related internal control policies or procedures. Control risk is the risk that a material misstatement that could occur in an assertion will not be prevented or detected in a timely manner by the entity's internal control policies or procedures. Combined risk (sometimes referred to as detection risk) is the risk that the auditor will not detect a material misstatement that exists in an assertion. Combined risk is based upon the effectiveness of an auditing procedure and the auditor's application of that procedure.
- c) Summarize the risk assessments for each assertion in a working paper. The risk assessments should consider the following broad categories under which each assertion should be classified: a) existence or occurrence; b) completeness; c) rights and obligations; d) valuation or allocation; and e) presentation and disclosure. At a minimum, the working papers should identify the name of the account or assertion; the account balance or the amount represented by the assertion; the assessed level of inherent risk (high, moderate, or low); the assessed level of control risk (high, moderate, or low); the combined risk (high, moderate, or low); and a description of the nature, timing, and extent of the tests performed based on the combined risk. These summary working papers should be cross-indexed to the supporting working papers that contain the detailed analysis of the fieldwork. If control risk is evaluated at less than the maximum level (high), then the basis for the auditor's conclusion must be documented in the working papers.
  - c.1 If the auditors assess control risk at the maximum level for assertions related to material account balances, transaction classes, and disclosure components of financial statements when such assertions are significantly dependent upon computerized IS, the auditors must document in the working papers the basis for such conclusions by addressing: a) the ineffective- ness of the design and/or operation of controls, or b) the reasons why it would be inefficient to test the controls.
- d) Evaluate the control environment, the adequacy of the accounting systems, and control procedures. Emphasize the policies and procedures that pertain to the recipient's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial data consistent with the assertions embodied in each account of the Fund Accountability Statement. This should include, but not be limited to, the control systems for:
  - Ensuring that charges to the program are proper and supported
  - Managing cash on hand and in bank accounts
  - Procuring goods and services
  - Managing inventory and receiving functions
  - Managing personnel functions, including timekeeping, salaries, and benefits
  - Managing and disposing of assets (e.g., supplies, materials, vehicles, equipment, food products, and tools) purchased either by the Accountable Entity, foreign organization, covered providers, or directly by MCC

<sup>65</sup> FAM 395 G and 395 H

- Ensuring compliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations that collectively have a material impact on the Fund Accountability Statement. Specifically, evaluate compliance with the AE Procurement Policy & Guidelines and Program Grant Guidelines, as well as the Fiscal Accountability Plan. The results of this evaluation should be properly documented within the auditor's work papers.
- e) Evaluate internal control established to ensure compliance with cost-sharing requirements, if applicable, including both provision and management of the contributions.
- f) Include in the study and evaluation other policies and procedures that may be relevant if they pertain to data the auditors use in applying auditing procedures. This may include, for example, policies and procedures that pertain to non-financial data that the auditors use in analytical procedures.

6.18 In fulfilling the audit requirement relating to an understanding of internal control and assessing the level of control risk, the auditor must follow, at a minimum, the guidance contained in AICPA SAS No. 145 and 122 (AU-C Section 315 and AU-C Section 265), respectively entitled *Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement* and *Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit*, as well as AICPA SAS No. 122 (AU-C Section 935), *Compliance Audits*.

### COMPLIANCE WITH AGREEMENT TERMS AND APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

6.19 In fulfilling the audit requirement to determine compliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations related to MCC programs, the auditors must, at a minimum, follow guidance contained in AICPA SAS No. 122 (AU-C Section 935), Compliance Audits. The compliance review must also determine—on audits of awards that present cost-sharing budgets on an annual basis and on close-out audits of awards that present cost-sharing budgets on a life-of-project basis— if cost-sharing contributions were provided and accounted for in accordance with the terms of the agreements. The auditor's report on compliance must set forth as findings all material instances of noncompliance, defined as instances that could have a direct and material effect on the Fund Accountability Statement. Nonmaterial instances of noncompliance should be included in a separate management letter to the Accountable Entity and referred to in the report on compliance. The management letter should be provided to MCC along with the audit report.

The auditor's report should include all conclusions that fraud or an illegal act either has occurred or is likely to have occurred. In reporting material fraud, illegal acts, or other noncompliance, the auditors should place their findings in proper perspective. To give the reader a basis for judging the prevalence and consequences of these conditions, the instances identified should be related to the universe or the number of cases examined and is quantified in terms of U.S. dollars, if appropriate. In presenting material fraud, illegal acts, or other noncompliance, auditors must follow the reporting standards contained in Chapter 6 of *Government Auditing Standards*. Auditors may provide less extensive disclosure of fraud and illegal acts that are not material in either a quantitative or qualitative sense. If the auditors conclude that sufficient evidence of fraud or illegal acts exists, they must contact the OIG and exercise due professional care in pursuing indications of possible fraud and illegal acts to avoid interfering with potential future investigations or legal proceedings.

## **6.20** In planning and conducting the tests of compliance, the auditors must:

- a) Identify the agreement terms and pertinent laws and regulations and determine which of those, if not observed, could have a direct and material effect on the Fund Accountability Statement. Special attention should be given to the AE Procurement Policy & Guidelines, and Program Grant Guidelines, MCC *Policies and Procedures for Common Payment System*, the *Cost Principles for Accountable Entities Involved in MCC Compact Implementation*, and the Fiscal Accountability Plan, if applicable. The auditors must:
  - List all standard and program-specific provisions contained in the agreements that cumulatively, if not observed, could have a direct and material effect on the Fund Accountability Statement.
  - Assess the inherent and control risk that material noncompliance could occur for each of the compliance requirements listed in the bullet above.
  - Determine the nature, timing, and extent of audit steps and procedures to test for errors, fraud, and illegal acts that provide reasonable assurance of detecting both intentional and unintentional instances of noncompliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations that could have a material effect on the Fund Accountability Statement. This should be based on the risk assessment described in the bullet above.
  - Prepare a summary working paper that identifies each of the specific compliance requirements included in the review, the results of the inherent, control, and combined (detection) risk assessments for each compliance requirement; the audit steps used to test for compliance with each of the requirements based on the risk assessment; and the results of the compliance testing for each requirement. The summary working paper should be cross-indexed to detailed working papers that support the facts and conclusions contained in the summary working paper.
- b) Determine if payments have been made in accordance with agreement terms, the Cost Principles, and applicable laws and regulations.
  - Determine whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization is accurately tracking
    advance payments made to contractors and the liquidation of those advance payments consistent with the terms and conditions of contract agreements. Identify any material instances
    of non-compliance with agreement terms and/or instances in which the recipient's records
    do not support a complete and accurate status of advance payments owed by contractors.
  - Determine whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization is accurately tracking amounts retained from their contractors as a percentage of amounts invoiced, consistent with the terms and conditions of contract agreements. Identify any material instances of non-compliance with agreement terms and/or instances in which the recipient's records do not support a complete and accurate status of amounts withheld from contractors.
  - Determine whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization has an adequate system for ensuring that MCC funding is free of value-added taxes (VAT), as well as other such taxes, tariffs, duties, and levies per the Compact or Threshold Program agreement. The sys-

tem should identify VAT paid, claims for reimbursement, status of refunds, and outstanding balance. A note and/or schedule describing the recipient's taxation control system and status of claims should be included in the Audit Report.

- c) Determine if funds have been expended for purposes not authorized or not in accordance with applicable agreement terms and/or Cost Principles. If so, the auditors must question these costs in the Fund Accountability Statement.
- d) Identify any costs not considered appropriate, classifying, and explaining why these costs are questioned in accordance with the Cost Principles, applicable laws, and regulations.
- e) Determine whether assets, whether procured by the Accountable Entity, foreign organization, covered providers, or directly procured by MCC for the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's use, exist or were used for their intended purposes in accordance with the terms of the agreements. If not, the cost of such assets must be questioned.
- f) Determine whether any technical assistance and services, whether procured by the Accountable Entity, foreign organization, or directly procured by MCC for the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's use, were used for their intended purposes in accordance with the agreements. If not, the cost of such technical assistance and services should be questioned.
- g) Determine if the amount of cost-sharing funds was calculated and accounted for, as required by the agreements or applicable Cost Principles.
- h) Determine if the cost-sharing funds<sup>66</sup> were provided according to the terms of the agreements and quantify any shortfalls.
- i) Determine whether those who received services and benefits were eligible to receive them.
- j) Determine whether the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's financial reports (including those on the status of cost-sharing contributions) contain information that is supported by the books and records.
- k) Determine whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization held advances of MCC funds in interest-bearing accounts and whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization remitted to MCC any interest earned on those advances.
- l) Determine whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization complied with MCC's *Common Payment System Policy and Procedures*. This should include a determination as to whether the Accountable Entity had adequate systems in place to monitor the amount of periodic spending authority authorized by MCC, if applicable.

# FOLLOW-UP ON PRIOR AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS

**6.21** The auditors must review the status of actions taken on findings and recommendations reported in prior audits of MCC-funded programs. *Government Auditing Standards*, paragraph 6.11 states:<sup>67</sup>

On audits of awards that present cost-sharing budgets on an annual basis and for closeout audits of awards that present cost-sharing budgets on a life-of- project basis, as explained in paragraphs 6.12 and 6.13 of these *Audit Guidelines*.

<sup>67</sup> See paragraph 6.11 of Government Auditing Standards

"When planning the audit, auditors should ask management of the audited entity to identify previous audits, attestation engagements, and other studies that are directly related to the objectives of the audit, including whether related recommendations have been implemented. Auditors should evaluate whether the audited entity has taken appropriate corrective action to address findings and recommendations from previous engagements that could have a significant effect on the subject matter. Auditors should use this information in assessing risk and determining the nature, timing, and extent of current audit work and determining the extent to which testing the implementation of the corrective actions is applicable to the current audit objectives."

6.22 The auditors must review and report on the status of actions taken on prior findings and recommendations in the summary section of the audit report. The auditors should refer to the most recent contracted audit report for the same award (for a follow-up audit) or other MCC awards (for an initial audit). When corrective action has not been taken and the deficiency remains unresolved for the current audit period and is reported again in the current report, the auditors need to briefly describe the prior finding and status and show the page reference to where it is included in the current report. If there were no prior findings and recommendations, the auditors must include a note to that effect in this section of the audit report.

### OTHER AUDIT RESPONSIBILITIES

**6.23** The auditors must perform and document the following steps, as MCC may request associated working papers and documentation (see **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide):

- a) Hold Entrance and Exit Conferences with the Accountable Entity or foreign organization. MCC should be notified of these conferences in order that MCC representatives may attend, if deemed necessary. The audit firm is required to hold an Entrance Conference before the audit starts and an Exit Conference informing the Accountable Entity or foreign organization of its results and findings. Meeting minutes summarizing the date of the meeting, personnel present, and topics discussed should be formally documented for each of these conferences and included as part of the supplemental documentation provided to MCC.
- b) During the planning stages of an audit, communicate information to the auditee regarding the nature and extent of planned testing and reporting on compliance with laws, regulations, and ICOFR. Such communication should state that the auditors do not plan to provide opinions on compliance with laws, regulations, and ICOFR.<sup>68</sup> Written communication is preferred. Auditors should document the communication in the working papers.
- c) Institute QC procedures to ensure that sufficient competent evidence is obtained through inspection, observation, inquiries, and confirmations to afford a reasonable basis for an opinion regarding the Fund Accountability Statement under audit. While auditors may use their standard procedures for ensuring QC, those procedures must, at a minimum, ensure that:
  - c.1 Audit reports and supporting working papers are reviewed by an auditor, preferably at the partner level, who was not involved in the audit. This review must be documented.

<sup>68</sup> The auditors only express an opinion on the Fund Accountability Statement as indicated in Chapter 5 of these *Audit Guidelines* 

67

- c.2 All quantities and monetary amounts involving calculations are footed and cross-footed.
- c.3 All factual statements, numbers, conclusions, and monetary amounts are cross-indexed to supporting working papers.
- d) Ascertain whether the Accountable Entity ensured that audits of its sub-recipients (e.g., Covered Providers) were performed to ensure accountability for MCC funding passed through to sub-recipients. If sub-recipient audit requirements were not met, the auditors should disclose this in the Fund Accountability Statement and consider qualifying their opinion.
- e) If applicable, ensure that the Independent Accountant's Report on Agreed-Upon Procedures is in compliance with AT-C Sections 210 and 215 of the AICPA Clarified Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements.
- f) Obtain a management representation letter in accordance with AICPA SAS No. 122 (AU-C Section 580), *Written Representations*, signed by the Accountable Entity's management. See **Appendix II** for an illustrative management representation letter.

### **CLOSEOUT AUDIT**

**6.24** A closeout audit is an audit for a compact, CDF, or threshold program agreement that has concluded during the period audited. Closeout audits require additional scope of the audit services, including but not limited to the following:

- Review advances made to the Accountable Entity or foreign organization by MCC as well as advances made by the Accountable Entity to contractors and ensure proper liquidation per the terms of the applicable agreement. Review pending reimbursements by MCC to the Accountable Entity, foreign organization, or by the applicable Accountable Entity to third-party recipients.
- Ensure that the Accountable Entity or foreign organization has returned any excess cash to MCC.
- Verify that the Accountable Entity or foreign organization complied with its Closure Plan.
- Review final share of costs in accordance with the terms of the agreement, if applicable.
- Ensure that all assets (e.g., inventories, fixed assets, commodities) procured with program funds were disposed of in accordance with the terms of the agreements.

The auditor should document these procedures, as MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix** X for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide. See **Appendix** VI for an Illustration of a Closeout Review Report.

45 days before the closure of a compact, CDF, or threshold program grant agreement, the auditor must commence with their audit or review engagement to ensure that they can obtain adequate representations and/or final signatures from the AE or foreign organization management (CEO or CFO equivalent) to sign the Fund Accountability Statement(s) and/or the management representation letter. During this closeout period, the auditor must meet with the AE or foreign organization management to discuss obtaining adequate representations after the compact, or threshold program is closed and determine whether the AE or foreign organization management would provide that representation. The AE or foreign organization

management must also ensure the auditor has access to all accounting records and supporting documentation, closeout transactions, and trial balances needed to complete the audit or review engagement. Three days before closure of the program or earlier, the AE or foreign organization management must provide signed Fund Accountability Statement(s) to the auditor.

After the closure of the compact or threshold program grant agreement, the auditor will continue to complete the audit or review engagement. Once the engagement is completed, the auditor will request the former AE or foreign organization management to sign the Management Representation Letter and provide a copy of the Draft Audit Report. If the former AE or foreign organization management determines this action is authorized and licit to sign the Management Representation Letter, this will be acceptable to MCC. If the former AE or foreign organization management cannot or is advised not to sign the Management Representation Letter, management should provide an explanation and immediately inform the auditors through email correspondence. If the signature omission is related to a significant matter, MCC could raise this issue directly with the Recipient Country Government through agreements signed within the Program Closure Plan. The auditor should disclose this information within the emphasis-of-matter paragraph to its audit or review reports to explain the circumstances.

The Compact or threshold program grant agreement may close before the auditor could obtain adequate representations and/or final signatures from management to sign the final audit reports and/or the Management Representation Letter. In cases like this, a disclaimer of opinion on the audit reports may be warranted (see **Appendix V** for illustrative examples of the independent auditor's reports). However, if the auditor is able to obtain partial signed management representations or if the Management Representation Letter contains a different letterhead, the auditor may also need to include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph<sup>69</sup> to its audit reports to explain the circumstances, if no disclaimer of opinion is warranted.

The auditors must determine whether the Fund Accountability Statement(s) showing the balances and details of final inventories of nonexpendable property acquired under the award is presented fairly in all material respects in relation to the financial statements. The auditors should present, as an annex to the Fund Accountability Statement, the balances, and details of final inventories of nonexpendable property acquired under the agreements. This inventory must indicate which items were titled to the U.S. Government and which were titled to other entities. These closeout audit procedures must be performed for any award that expires during the period audited.

For closeout audits of awards with a life-of-project budget for cost-sharing or matching contributions, the auditors will review the cost-sharing or matching schedule to determine if the recipients provided such contributions in accordance with terms of the agreement. If actual contributions were less than budgeted contributions, the shortfall will be identified in the appropriate column of the cost-sharing or matching schedule.

<sup>69</sup> For standards to follow in preparing an emphasis-of-matter paragraph, please refer to AICPA SAS 134, *Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs and Other Matters Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report*, AU-C Section 706

### **CHAPTER 7. AUDIT REPORTS**

### WHAT IS AN AUDITOR'S OPINION?

- 7.1 An auditor's opinion is a certification that accompanies financial statements based on an audit of an auditor's judgment on the procedures and records used to produce the statements, regardless of whether material misstatements exist in the financial statements. For financial audits, the opinion may be an unmodified opinion, a modified opinion, or an adverse opinion. The audit is performed by an auditor who is independent of the entity being audited. An auditor's opinion is also called an accountant's opinion.
- 7.2 An auditor's opinion is presented in the Independent Auditor's Report on the Fund Accountability Statement (see **Appendix V**). The audit report begins with the auditor's opinion on the Fund Accountability Statement, followed by an explanation for the basis of the opinion. The next two sections outline the responsibility of management and the responsibility of the audit firm. And lastly, the report concludes by outlining other reporting requirements promulgated by *Government Auditing Standards*.

### **OPINION TYPES**

7.3 An unmodified opinion is also known as a clean opinion. The auditor reports an unmodified opinion if the financial statements are found to be free from material misstatements.

A modified opinion is given when an entity's financial records have not been presented in accordance with GAAP or other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis). Although the wording of a modified opinion is very similar to an unmodified opinion, the auditor provides an additional paragraph including exclusions from the cleanliness of the financial statements and provides an explanation as to why the auditor report is not unmodified.

An adverse opinion is the most unfavorable opinion an entity may receive. An adverse opinion indicates financial records are not in accordance with GAAP or any other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis) and are grossly misstated. An adverse opinion may be an indicator of fraud and entities that receive an adverse opinion are forced to correct their financial statements and have the financial statements reaudited.

In the event the auditor is unable to complete the audit report due to absence of financial records or insufficient cooperation from management, the auditor issues a disclaimer of opinion. This is an indication that no opinion over the financial statements was able to be determined. A disclaimer of opinion is not an opinion itself.

- 7.4 To make it easier for audit firms to comply with these *Audit Guidelines*, the format and content of the audit reports should closely follow the following illustrative reports in the appendices of these *Audit Guidelines*.
  - a) The audit report package must contain:
    - Title page (close-out audits must be visibly titled)<sup>70</sup>

<sup>70 &</sup>quot;Closeout" audits must specify they are closeout audits on the title page. A closeout audit is an audit for an award that expired during the period audited.

- Table of contents
- Transmittal letter that includes
  - The actual cost incurred
  - Name of reports included
- Independent audit reports (draft and final) (dated)
- Summary that includes:
  - A background section with a general description of the Accountable Entity or foreign
    organization programs audited, the audit period covered, the program objectives, discusses the funding and the amount including government contribution (if applicable),
    a clear identification of all entities mentioned in the report, a section on the follow-up
    of prior audit recommendations, and communicate whether or not the Accountable
    Entity or foreign organization has a MCC-authorized provisional indirect cost rate.
  - The objectives and scope of the financial audit and a clear explanation of the procedures performed and the scope limitations, if any
  - A brief summary of the audit results on the:
    - Fund Accountability Statement
    - Questioned costs
    - Internal control
    - Compliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations
    - Status of prior audit recommendations
  - A brief summary of the type of cost-sharing/government contributions and the results of the review
  - A brief summary of the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's management comments regarding its view on the audit and results and findings.
  - A statement that a management letter was provided to the Accountable Entity's or foreign organization's management, if applicable.

### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON THE FUND ACCOUNTABILITY STATEMENT REPORT

b) The Independent Auditor's Report on the Fund Accountability Statement Report is the auditor's report on the Fund Accountability Statement, identifying any questioned costs not fully supported with adequate records or not eligible under the terms of the agreements. The report must be in conformance with the standards for reporting in Chapter 6 of *Government Auditing Standards* and must include:

- b.1 The **auditor's opinion** on whether the Consolidated Fund Accountability Statement presents fairly, in all material respects, program revenues, costs incurred, and assets and technical assistance directly procured by Accountable Entity or foreign organization for the year then ended, in accordance with the terms of the agreements and in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles or other basis of accounting. This opinion must clearly state that the audit was performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*. Any deviations from these standards, including noncompliance with the requirements for CPE and external QCRs, must be disclosed (see **Appendix V** of these *Audit Guidelines*).
- b.2 The Fund Accountability Statement identifying the program revenues, costs incurred, and assets and technical assistance directly procured for the period audited. The Fund Account- ability Statement must also identify questioned costs not considered eligible for reimbursement and unsupported, if any, including the cost of any assets and technical assistance directly procured by MCC whose existence or proper use in accordance with the agreements could not be verified. All questioned costs, regardless of materiality, resulting from internal control deficiencies and instances of noncompliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations must be included as findings in the report on internal controls and compliance. Also, the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement must briefly describe both material and immaterial questioned costs and must be cross-referenced to any corresponding findings in the report on internal controls and compliance (see Appendix V of these Audit Guidelines). All questioned costs in the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement must be stated in U.S. dollars. (Please note: Each individual fund [IEF, CFF, CDF, and Program fund] must have its own separate Fund Accountability Statement as illustrated under Appendix V.)
- b.3 Notes to the Fund Accountability Statement, including a summary of the significant accounting policies, explanation of the most important items of the statements, the exchange rates during the audit period and foreign currency restrictions, if any. (Please note: Each individual fund [IEF, CFF, CDF, and Program fund] must have its own separate set of notes to the Fund Accountability Statement.)

### COST-SHARING REVIEW REPORT

- c) The Cost-Sharing Review Report is a report on the auditor's review of the schedule of cost-sharing contributions. The report must follow the guidance in the AICPA SSARS, *Review of Financial Statements*, AR-C Section 90. The report must include:
  - c.1 A review report on the Cost-Sharing Schedule. This review report must state that the review was conducted in accordance with AICPA standards. It should also explain that a review is more limited in scope than an examination performed in accordance with AICPA standards and state that an opinion on the schedule is not expressed. The report must identify all questioned costs, regardless of materiality, related to the provision of, and accounting for cost-sharing funds. The report must provide negative assurance with regard to the provision of, and accounting for cost-sharing contributions for items not tested (see **Appendix IV** of these *Audit Guidelines*).

- c.2 The **Cost-Sharing Schedule** identifying questioned costs (see **Appendix IV** of these *Audit Guidelines*). Cost-sharing contributions that are unreasonable, prohibited by the agreements or applicable laws and regulations, or not program-related are ineligible. Cost-sharing contributions that lack adequate documentation or do not have required prior approvals or authorizations are unsupported.
- c.3 The Cost-Sharing Schedule identifying the budgeted amounts required by the agreements,<sup>71</sup> the amounts actually provided, and any cost-sharing shortfalls.
- c.4 Notes to the Cost-Sharing Schedule that briefly explain the basis for questioned costs and shortfalls, if applicable. The notes must be cross-referenced to the corresponding findings, if the questioned costs are material, in the report on internal controls and compliance.

### REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL AND COMPLIANCE

- d) The auditor's report must include at a minimum: a) the scope of the auditor's work in obtaining an understanding of internal control and in assessing the control risk; and b) the reportable conditions, including the identification of material weaknesses in the Accountable Entity's internal control. Reportable conditions must be described in a separate section. This report must be made in conformance with AICPA SAS No. 122 (AU-C Section 265), Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit, and the standards for reporting in Chapter 6 of Government Auditing Standards. Other matters related to internal control should be communicated to the Accountable Entity or foreign organization in a separate management letter that should be referred to in the report on internal control and sent with the audit report.
- e) The Report on Internal Control and Compliance also includes the auditor's report on the Accountable Entity's compliance with the Procurement Agreement and Procurement Policy Guidelines, the Fiscal Accountability Plan, and other agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations related to MCC-funded programs. The report must follow the guidance in AICPA SAS No. 122 (AU-C Section 935), Compliance Audits. Material instances of noncompliance must be described in a separate section (see Appendix V of these Audit Guidelines). Nonmaterial instances of noncompliance should be communicated to the Accountable Entity in a separate management letter that should be sent with the audit report. All questioned costs, regardless of materiality, resulting from instances of noncompliance must be included as findings in the report on compliance. Also, the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement that describe both material and immaterial questioned costs must be cross-referenced to any corresponding findings in the report on compliance.
  - e.1 The auditor's report must include all conclusions, based on evidence obtained, that fraud or an illegal act either has occurred or is likely to have occurred. This report must include identification of all questioned costs, if any, as a result of fraud or illegal acts, without regard to whether the conditions giving rise to the questioned costs have been corrected and whether the Accountable Entity does or does not agree with the findings and questioned costs.

<sup>71</sup> This step is required for audits of agreements that present cost-sharing budgets on an annual basis and for closeout audits of awards that present cost-sharing budgets on a life-of-project basis.

e.2 In reporting material fraud, illegal acts, or other noncompliance, the auditors must place their findings in proper perspective. To give the reader a basis for judging the prevalence and consequences of these conditions, the instances identified should be related to the universe or the number of cases examined and is quantified in terms of U.S. dollar value, if appropriate. In presenting material fraud, illegal acts, or other noncompliance, auditors must follow the reporting standards contained in Chapter 6 of *Government Auditing Standards*. Auditors may provide less extensive disclosure of fraud and illegal acts that are not material in either a quantitative or qualitative sense. Chapter 6 of *Government Auditing Standards* also provides guidance concerning factors that may influence auditors' materiality judgments. If the auditors conclude that sufficient evidence of fraud or illegal acts exist, they must contact the OIG and exercise due professional care in pursuing indications of possible fraud and illegal acts so as not to interfere with potential future investigations or legal proceedings.

### **FINDINGS**

- 7.5 The findings contained in the reports on internal control and compliance related to MCC-funded programs must include a description of the condition (what is) and criteria (what should be). The cause (why it happened) and effect (what harm was caused by not complying with the criteria) must be included in the findings. In addition, the findings must contain a recommendation that corrects the cause and the condition, as applicable. It is recognized that material internal control weaknesses and noncompliance found by the auditors might not always have all of these elements fully developed, given the scope and objectives of the specific audit. The auditors must, however, at least identify the condition, criteria, and possible effect to enable management to determine the effect and cause. This will help management take timely and proper corrective action.
- **7.6** Findings that involve monetary effect must:
  - Be quantified and included as questioned costs in the Fund Accountability Statement, the Auditor's Report on Compliance, and Cost-Sharing Schedule (cross-referenced), if applicable
  - Be reported without regard to whether the conditions giving rise to them were corrected
  - Be reported whether the Accountable Entity does or does not agree with the findings or questioned costs
  - Contain enough relevant information to expedite the audit resolution process (e.g., number of items tested, size of the universe, error rate, corresponding U.S. dollar amounts).
- 7.7 The reports must also contain, after each recommendation, pertinent views of responsible Accountable Entity officials concerning the auditor's findings and actions taken by the Accountable Entity to implement the recommendations. If possible, the auditor should obtain written comments. When the auditors disagree with management comments opposing the findings, conclusions, or recommendations, they must explain their reasons following the comments. Conversely, the auditors should modify their report if they find the comments to be valid.
- 7.8 Any evidence of fraud or illegal acts that have occurred or are likely to have occurred must be included in a separate written report, if deemed necessary by MCC. This report must include an identification of all questioned costs as a result of fraud or illegal acts, without regard to whether the conditions

giving rise to the questioned costs have been corrected or whether the Accountable Entity or foreign organization does or does not agree with the findings and questioned costs.

### REPEAT FINDINGS

Repeat audit findings generally occur when corrective actions either were not effectively implemented or failed to address the root cause of the problem. The Accountable Entity or foreign organizations must ensure that corrective actions taken to close an audit recommendation directly address the root cause of the finding cited. The auditor must state that the finding has been repeated and depending on the severity of the repeated finding, the auditor must determine whether the reported deficiency increase the likelihood of misstatement and may need to increase the level of the reported deficiency. (See **Appendix VIII**)

### MANAGEMENT LETTER

- 7.9 Other internal control deficiencies identified during the audit that are not considered severe enough to be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses need not be communicated in writing. If auditors determine the deficiencies are important enough to merit management's attention, they may choose to orally communicate them. Unlike material weaknesses and significant deficiencies, once the other internal control deficiencies are communicated to management, auditors are not required to repeat them, even if the deficiencies have not been remediated.
- 7.10 Auditors may choose to include the other internal control deficiencies in written communication for various reasons. It can be a way to ensure that all appropriate parties are aware of a deficiency and have the opportunity to address it. Written communication also serves as a reference document for management in its ongoing evaluation of its internal controls. MCC may request associated working papers and documentation. See **Appendix X** for a listing of requested supplemental documentation the auditors should provide.
- 7.11 Other internal control deficiencies, including failure to consistently maintain proper supporting documentation for expenses, may become significant deficiencies if not corrected by management. This depends, in part, on the pervasiveness of the deficiency. Auditors may include such other internal control deficiencies in their annual written communications to prompt continued monitoring by management or those charged with governance.
- 7.12 During the course of an audit, the auditors might also identify other matters that are not considered deficiencies in internal control but are opportunities for strengthening procedures and/or operating deficiencies. There is no requirement for the auditors to communicate other matters in writing, although this is sometimes done as a value-added service to the organization.
- 7.13 It is important to note that auditors' consideration of internal control over financial statement reporting is not conducted for the purpose of identifying all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies or for the purpose of expressing an opinion on your internal controls. Material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified during the audit and auditors are required to disclose this in their written communication.

### **APPENDIX I**

### ILLUSTRATIVE ENGAGEMENT LETTER

The following is an illustration of an engagement letter that will satisfy the requirements of these *Audit Guidelines*. For additional guidance, the auditors should refer to the applicable American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS).

TO COMPLY WITH THESE AUDIT GUIDELINES, THE FORMAT AND CONTENT OF THE ENGAGEMENT LETTER SHOULD CLOSELY FOLLOW THE FOLLOWING ILLUSTRATIVE LETTER.

[Auditor letterhead]
[Date]

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

Dear [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]:

[Name of auditor] will audit the Fund Accountability Statement(s) (FAS) of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and related notes to the FAS for the period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX]. We confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this audit engagement by means of this letter. The objectives and scope of our audit are as follows:

- 1) Express an opinion on whether [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s FAS for the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) funded programs presents fairly, in all material respects, revenues received, costs incurred, and assets and technical assistance directly procured by MCC for the period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], in conformity with the terms of the agreements and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) or other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis).
- 2) Report any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting (ICOFR) that come to our attention as a result of the audit.
- 3) Report on the results of our tests of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s compliance with the agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations related to MCC-funded programs.
- 4) If applicable, provide a limited assurance to determine whether the cost-sharing contributions were provided and accounted for by the [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in accordance with the terms of the agreements.
- 5) Determine if the [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] has taken adequate corrective action on prior audit report recommendations.

Upon completion of our audit, we will issue a written report consistent with these objectives. We cannot provide assurance that an unmodified opinion on the financial statements will be expressed. Circumstances may arise in which it is necessary for us to modify our opinions or add emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraphs.

The purpose of our report on internal control and compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements solely will be to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, as well as the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of ICOFR or compliance with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and

grant agreements. Accordingly, our report on internal control and compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements will not be suitable for any other purpose.

### Management's Responsibilities

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s management acknowledges and understands that it has responsibility for the following:

- 1) The preparation and fair presentation of the [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s FAS in accordance with GAAP or another comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis);
- 2) Maintaining effective ICOFR. This includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of FAS(s) that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
- 3) Complying with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization];
- 4) Preparing, measuring, and presenting any cost-sharing contributions, if applicable, in accordance with the terms of the applicable agreements;
- 5) Designing, implementing, and maintaining internal controls to prevent and detect fraud. This includes providing management's written representation that it has disclosed to the auditor the results of its assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud; and
- 6) Maintaining adequate accounting records, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies, and safeguarding the entity's assets related to [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] operations.

In addition, [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s management acknowledges and understands that it has the responsibility to provide us with the following:

- 1) Access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the FAS, including records, documentation, and other matters;
- 2) Additional information that we may request from management for the purpose of the audit; and
- 3) Unrestricted access to persons within [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] from whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s management agrees to communicate to us the following:

- 1) The discovery of any material misstatement that would affect the fair presentation of its current fiscal year (FY) or calendar year (CY) [20XX] or prior FY/CY's financial statements;
- 2) All deficiencies in the design or operation of ICOFR as of **[FY- end date]**, including separately identifying any deficiencies management believes to be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses;
- 3) A description of a) any fraud that did, or suspected fraud that could, result in a material misstatement to the financial statements and b) any other fraud that did not, or suspected fraud that would not, result in a material misstatement to the [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s financial statements, but involves senior management, management, or other employees who have a significant role in the [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control;
- 4) Any events occurring or facts discovered subsequent to the date of the financial statements, of which management may become aware, that may affect the financial statements;
- 5) Whether, subsequent to the date being reported on, there were any changes in internal control or other factors that might significantly affect internal control, including any corrective actions taken by management with regard to material weaknesses and significant deficiencies;
- 6) Agree to correct any material misstatements/state that uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate; and
- 7) Establish and maintain a tracker for the status of audit findings/recommendations and implemented Corrective Action Plans (CAP).

As part of our audit process, we will require from [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s management written confirmation concerning representations made to us in connection with the audit of the financial statements, including ICOFR; compliance with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements; and other related matters.

### Definition and Limitations of ICOFR

An entity's ICOFR is a process enacted by those charged with governance, management, and other personnel, the objectives of which are to provide reasonable assurance that 1) transactions are properly recorded, processed, and summarized to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP or other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis), and assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition; and 2) transactions are executed in accordance with provisions of applicable laws, including those governing the use of budget authority, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, ICOFR may not prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements due to fraud or error. We also caution that projecting any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods is subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

### Auditor's Responsibilities

We are responsible for conducting our audit in accordance with U.S. generally accepted government auditing standards (GAGAS), issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit of the financial statements conducted in accordance with U.S. GAGAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

We are required to be independent of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits.

In performing an audit of the financial statements and an audit of ICOFR in accordance with GAGAS, we will do the following:

- 1) Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audits.
- 2) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements in order to obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
- 3) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the financial statement audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.
- 4) Obtain an understanding of ICOFR relevant to the audit of internal control over financial reporting, assess the risks that a material weakness exists, and test and evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of ICOFR based on the assessed risk. We will limit our internal control testing to testing controls over financial reporting. Our internal control testing will be for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether effective ICOFR was maintained, in all material respects, as of [audit period end date]. Consequently, our audit may not identify all deficiencies in ICOFR that are less severe than a material weakness.

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

- 5) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- 6) Perform other procedures we consider necessary in the circumstances.
- 7) Conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, an unavoidable risk exists that some material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with GAGAS.

We will communicate all deficiencies in internal control of which we become aware. We are responsible for communicating in writing to those charged with governance any significant deficiencies and material weak-nesses in internal control that come to our attention as a result of the audit. If we identify deficiencies in **[name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]**'s internal control that we do not consider to be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, we will communicate these matters in writing to management and, where appropriate, will report on them separately.

In accordance with GAGAS, we are responsible for testing compliance with selected provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] that have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts in [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s Fund Accountability Statements and performing certain other limited procedures as part of our audit. We will not test compliance with all laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]. We caution that noncompliance may occur and not be detected by these tests.

### **Audit Coordination and Other Matters**

To use audit resources efficiently and expedite audit completion, we will work with [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] staff to obtain information needed for the audit. Assistance needed from [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] staff may include preparing schedules or analyses; locating, copying, and providing selected documents; and participating in meetings. We will need draft Fund Accountability Statements, including all information relevant to their preparation and fair presentation, whether obtained from within or outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers (including all information relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of note disclosures), and any other information to be included in the document containing our auditor's report in sufficient time for us to complete our audit in accordance with the proposed timetable. We will discuss this assistance with [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] staff and arrive at mutually acceptable time frames.

We will conduct an entrance conference with [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] staff on [or by] [date]. We plan to issue our report on a mutually agreed-upon date. [Insert any additional details

**as appropriate regarding report timing.]** We will also provide periodic status reports on our work upon your request. If we encounter problems that will affect the reporting date, we will discuss them with you in a timely manner. We look forward to working with *[name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]* and appreciate its cooperation in working with us to complete the audit in a timely manner.

This assignment will be conducted under my direction, with assistance from [name and title of manager], who can be reached at [phone number] or by e-mail at [e-mail], and [name and title of site auditor], who can be reached at [phone number] or by e-mail at [e-mail].

The attached acknowledgment page should be signed by management and returned to us to indicate your acknowledgment of, and agreement with, the terms and arrangements of our audit of the financial statements and to indicate management's acknowledgment and understanding of our respective responsibilities.

Should this letter not represent your understanding of the nature of this engagement, or should you have any questions or need further information, please contact me at **[phone number]** or by e-mail at **[e-mail]**.

We look forward to a successful engagement.		
Sincerely yours,		
Signature	Date	
[Auditor's name and title]		
Management's Acknowledgment of the Aud	it Engagement Tern	18
On behalf of [name of Accountable Entity or for and agree to the terms and arrangements describe foreign experientianly foreign experientianly foreign experients in a second control of the control of t	ed above for the audit	of [name of Accountable Entity or
<b>foreign organization</b> ]'s financial statements, inc and related reporting on 1) the financial statement contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [na	nts; 2) ICOFR; and 3) of	compliance with laws, regulations,
Signature	Date	
[CEO or equivalent's name and title]		
Signature	Date	

[NOTE: REQUIRED TO BE SIGNED BY MANAGEMENT. SIGNERS SHOULD GENERALLY BE THE SAME OFFICIALS WHOM THE AUDITOR WILL REQUEST SIGN THE MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER. MAY INCLUDE ADDITIONAL PARTIES INVOLVED WITH CONTRACTING FOR THE AUDIT.]

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

### **APPENDIX II**

### ILLUSTRATIVE MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER

The following illustrations of management representation letters will provide useful example of a management representation letter that will satisfy the requirements of these *Audit Guidelines*. For additional guidance, the auditors should refer to the applicable American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS).

TO COMPLY WITH THESE AUDIT GUIDELINES, THE FORMAT AND CONTENT OF THE MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER SHOULD CLOSELY FOLLOW THE FOLLOWING ILLUSTRATIVE LETTER.

Illustrative Management Representation Letter (For the Consolidated Fund Accountability Statement)

[Date of Auditor's Report and Completion of the Audit]<sup>72</sup>
[Name and Title of Audit Organization Head]
[Address of Audit Organization]

### Dear [Name of Audit Organization Head]:

We are providing this letter in connection with your audit of the Fund Accountability Statement(s) of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX] and the related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement(s) (hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements").

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting information that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement.

We confirm, as of [date of auditor's report], the following representations made to you during your audit(s):

- 1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter, dated [insert date of engagement letter], for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) or other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis). The financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with GAAP or other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis). [If there are departures from the basis of accounting, this statement should be modified to disclose all known instances of departure]
- Significant assumptions that we used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.
- 3) We have provided you with all relevant information and access, as agreed upon in the terms of the audit engagement letter, including the following:
  - a) Access to all information that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements (e.g., records, documentation, other matters)
  - b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit, including, but not limited to: Minutes of meetings or summaries of actions of recent meetings for

<sup>72</sup> This date should be the date that the client presents and signs the letter. In no event should the letter be presented and signed prior to the date of the accountant's review report.

which minutes have not been prepared of the [Board of Directors, Stockholders, directors, or other similar bodies of those charged with governance]

- i) Unrestricted access to and full cooperation of personnel within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence.
- 4) Except as disclosed to you in writing, there have been none of the following:
  - a) Circumstances that have resulted in communications from [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s legal counsel reporting evidence of a material violation of law or breach of fiduciary duty or similar violations by [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] of any agent thereof
  - b) Communications from MCC, USAID OIG, governmental representatives, employees, or others concerning investigations or allegations of noncompliance with laws or regulations; deficiencies in financial reporting practices; or other matters that could have a material adverse effect on the financial statements.
- 5) All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements
- 6) There are no uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements, as we have corrected the financial statements for any misstatements that you have identified during the audit and communicated to us OR [The effects of uncorrected financial statement misstatements in the attached summary are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole].
- 7) We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the recognition, measurement, presentation, disclosure, or classification of assets and liabilities.
- 8) We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements **OR** [We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements].
- 9) All events or transactions subsequent to [Month XX, 20XX] [or date of latest audited financial statements] and for which GAAP or other comprehensive basis of accounting (including the cash receipts and disbursements basis and modifications of the cash basis) requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed in the financial statements.
- 10) We have properly recorded or disclosed in the financial statements changes in the accounting principle that affect the consistency of the financial statements between the periods presented **OR** [There are no changes in accounting principle that affect the consistency of the financial statements between the periods presented].

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

### Internal Control

- 11) We acknowledge and fulfilled our responsibility for maintaining effective internal control over the programs, including the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
- 12) We acknowledge and fulfilled our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control to prevent and detect fraud within the programs.
- 13) We have [no knowledge of any] OR [disclosed to you all information that we are aware of regarding] fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving 1) management or employees who have significant roles in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (ICOFR) or 2) others when the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. [If there is knowledge of any instances, including those that do not result in a material misstatement to the financial statements, describe them]
- 14) We have [no knowledge of any] OR [disclosed to you all information that we are aware of regarding] allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, or others.
- 15) We have disclosed to the auditor the identity of all the entity's related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions of which it is aware and appropriately accounted for and disclosed such relationships and transactions.
- 16) We have no knowledge of any officer of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] or any other person acting under the direction thereof, having taken any action to fraudulently influence, coerce, manipulate, or mislead you during your audit.
- 17) We agree with the findings of specialists in evaluating the [assertion/area] and have adequately considered the qualifications of the specialist in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the financial statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any instructions to be given to specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an effect on the independence or objectivity of the specialists. [Use this language, only if applicable.]
- 18) We are responsible for complying with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization].
- 19) There are no instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements OR [We have disclosed to you all instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws, regulations,

contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements].

[Signed by Accountable Entity or foreign organization head] [Signed by Chief Financial Officer] Enclosure(s) Illustrative Management Representation Letter (For the Cost-Sharing Schedule)

[Date of Auditor's Report and Completion of the Review]<sup>73</sup> [Name and Title of Audit Organization Head] [Address of Audit Organization]

### Dear [Name of Audit Organization Head]:

We are providing this letter in connection with your review of the Cost-Sharing Schedule of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the review period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX] and the related notes to the Cost-Sharing Schedule for the purpose of obtaining limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the accompanying Cost-Sharing Schedule in order for it to be in conformity with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule. We confirm that we are responsible for the fair presentation of the Cost-Sharing Schedule in accordance with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule.

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting information that in the light of surrounding circumstances makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement.

We confirm, as of [date of auditor's report], the following representations made to you during your review:

- 1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter dated **[date of engagement letter]**, for the preparation and fair presentation of the Cost-Sharing Schedule in accordance with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule.
- 2) We have provided you with all relevant information and access, as agreed upon in the terms of the audit engagement letter, including the following:
  - a) Access to all information that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the Cost-Sharing Schedule (e.g., records, documentation, and other matters)
  - b) Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the review, including, but not limited to:
    - Minutes of meetings or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not been prepared of the [Board of Directors, Stockholders, directors, or other similar bodies of those charged with governance]

<sup>73</sup> This date should be the date that the client presents and signs the letter. In no event should the letter be presented and signed prior to the date of the accountant's review report.

- c) Unrestricted access to and full cooperation of personnel within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain review evidence.
- 3) Except as disclosed to you in writing, there have been none of the following:
  - a) Circumstances that have resulted in communications from [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s legal counsel reporting evidence of a material violation of law or breach of fiduciary duty; or similar violations by [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] of any agent thereof
  - b) Communications from MCC, USAID OIG, governmental representatives, employees, or others concerning investigations or allegations of noncompliance with laws or regulations; deficiencies in financial reporting practices; or other matters that could have a material adverse effect on the financial statements.
- 4) All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the Cost-Sharing Schedule.
- 5) We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the recognition, measurement, presentation, disclosure, or classification of assets and liabilities.
- 6) We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation, claims, and assessments whose effects should be considered when preparing the Cost-Sharing Schedule **OR** [We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the Cost-Sharing Schedule].
- 7) We have properly recorded or disclosed in the Cost-Sharing Schedule changes in accounting principles- that affect the consistency of the Cost-Sharing Schedule between the periods presented **OR** [There are no changes in accounting principle that affect the consistency of the Cost-Sharing Schedule between the periods presented].

### Internal Control

- 8) We acknowledged and fulfilled our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control to prevent and detect fraud within the programs.
- 9) We have [no knowledge of any] OR [disclosed to you all information that we are aware of regarding] fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving 1) management or employees who have significant roles in preparing the Cost-Sharing Schedule or 2) others when the fraud could have a material effect on the Cost-Sharing Schedule. [If there is knowledge of any instances, including those that do not result in a material misstatement to the Cost-Sharing Schedule, describe them]

Accountable Entities Audit Policy & Guidelines for Contracted Financial Audits | September 24, 2024

- 10) We have **[no knowledge of any] OR [disclosed to you all information that we are aware of regarding]** allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Cost-Sharing Schedule communicated by employees, former employees, or others.
- 11) We have no knowledge of any officer of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] or any other person acting under the direction thereof, having taken any action to fraudulently influence, coerce, manipulate, or mislead you during your review.
- 12) We are responsible for complying with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization].
- 13) There are no instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] whose effects should be considered when preparing the Cost-Sharing Schedule OR [We have disclosed to you all instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements applicable to [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] whose effects should be considered when preparing Cost-Sharing Schedule.

[Signed by Accountable Entity or foreign organization head]
[Signed by Chief Financial Officer]
Enclosure(s)

### **APPENDIX III**

ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES OF CONSOLIDATED FUND ACCOUNTABILITY STATEMENT FOR COMPACT FUNDING - COMPACT FACILIATION FUNDING, COMPACT DEVELOPMENT FUNDING, AND THRESHOLD PROGRAM GRANT AGREEMENT FUNDING

The following illustrations of the Fund Accountability Statement will provide useful examples of the types of statements that will satisfy the requirements of these Audit Guidelines.

TO COMPLY WITH THESE AUDIT GUIDELINES, THE FORMAT AND CONTENT OF THE FUND ACCOUNTABILITY STATEMENTS SHOULD CLOSELY FOLLOW THE FOLLOWING ILLUSTRATIVE STATEMENTS.

Illustrative Fund Accountability Statement for Compact Funding/Threshold Program Funding/ Concurrent Compacts For Regional Investments Funding

## (ACCOUNTABLE ENTITY/FOREIGN ORGANIZATION) CONSOLIDATED FUND ACCOUNTABILITY STATEMENT

Month XX, 20XX to Month XX, 20XX

## **OUESTIONED COST**

	PRIOR DEPICE	CURRENT			
REVENUE	<u>rekion</u>	<u>rekiod</u>	COMOLATIVE	INELIGIBLE	
Funds from MCC					2
MCC-Managed Funds					
TOTAL REVENUE					
COSTS INCURRED					
1) Project 1					
a. Activity 1					
b. Activity 2					
2) Project 2					
a. Activity 1					
b. Activity 2					
TOTAL COSTS INCURRED					3
(Deficit)/Excess of Revenue					4
Cash Basis					
Opening Fund Balance					
(Deficit)/Excess of Revenue					
Plus: Interest Income					5
(Less: Interest Transferred)					9
Closing Fund Balance					
Modified Cash Basis					
Closing Cash Basis Fund Balance					
Plus: Receibables (Tax, Accounts,					L
etc.)/Advances					`
(Less: Payables/Accrued Expenses/					×
Rention)					o
Closing Modified Cash Basis Fund					
Balance					

# Illustrative Fund Accountability Statement - Compact Facilitation Funding (CFF) or Compact Development Funding (CDF) (ACCOUNTABLE ENTITY/ FOREIGN ORGANIZATION)

CFF/CDF STATEMENT

Month XX, 20XX to Month XX, 20XX

### **QUESTIONED COST**

	BUDGET	PERIOD	PERIOD	CUMULATIVE	INELIGIBLE	UNSUPPORTED	NOTES
REVENUE	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			_
Funds from MCC							2
MCC-Managed Funds							
TOTAL REVENUE							
COSTS INCURRED							
3) Project 1							
a. Activity 1							
b. Activity 2							
4) Project 2							
a. Activity 1							
b. Activity 2							
TOTAL COSTS INCURRED							3
(Deficit)/Excess of Revenue							4
Cash Basis							
Opening Fund Balance							
(Deficit)/Excess of Revenue							
Plus: Interest Income							5
(Less: Interest Transferred)							9
Closing Fund Balance							
Modified Cash Basis							
Closing Cash Basis Fund Balance							
Plus: Receibables (Tax, Accounts,							7
etc.)/Advances							`
(Less: Payables/Accrued Expenses/							×
Rention)							o
Closing Modified Cash Basis Fund							
Balance							

Illustrative Fund Accountability Statement - Initial Engagement Funding

### (ACCOUNTABLE ENTITY/FOREIGN ORGANIZATION) INITIAL ENGAGEMENT FUNDING STATEMENT

Month XX, 20XX to Month XX, 20XX

### **OUESTIONED COST**

		PRIOR	CURRENT				
	BUDGET	<b>PERIOD</b>	<b>PERIOD</b>	CUMULATIVE	INELIGIBLE	UNSUPPORTED	NOTES
<u>REVENUE</u>	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			1
Funds from MCC							2
MCC-Managed Funds							
TOTAL REVENUE							
COSTS INCURRED							
5) Project 1							
a. Activity 1							
b. Activity 2							
6) Project 2							
a. Activity 1							
b. Activity 2							
TOTAL COSTS INCURRED							8
(Deficit)/Excess of Revenue							4
Cash Basis							
Opening Fund Balance							
(Deficit)/Excess of Revenue							
Plus: Interest Income							5
(Less: Interest Transferred)							9
Closing Fund Balance							
Modified Cash Basis							
Closing Cash Basis Fund Balance							
Plus: Receibables (Tax, Accounts,							٢
etc.)/Advances							`

					OUESTIO	UESTIONED COST	
		PRIOR	CURRENT				
	BUDGET	PERIOD	<u>PERIOD</u>	CUMULATIVE	INELIGIBLE	UNSUPPORTED	NOTES
(Less: Payables/Accrued Expenses/							~
Rention)							0
Closing Modified Cash Basis Fund							
Balance							

### MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

### **APPENDIX IV**

### ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES OF THE COST-SHARING SCHEDULE

The following illustrations of the Cost-Sharing Schedule will provide useful examples of the types of schedules that will satisfy the requirements of these *Audit Guidelines*.

TO COMPLY WITH THESE AUDIT GUIDELINES, THE FORMAT AND CONTENT OF THE AUDIT REPORTS SHOULD CLOSELY FOLLOW THE FOLLOWING ILLUSTRATIVE REPORTS.

Illustrative Cost-Sharing Schedule for Agreements with Life-of-Project Cost-Sharing Budgets That Have Not Yet Ended and Annual Cost-Sharing Budgets

## (ACCOUNTABLE ENTITY/FOREIGN ORGANIZATION) COST-SHARING SCHEDULE<sup>24</sup>

Month XX, 20XX to Month XX, 20XX

Notes Questioned Cost75 Unsupported \$xxx Ineligible Cumulative \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx xxx\$xxx **Current Period** \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx **Prior Period** \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx Budget \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx \$xxx SXXX b. Activity 2 a. Activity 1 b. Activity 2 a. Activity 1 8) Project 2 7) Project 1 IN-KIND CASH Total

The notes to the cost-sharing schedule should briefly describe both material and immaterial questioned costs and should be cross-referenced to any corresponding findings in the report on compliance.

<sup>75</sup> All questioned cost-sharing costs will be listed here. All questioned costs, regardless of materiality, resulting from instances of noncompliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations must be included as findings in the report on compliance.

Illustrative Cost-Sharing Schedule for Close-Out Audits of Awards with Life-of-Project Cost-Sharing Budgets, and Audits of Awards with Annual Cost-Sharing Budgets

## (ACCOUNTABLE ENTITY/FOREIGN ORGANIZATION) COST-SHARING SCHEDULE<sup>26,27,28</sup>

Month XX, 20XX to Month XX, 20XX

						Questioned Cost79	
	Budget	<b>Prior Period</b>	Current Period Cumulative	Cumulative	Ineligible	Unsupported	Notes
CASH							
9) Project 1	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			1
a. Activity 1	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			
b. Activity 2	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			
10) Project 2	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			
a. Activity 1	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			
b. Activity 2	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			
IN-KIND	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx		\$xxx	2
Total	<u>\$xxx</u>	\$xxx	\$xxx	\$xxx			

For closeout audits of awards with life-of-project cost-sharing budgets, the auditors will use the life-of-project budget. For audits with annual cost-sharing budgets, the auditors will use the budget for the period under audit.

The notes to the cost-sharing schedule should briefly describe both material and immaterial questioned costs and should be cross-referenced to any corresponding findings The shortfall column will show required cost-sharing contributions that were not provided by the recipient. Since questioned costs are not considered as provided by the recipient, they might have an impact on the "shortfall" column. All material cost-sharing shortfalls must be included as findings in the report on compliance. All cost-sharing shortfalls will be briefly described in the notes to the cost-sharing schedule and be cross-referenced to any corresponding findings in the report on compliance.

All questioned cost-sharing costs will be listed here. All questioned costs, regardless of materiality, resulting from instances of noncompliance with agreement terms and applicable laws and regulations must be included as findings in the report on compliance. in the report on compliance.

### **APPENDIX V**

### ILLUSTRATIVE AUDIT REPORTS

The following illustrations of auditor's reports will provide useful examples of the types of reports that will satisfy the requirements of these Audit Guidelines. For additional guidance, the auditors should refer to the applicable American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS).

TO COMPLY WITH THESE AUDIT GUIDELINES, THE FORMAT AND CONTENT OF THE AUDIT REPORTS SHOULD CLOSELY FOLLOW THE FOLLOWING ILLUSTRATIVE REPORTS.

Illustrative Auditor's Report on a Fund Accountability Statement with an Unmodified Opinion

[Auditor letterhead]

### **Independent Auditor's Report**<sup>80</sup>

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]
[Complete Mailing Address]
Report on the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements

### **Opinion**

We have audited the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX] and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

In our opinion, the Fund Accountability Statement referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, program revenues, costs incurred and reimbursed, assets and MCC's procurement technical assistance for the **[period/year]** then ended in accordance with the terms of the agreements and in conformity with the basis of accounting described in **[Note X].** 

### Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

### Responsibilities of Management for the Fund Accountability Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or other comprehensive basis of accounting; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

<sup>80</sup> For guidance on these reports, refer to AICPA AU-C Section 700 "Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements," AU-C Section 705 "Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report," and AU-C Section 800 "Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks."

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for [insert the audit period].

### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements<sup>81</sup>

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Fund Accountability Statement, whether
  due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the Fund
  Accountability Statement.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

<sup>81</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we conducted our audit in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least [ **number**] hours of continuing education and training every [**number**] years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>82</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization, as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the [your country]. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we [include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable].

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated [Month XX, 20XX], on our consideration of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and should be read in conjunction with this Independent Auditor's Report in considering the results of our audit.

This report is intended for the information of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and MCC. However, upon release by MCC, this report is a matter of public record, and its distribution is not limited.

Illustrative Auditor's Report on a Fund Accountability Statement with a Modified Opinion Due to a Material Misstatement

(Circumstance could include the following: Inventories are misstated. The misstatement is deemed to be material but not pervasive to the financial statements.)

[Auditor letterhead]

# **Independent Auditor's Report**83

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

Report on the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements

## Qualified Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX] and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the Fund Accountability Statement referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, program revenues, costs incurred and reimbursed, assets and MCC's procurement technical assistance for the [period/year] then ended in accordance with the terms of the agreements and in conformity with the basis of accounting described in [Note X].

# Basis for Qualified Opinion (Example Below)

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] has stated inventories at cost in the accompanying balance sheets. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require inventories to be stated at the lower of cost or market. If [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] stated inventories at the lower of cost or market, a write- down of [\$XXX] and [\$XXX] would have been required as of [Month XX, 20X1] and [20X0], respectively. Accordingly, cost of sales would have been increased by [\$XXX] and [\$XXX], and net income, income taxes, and stockholders' equity would have been reduced by [\$XXX], [\$XXX], and [\$X

We conducted our audit in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements section of our report. We are required

<sup>83</sup> For guidance on these reports, refer to AICPA AU-C Section 700 "Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements," AU-C Section 705 "Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report," and AU-C Section 800 "Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks."

to be independent of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### Responsibilities of Management for the Fund Accountability Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or other comprehensive basis of accounting; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for [insert the audit period].

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements<sup>84</sup>

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Fund Accountability Statement, whether
  due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the Fund
  Accountability Statement.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

<sup>84</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control—related matters that we identified during the audit.

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we conducted our audit in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least [ number] hours of continuing education and training every [number] years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>85</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the [your country]. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we [include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable].

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated [Month XX, 20XX], on our consideration of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and should be read in conjunction with this Independent Auditor's Report in considering the results of our audit.

This report is intended for the information of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and MCC. However, upon release by MCC, this report is a matter of public record, and its distribution is not limited.

<sup>85</sup> Use this paragraph if applicable.

# MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

Illustrative Auditor's Report on a Fund Accountability Statement with an Adverse Opinion Due to a Material Misstatement

[Auditor letterhead]

# **Independent Auditor's Report**<sup>86</sup>

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

#### Report on the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements

### Adverse Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX] and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the Basis for Adverse Opinion paragraph, the Fund Accountability Statement referred to above do not present fairly the financial position of program revenues, costs incurred and reimbursed, assets and MCC's procurement technical assistance [period/year] then ended in accordance with the terms of the agreements and in conformity with the basis of accounting described in [Note X].

#### Basis for Adverse Opinion (Example Below)

As described in [Note X], the [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] has not consolidated the financial statements of subsidiary [XYZ Company] that it acquired during [20XX] because it has not yet been able to ascertain the fair values of certain of the subsidiary's material assets and liabilities at the acquisition date. This investment is, therefore, accounted for on a cost basis by the Company. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the subsidiary should have been consolidated because it is controlled by the Company. Had [XYZ Company] been consolidated, many elements in the accompanying consolidated financial statements would have been materially affected. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the failure to consolidate have not been determined.

We conducted our audit in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and to meet our other ethical

<sup>86</sup> For guidance on these reports, refer to American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) AU-C Section 700 Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, AU-C Section 705 Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report, and AU-C Section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks.

responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

#### Responsibilities of Management for the Fund Accountability Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or other comprehensive basis of accounting; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for [insert the audit period].

## Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements87

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Fund Accountability Statement, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

<sup>87</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we conducted our audit in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least **[number]** hours of continuing education and training every **[number]** years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>88</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization, as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the [your country]. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we [include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable].

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated [Month XX, 20XX], on our consideration of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and should be read in conjunction with this Independent Auditor's Report in considering the results of our audit.

This report is intended for the information of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and MCC. However, upon release by MCC, this report is a matter of public record, and its distribution is not limited.

# MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

Illustrative Auditor's Report on a Fund Accountability Statement with a Disclaimer of Opinion

(Circumstance could include the following: Restricted access to management, unable to obtain financial records for the period.)

[Auditor letterhead]

# **Independent Auditor's Report**89

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

### Report on the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statement

## Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]. Because of the significance of the matter(s) described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the Fund Accountability Statement.

#### Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Example below)

[ABC Company]'s investment in [XYZ Company], a joint venture, is carried at [\$XXX] on the Company's balance sheet, which represents over [90 percent] of the Company's net assets as of [December 31, 20X1]. We were not allowed access to the management and the auditors of [XYZ Company]. As a result, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments were necessary relating to the Company's proportional share of [XYZ Company]'s assets that it controls jointly, its proportional share of [XYZ Company]'s liabilities for which it is jointly responsible, its proportional share of [XYZ Company]'s income and expenses for the year, and the elements making up the statements of changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows.

#### Responsibilities of Management for the Fund Accountability Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or other comprehensive basis of accounting; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to

<sup>89</sup> For guidance on these reports, refer to AICPA AU-C Section 700 "Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements," AU-C Section 705 "Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report," and AU-C Section 800 "Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks."

the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for [insert the time period set by the applicable financial reporting framework].

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fund Accountability Statements90

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Fund Accountability Statement, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

<sup>90</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we conducted our audit in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least [ **number**] hours of continuing education and training every [**number**] years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>91</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the **[your country]**. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not mate- rial because we **[include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable]**.

## Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated [Month XX, 20XX], on our consideration of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and should be read in conjunction with this Independent Auditor's Report in considering the results of our audit.

This report is intended for the information of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and MCC. However, upon re- lease by MCC, this report is a matter of public record, and its distribution is not limited.

<sup>91</sup> Use this paragraph if applicable.

Illustrative Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statement Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* 

(No Material Weaknesses Identified; No Significant Deficiencies Identified; No Reportable Instances of Material Noncompliance Identified)

### [Auditor letterhead]

# Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters

# [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we have audited in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the Fund Accountability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least **[number]** hours of continuing education and training every **[number]** years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>92</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization, as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the [your country]. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we [include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable].

#### Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICOFR)

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ICOFR (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control.

<sup>92</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified

We noted certain matters involving internal control and its operation that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX].<sup>93</sup>

#### Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*<sup>94</sup>.

We noted certain immaterial instances of noncompliance that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX]. 95

# Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

# [Audit firm's signature] [Auditor's city and country]

<sup>93</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to internal controls.

<sup>94</sup> See the discussion beginning at paragraph 6.39 of *Government Auditing Standards* for information regarding criteria for fraud, abuse, and noncompliance with provisions of law, grants, contracts, and grant agreements.

<sup>95</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to instances of immaterial noncompliance.

[Date of the auditor's report]96

<sup>96</sup> Because this report relates to an engagement to audit the Fund Accountability Statement and is based on the GAAS audit procedures performed, it is subject to the provisions of AU-C Section 700. Therefore, it should be dated the same date as the auditor's report on the financial statements, which, according to paragraph .43 of AU-C Section 700, is "no earlier than the date on which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the auditor's opinion on the financial statements."

Illustrative Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statement Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* 

(No Material Weaknesses Identified; Significant Deficiencies Identified; Reportable Instances of Material Noncompliance or Other Matters Identified)

### [Auditor letterhead]

# Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters

# [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we have audited in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the Fund Accountability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least **[number]** hours of continuing education and training every **[number]** years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>97</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization, as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the **[your country]**. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we **[include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable]**.

#### Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICOFR)

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ICOFR (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control.

<sup>97</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items that we considered to be significant deficiencies.

We noted certain matters involving internal control and its operation that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX]. 98

#### Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*<sup>99</sup> and which are described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items.

We noted certain immaterial instances of noncompliance that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX]. 100

#### [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s Response to Findings

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs. [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.<sup>101</sup>

<sup>98</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to internal controls.

<sup>99</sup> See the discussion beginning at paragraph 6.39 of *Government Auditing Standards* for information regarding criteria for fraud, abuse, and noncompliance with provisions of law, grants, contracts, and grant agreements.

<sup>100</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to instances of immaterial noncompliance.

<sup>101</sup> See paragraph 6.57 of Government Auditing Standards.

# Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

<sup>102</sup> Because this report relates to an engagement to audit the Fund Accountability Statement and is based on the GAAS audit procedures performed, it is subject to the provisions of AU-C Section 700. Therefore, it should be dated the same date as the auditor's report on the financial statements, which according to paragraph .43 of AU-C Section 700, is "no earlier than the date on which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the auditor's opinion on the financial statements."

Illustrative Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statement Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* 

(Material Weaknesses Identified; No Significant Deficiencies Identified; Reportable Instances of Material Noncompliance or Other Matters Identified)

### [Auditor letterhead]

# Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters

# [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we have audited in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the Fund Accountability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least **[number]** hours of continuing education and training every **[number]** years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>103</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization, as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the **[your country]**. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we **[include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable]**.

#### Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICOFR)

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ICOFR (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control.

<sup>103</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items that we considered to be material weaknesses.

We noted certain matters involving internal control and its operation that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX].<sup>104</sup>

#### Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*<sup>105</sup> and which are described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items.

We noted certain immaterial instances of noncompliance that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX]. 106

#### [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s Response to Findings

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs. [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.<sup>107</sup>

<sup>104</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to internal controls.

<sup>105</sup> See the discussion beginning at paragraph 6.45-6.49 of *Government Auditing Standards* for information regarding criteria for fraud, abuse, and noncompliance with provisions of law, grants, contracts, and grant agreements.

<sup>106</sup> See paragraph 6.57 of Government Auditing Standards.

<sup>107</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to instances of immaterial noncompliance.

### Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

<sup>108</sup> Because this report relates to an engagement to audit the Fund Accountability Statement and is based on the GAAS audit procedures performed, it is subject to the provisions of AU-C Section 700. Therefore, it should be dated the same date as the auditor's report on the financial statements, which, according to paragraph .43 of AU-C Section 700, is "no earlier than the date on which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the auditor's opinion on the financial statements."

Illustrative Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statement Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* 

(Material Weaknesses and Significant Deficiencies Identified; Reportable Instances of Material Noncompliance or Other Matters Identified)

### [Auditor letterhead]

# Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters

# [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization [Complete Mailing Address]

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we have audited in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the Fund Account ability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least **[number]** hours of continuing education and training every **[number]** years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>109</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization, as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the [your country]. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we [include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable].

#### Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICOFR)

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ICOFR (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control.

<sup>109</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs, we did identify certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses and/or significant deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We considered the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items to be material weaknesses.

A significant deficiency is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We considered the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items to be significant deficiencies.

We noted certain matters involving internal control and its operation that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX].<sup>110</sup>

#### Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*<sup>111</sup> and which are described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items.

We noted certain immaterial instances of noncompliance that we have reported to the management of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] in a separate letter dated [Month XX, 20XX]. 112

<sup>110</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to internal controls.

<sup>111</sup> See the discussion beginning at paragraph 6.45-6.49 for information regarding *Government Auditing Standards* criteria for fraud, abuse, and noncompliance with provisions of law, grants, contracts, and grant agreements.

<sup>112</sup> Exclude this paragraph if there is no management letter of control deficiency(ies) related to instances of immaterial noncompliance.

### [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s Response to Findings

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs. [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.<sup>113</sup>

## Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

<sup>113</sup> See paragraph 6.57 of Government Auditing Standards.

<sup>114</sup> Because this report relates to an engagement to audit the Fund Accountability Statement and is based on the GAAS audit procedures performed, it is subject to the provisions of AU-C Section 700. Therefore, it should be dated the same date as the auditor's report on the financial statements, which, according to paragraph .43 of AU-C Section 700, is "no earlier than the date on which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the auditor's opinion on the financial statements."

Illustrative Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statement Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* 

(Disclaimer – Circumstance could include the following: Restricted access to management, unable to obtain financial records for the period.)

### [Auditor letterhead]

# Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters

# [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

Except as discussed in the following paragraph(s), we were engaged to audit, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the Fund Account- ability Statement of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the audit period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], and have issued our report on it dated [Month XX, 20XX]. Our report disclaims an opinion on the Fund Accountability Statement because we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion. We also reviewed the separate Cost-Sharing Schedule (if applicable).

We do not have a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement set forth in Chapter 4, paragraph 4.16 of *Government Auditing Standards*. However, our current program provides for at least [ **number**] hours of continuing education and training every [**number**] years. We are taking appropriate steps to implement a continuing education program that fully satisfies the requirement.<sup>115</sup>

We did not have an external quality control review (QCR) by an unaffiliated audit organization as required in Chapter 5, paragraph 5.60 of *Government Auditing Standards*, since no such program is offered by professional organizations in the [your country]. We believe that the effect of this departure from *Government Auditing Standards* is not material because we [include a statement to describe the firm's internal QCR program, if applicable].

### Internal Control over Financial Reporting (ICOFR)

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s ICOFR (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s internal control.

<sup>115</sup> The lack of a satisfactory continuing education program and/or external QCR program must be disclosed in the auditor responsibility paragraph of the report and additional explanatory paragraphs.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs, we did identify certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses and/or significant deficiencies.

A *deficiency* in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We considered the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items to be material weaknesses.

A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We considered the deficiencies described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items to be significant deficiencies.

#### Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*<sup>116</sup> and which are described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs as items.

#### [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s Response to Findings

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of audit findings and questioned costs. [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]'s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.<sup>117</sup>

<sup>116</sup> See the discussion beginning at paragraph 6.45-6.49 for information regarding *Government Auditing Standards* criteria for fraud, abuse, and noncompliance with provisions of law, grants, contracts, and grant agreements.

<sup>117</sup> See paragraph 6.57 of Government Auditing Standards.

## Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

[Audit firm's signature]
[Auditor's location]
[Date of the auditor's report]<sup>118</sup>

<sup>118</sup> Because this report relates to an engagement to audit the Fund Accountability Statement and is based on the GAAS audit procedures performed, it is subject to the provisions of AU-C Section 700. Therefore, it should be dated the same date as the auditor's report on the financial statements, which, according to paragraph .43 of AU-C Section 700, is "no earlier than the date on which the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the auditor's opinion on the financial statements."

## **APPENDIX VI**

ILLUSTRATIVE ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON THE COST-SHARING SCHEDULE FOR AGREEMENTS WITH LIFE-OF-PROJECT COST-SHARING BUDGETS AND ANNUAL COST-SHARING BUDGETS

(No Significant Deficiencies Identified)

[Auditor letterhead]

## **Independent Accountant's Review Report on the Cost-Sharing Schedule**

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

We have reviewed the accompanying Cost-Sharing Schedule of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the period from [Month XX 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX]. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to financial data and making inquiries of Accountable Entity personnel. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion on the Cost-Sharing Schedule. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Cost-Sharing Schedule in accordance with the basis of accounting described in [Note X] to the Cost-Sharing Schedule and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control related to the provision of and accounting for cost-sharing contributions.

Our responsibility is to conduct the review in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the Cost-Sharing Schedule. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our report.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompany-accompanying Cost-Sharing Schedule in order for it to be in conformity with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule.

This report is intended for the information of **[name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]** and the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC). However, upon release by MCC, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

Illustrative Accountant's Report on the Cost-Sharing Schedule for Agreements with Lifeof-Project Cost-Sharing Budgets and Annual Cost-Sharing Budgets

(Questioned Cost Identified)

## [Auditor letterhead]

#### Independent Accountant's Review Report on the Cost-Sharing Schedule

[Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

We have reviewed the accompanying Cost-Sharing Schedule of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] for the period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX]. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to financial data and making inquiries of Accountable Entity personnel. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion on the Cost-Sharing Schedule. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Cost-Sharing Schedule in accordance with the basis of accounting described in [Note X] to the Cost-Sharing Schedule and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control related to the provision of and accounting for cost-sharing contributions.

Our responsibility is to conduct the review in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the Cost-Sharing Schedule. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our report.

Based on our review, with the exception of the matter(s) described in the following paragraph(s), we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying Cost-Sharing Schedule in order for it to be in conformity with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule.

The results of our review disclosed the following questioned costs, as detailed in the Cost-Sharing Schedule:

- 14) [\$XXX] in ineligible costs which were not fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule.
- 15) [\$XXX] in unsupported costs which were not fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity to prepare the Cost-Sharing Schedule.

(Include paragraphs summarizing the internal control and compliance findings related to the Cost-Sharing Schedule, with references to the findings in the reports on internal control and compliance, as applicable, as well as the notes to the Cost-Sharing Schedule.)<sup>119</sup>

This report is intended for the information of **[name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]** and the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC). However, upon release by MCC, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

<sup>119</sup> The two paragraphs are illustrative only and can be modified or excluded based on the type of findings contained in the report.

Illustrative Accountant's Closeout Review Report on the Fund Accountability Statement (No Significant Deficiencies Identified)

### [Auditor letterhead]

# Independent Accountant's Review Report on the Fund Accountability Statement

# [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

We have reviewed the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement for the period from [Month XX 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX]. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to financial data and making inquiries of Accountable Entity personnel. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

# Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement in accordance with the basis of accounting described in [Note X] to the Fund Accountability Statement and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Accountant's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to conduct the review in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the Fund Accountability Statement for it to be in conformity with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Fund Accountability Statement. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our conclusion.

#### Accountant's Conclusion

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement in order for it to be in conformity with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Fund Accountability Statement.

#### **Other Matter**

For the prior financial reporting period covering [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], we performed an audit over the Fund Accountability Statement and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement.

Based on our audit, we issued a report dated [Month XX, 20XX] with a [Opinion Type]. [If the opinion had to be modified, provide further explanation with the substantive reasons for the modification of the opinion]. No further audit procedures were performed after [prior period audit report date].

This report is intended for the information of **[name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]** and the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC). However, upon release by MCC, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

Illustrative Accountant's Closeout Review Report on the Fund Accountability Statement (Questioned Costs or Findings Identified)

#### [Auditor letterhead]

# Independent Accountant's Review Report on the Fund Accountability Statement

# [Name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] [Complete Mailing Address]

We have reviewed the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement of [name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization] and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement for the period from [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX]. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to financial data and making inquiries of Accountable Entity personnel. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

#### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement in accordance with the basis of accounting described in [Note X] to the Fund Accountability Statement and for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the Fund Accountability Statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

#### Accountant's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to conduct the review in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the Fund Accountability Statement for it to be in conformity with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Fund Accountability Statement. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our conclusion.

#### Accountant's Conclusion

Based on our review, with the exception of the matter(s) described in the following paragraph(s), we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying Fund Accountability Statement in order for it to be in conformity with the basis of accounting used to prepare the Fund Accountability Statement.

The results of our review disclosed the following questioned costs, as detailed in the Fund Accountability Statement:

- 1) [\$XXX] in ineligible costs which were not fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity to prepare the Fund Accountability Statement.
- 2) [\$XXX] in unsupported costs which were not fairly presented in accordance with the basis of accounting used by the Accountable Entity to prepare the Fund Accountability Statement.

(Include paragraphs summarizing the internal control and compliance findings related to the Fund Accountability Statement, with references to the findings in the reports on internal control and compliance, as applicable, as well as the notes to the Fund Accountability Statement.)<sup>120</sup>

#### Other Matter

For the prior financial reporting period covering [Month XX, 20XX] to [Month XX, 20XX], we performed an audit over the Fund Accountability Statement and related notes to the Fund Accountability Statement. Based on our audit, we issued a report dated [Month XX, 20XX] with a [Opinion Type]. [If the opinion had to be modified, provide further explanation with the substantive reasons for the modification of the opinion]. No further audit procedures were performed after [prior period audit report date].

This report is intended for the information of **[name of Accountable Entity or foreign organization]** and the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC). However, upon release by MCC, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

<sup>120</sup> The two paragraphs are illustrative only and can be modified or excluded based on the type of findings contained in the report.

MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

#### APPENDIX VII

# ILLUSTRATIVE OUTLINE OF AN AUDITOR'S STATEMENT OF WORK

#### I. BACKGROUND

This section must contain a brief description of the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) program objectives, implementing agencies, and their responsibilities in the MCC programs, amount, type, and purpose of MCC and other program contributions, duration of the program, and other significant requirements.

# II. TITLE

This section must contain the title and number of the MCC programs.

# III. OBJECTIVES

This section must state that this is a financial audit of the MCC-funded programs and the period covered. It should also contain the requirements from Chapter 5 of these *Audit Guidelines*.

# IV. AUDIT SCOPE

This section must include the requirements of Chapter 6 of these *Audit Guidelines*. In addition, the cognizant Accountable Entity or foreign organization may expand the scope of the audit to include additional requirements to address special concerns it may have.

#### V. REPORTS

This section must include the requirements of Chapter 7 of these *Audit Guidelines*.

# VI. INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE OF AUDIT WORK AND REPORTS

This section will discuss the responsibilities of MCC and the Office of Inspector General (OIG) in the inspection and acceptance of the audit work and reports.

# VII. RELATIONSHIPS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

This section should establish the relationships and responsibilities between the independent auditor, the Accountable Entity or foreign organization, MCC, and the OIG.

#### VIII. TERMS OF PERFORMANCE

This section requires timely completion and issuance of all audit deliverables (audit planning document, draft audit report, and final audit report) after the end of each audit engagement. MCC must receive the draft audit report no later than 120 days after the first anniversary of Entry into Force and no later than 120 days after the end of each audited period thereafter. This section must also describe how payments to the independent auditor are to be made. The final payment cannot be made until after MCC approves the final audit report.

# MILLENNIUM CHALLENGE CORPORATION

# **APPENDIX VIII**

#### ILLUSTRATIVE SCHEDULE OF AUDIT FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

# NAME OF ACCOUNTABLE ENTITY SCHEDULE OF AUDIT FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS For the Period from Month Day, Year to Month Day, Year

# Section I – Summary of Auditor's Results

Fund Accountability Statement:					
Type of report the auditor issued on whether the Fund Accountability Statement was prepared in accordance					
with GAAP or other (unmodified, qualifie	ed, adverse, or disclaimer)				
Internal control over financial reporting	Internal control over financial reporting:				
Material weakness(es) identified	yes	no			
Significant deficiency(ies) identifiedyes		no			
Compliance:					
Noncompliance material to financial	yes	no			
statements noted?					

Section II – Schedule of Audit Findings

INTERNAL CONTROL Title (Repeated, if applicable)<sup>121</sup>

# **Condition**

(A description of the condition. Specifically, what the auditor observes through physical observation, scheduling, analysis, testing, or other techniques. Generally, findings include conditions that result from internal accounting or administrative control weaknesses, instances of noncompliance with or without questioned costs, or potential errors, irregularities, or illegal acts.)

# **Criteria**

(A description of the criteria—law, regulation, and/or compact clause—is used to describe "what should be," or the required or established method(s). Criteria may vary according to audit objectives and the type of engagement being performed. Written requirements (e.g., laws, regulations, contracts, procedures, manuals and directives, and good business practice) may be used as criteria on all types of engagements. Ordinarily, the most suitable criteria for financial audits are Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and standards. Types of criteria common for performance audits are technically developed standards or norms, expert opinions, performance of similar entities, and prior years' performance.)

<sup>121</sup> Include, if applicable.

# **Cause**

(Cause explains "why did it happen" and forms the basis for making constructive recommendations to achieve corrective action. When the auditor and management know why something happened, they can more readily determine what action is needed to prevent its recurrence.)

# **Effect**

(A description of the effect; what harm was caused by not complying? Effect represents the actual or potential impact and can be either beneficial or undesirable. Efficiency, economy, and effectiveness are useful measures of effect and frequently can be stated in quantitative terms, including dollars, time, number of procedures and processes, or transactions. Where actual effects cannot be ascertained, potential effects may be presented.)

#### Recommendation

(State the auditor's recommendation to correct the condition. The recommendation should take into consideration the cited cause that brought about the condition. Recommendations describe "what should be done." The auditor should report recommendations for actions to correct problem areas, improve operations and effect compliance with laws and regulations. Recommendations are most constructive when they are directed at resolving the cause of identified problems, are action- oriented and specific, are addressed to parties that have the authority to act, are feasible, and, to the extent practical, are cost effective. If the recommended action is one the auditor believes should be acted on promptly, the consequences of delay should be clearly stated.)

#### **Management's Comments**

Management must state whether it concurs or disagrees. If management disagrees with the finding, management must provide an explanation.)

# **Auditor's Response**

(Auditor's response to management's comments. Please note that the auditor's responses are required for disagreements but are optional for agreements.)

#### **COMPLIANCE**

Title (Repeated, if applicable)

#### **Condition**

(A description of the condition. Specifically, what the auditor observes through physical observation, scheduling, analysis, testing, or other techniques. Generally, findings include conditions that result from internal accounting or administrative control weaknesses, instances of noncompliance with or without questioned costs, or potential errors, irregularities, or illegal acts.)

#### Criteria

(A description of the criteria—law, regulation, and/or compact clause—is used to describe "what should be," or the required or established method(s). Criteria may vary according to audit objectives and the type of engagement being performed. Written requirements, including laws, regulations, contracts, procedures, manuals and directives, and good business practice, may be used as criteria on all types of engagements. Ordinarily, the most suitable criteria for financial audits are GAAP and standards. Types of criteria common for performance audits are technically developed standards or norms, expert opinions, performance of similar entities, and prior years' performance.)

# **Cause**

(Cause explains "why did it happen" and forms the basis for making constructive recommendations to achieve corrective action. When the auditor and management know why something happened, they can more readily determine what action is needed to prevent its recurrence.)

#### **Effect**

(A description of the effect; what harm was caused by not complying? Effect represents the actual or potential impact and can be either beneficial or undesirable. Efficiency, economy, and effectiveness are useful measures of effect and frequently can be stated in quantitative terms, including dollars, time, number of procedures and processes, or transactions. Where actual effects cannot be ascertained, potential effects may be presented.)

#### Recommendation

(State the auditor's recommendation to correct the condition. The recommendation should take into consideration the cited cause that brought about the condition. Recommendations describe "what should be done." The auditor should report recommendations for actions to correct problem areas, improve operations, and effect compliance with laws and regulations. Recommendations are most constructive when they are directed at resolving the cause of identified problems, are action- oriented and specific, are addressed to parties that have the authority to act, are feasible, and, to the extent practical, are cost effective. If the recommended action is one the auditor believes should be acted on promptly, the consequences of delay should be clearly stated.)

#### **Management's Comments**

(Management must state whether it concurs or disagrees. If management disagrees with the finding, management must provide an explanation.)

#### **Auditor's Response**

(Auditor's response to management's comments. Please note that the auditor's responses are required for disagreements but are optional for agreements.)

Section III – Questioned Cost (EXAMPLE ONLY)

	III Questioned	QUESTIONED COSTS			
					Related
NO.	TITLE	DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE	INELIGIBLE	UNSUPPORT- ED	Finding No.
1	Outstanding Fund Balance Not Reconciled to Bank Balances	During the course of our audit, we observed that there was a difference of  U.S. \$XXX between the outstanding fund balance and the bank balances as of Month Day,  Year. However, we were unable to obtain an explanation for the  difference and there were no alternative procedures that we could use to determine  the nature of this difference.	\$XXXXX		Internal Control Finding #1 Or Material Noncompliance Finding #1
		the nature of this difference.	\$	\$	
	TOTAL		\$XXXXX	\$	

# **APPENDIX IX**

# INDEPENDENCE SELF-ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST

**Audit Title: Date:** 

Part I: Threat Identification	Yes	No	Comments
k) Self-interest threat- The threat that a financial or other interest will inappropriately influence an auditor's judgment or behavior.			
1) Self-review threat- The threat that an auditor or audit organization that has provided non-audit services will not appropriately evaluate the results of previous judgments made or services performed as part of the non-audit services when forming a judgment significant to an audit.			
m) Bias threat- The threat that an auditor will, as a result of political, ideological, social, or other convictions, take a position that is not objective.			
n) Familiarity threat- The threat that aspects of a relationship with management or personnel of an audited entity, including a close or long relationship, or that of an immediate or close family member, will lead an auditor to take a position that is not objective.			
o) Management participation threat- The threat that results from an auditor's taking on the role of management or otherwise performing management functions on behalf of the entity undergoing an audit.			
p) Structural threat- The threat that an audit organization's placement within a Government entity, combined with the structure of the Government entity being audited, will affect the audit organization's ability to perform work and report results objectively.			
Part II: Complete only if a Threat is Identified			
a) Is the threat related to a non-audit service? If "no," go to step 3. If "yes," go to step 2.			
b) Is the non-audit service specifically prohibited in <i>Government Auditing Standards</i> paragraphs 3.36 or 3.49 through 3.106? If "no," go to step 3. If "yes," independence is impaired and the auditor should not proceed with the audit.			
c) Assess the threat for significance.			
a. Is the threat significant? If "no," the auditor can proceed with the audit. If "yes," identify and apply safeguards. The auditor should discuss the safeguards with the audit team lead, engagement partner, and so on, if applicable.			

b. Is threat eliminated or reduced to ar the auditor can proceed with the aud impaired, and the auditor should no	dit. If "no," independence is		
Part I	III: Document Identified Threat		
The above steps have been documented i	n the audit workpapers.		
Name	Title		
Signature	Date		

# **APPENDIX X**

#### MCC'S REQUESTED SUPPLEMENTAL DOCUMENTS

The Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) reserves the right to request any working papers deemed relevant to the review of planning, draft audit report, and final audit report deliverables. Auditors must ensure that planning documentation contains a calculation of materiality and assessment of risks identified during planning by financial statement assertion. Below is a listing of documents that should be provided to <a href="MCCaudits@mcc.gov">MCCaudits@mcc.gov</a> throughout the audit.

# Audit Planning Document:

The following must be included in the Audit Planning Document:

- A detailed timeline (milestones) of the audit;
- · A list of the engagement team performing the audit;
- Evidence of engagement partner review and sign-off on the Audit Planning Document (work plan/ audit program);
- Analysis of risks and nature, timing, and extent of procedures at an assertion level;
- Consideration of whether specialized skills are needed;
- Define overall strategy and provide risks detailed by assertion level; and
- Determination of materiality and computation for each individual fund type level, as well as the consolidated level.

# Supplemental Documents:

- Documentation of the engagement acceptance procedures for the firm;
- A copy of the Engagement Letter signed by both parties (auditor and auditee);
- CPE tracking workpaper/copies of certificates for all team members;
- · Overall assessment of independence both for the firm and engagement team performing the audit;
- Documentation of communication with those charged with governance, including the following:
  - The IPA firm's responsibilities with regard to the audit;
  - The IPA firm's planned scope and timeline for the audit;
  - The nature of the IPA firm's planned work and level of assurance provided related to internal control over financial reporting and compliance with significant provisions of applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements; and
  - The form, timing, and expected general content of communications.

- Documentation regarding fraud risk considerations, a fraud risk planning meeting, and fraud brainstorming meeting, including the following:
  - Internal discussion among engagement personnel regarding risk of material misstatement due to fraud, how fraud can be perpetrated/concealed, and/or how assets could be misappropriated;
  - Inquiries made to management, those charged with governance, and others within the entity about risks of fraud.
- Independence Self-Assessment Checklist (see Appendix IX);
- Independence Statements of the Engagement Team;
- Documentation of the IPA firm's IT risk assessment and considerations during planning (if applicable). Considerations should include some or all of the following:
  - Identification of the role of IT relative to financial transactions and financial reporting;
  - Proper implementation of segregated duties at the system and application levels;
  - Risk of material misstatement associated with financial transactions and financial reporting;
  - Obtaining sufficient knowledge of the information system, including the related business processes relevant to financial reporting;
  - Obtaining an understanding of how the entity has responded to risks arising from IT (i.e., policies on security management);
  - Identification and assessment of potentially mitigating controls for those inherent risks, including application and general computing controls;
  - Determination of whether the IPA firm possesses, either internally or through the use of a specialist, the required expertise to address the risks associated with IT.

The IPA firm must adequately respond to and/or clarify the following:

# 1. Specialist Used

Were there any specialist(s) used to perform the audit? If so, please provide the following information regarding the specialist:

- A description of the services performed;
- Procedures performed to evaluate qualifications of the specialist(s);
- The IPA firm's understanding of the field of expertise of the specialist;
- How the adequacy of the specialist's work was evaluated;
- How the IPA firm ensured the specialist was independent of and objective in performing the work of Accountable Entity; and
- How the validity of the source data used by the specialist was determined.

# 2. Unpaid Fees

Are there any unpaid fees that remain for more than one year prior to the date of the report?

#### 3. Non-audit services

Were there any non-audit service(s) performed for the Accountable Entity? Yes or No. If yes, please de-scribe what type of services were performed and timeframe.

#### 4. Related Parties

Were there any related parties involved during the audit? If so, did you:

- obtain and document an understanding of related party relationships and transactions to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement?
- share the identity of related parties and other relevant information with the engagement team?
- obtain sufficient audit evidence about whether related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately identified, accounted for, and disclosed in the financial statements?

# Draft Audit Report:

Supplemental Documents:

- Risk assessment documentation that demonstrates that the IPA firm performed at least some or all of the following:
  - performed inquiries of management and others within the entity;
  - performed analytical procedures, and observation and inspection;
  - obtained an understanding of the entity and its environment and components of its internal control; and
  - identified significant risks and obtained an understanding of the entity's controls, including control activities, relevant to those risks.
- Documentation linking IT risks identified in planning and audit procedures performed to assess those risks;
- Entrance conference meeting minutes, including the date of the meeting;
- Exit conference meeting minutes, including the date of the meeting;
- Completed Audit Program;
- Audit Summary Memorandum or similar document summarizing the findings reported in the Draft Audit Report and procedures performed in obtaining the audit results/findings;
- Period end trial balance and financial statements;
- Confirmation of the field work end date for the audit;

- Closeout audit procedures, if applicable;
- Management Letter, if applicable; and
- Draft Management Representation Letter.

# Final Audit Report:

# 1. Quality Control Review

• Documentation/proof that the IPA firm has a quality control review system and that the review is performed by an independent partner and formally approved (e.g., via a checklist or signoff of program procedures/ workpapers)

# 2. Subsequent Events

- Confirmation that the IPA firm inquired of management about whether any subsequent events have occurred that might have an impact on the financial statements
- If any subsequent events were identified, provide the following:
  - Understanding of management procedures performed to ensure that subsequent events have been identified; and
  - Potential impact of the subsequent event(s) on the financial statements.
- 3. Final Management Letter (if applicable)
- 4. Communication to those charged with governance (if applicable)
- If those charged with governance differ from those in management, the IPA firm should provide a separate communication to those charged with governance that includes:
  - · Significant findings or issues from the audit
  - Uncorrected misstatements and the effect on the opinion in the auditor's report
- 5. Management Representation Letter

# **APPENDIX XI**

# ACCEPTANCE AND CONTINUANCE CHECKLIST

In accordance with U.S. *Government Auditing Standards* (GAGAS) and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), the below checklist provides an example template of some of the key factors to consider in making client acceptance decisions. It is critically important that you answer honestly for each criterion.

Step 1: Determine if this prospective client/engagement is a good fit for the firm. Rate each characteristic. Also think about additional factors that are relevant to the evaluation and sum the total score of each characteristic accordingly.

Characteristic	Client Rating (1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree, 5=Strongly Agree)	If Client Rating is less than 3, provide your recommended solution to move characteristic up to a rating of 4 or 5.
The prospective client cares		
about our integrity		
Background checks of the		
client, its officers, and so on		
did not reveal anything of		
concern		
The prospective client has		
agreed to be available and		
willing to answer questions		
and to provide clear answers		
and requested documentation		
in a timely fashion		
The prospective client has		
identified a main point of		
contact		
Communications with the		
predecessor accountant or		
auditor did not reveal any		
indications of disagreements		
or evidence of "opinion		
shopping"		
There are no concerns as		
it relates to management's		
integrity (reputation of		
owners, management,		
governance, etc.)		

Characteristic	Client Rating (1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree, 5=Strongly Agree)	If Client Rating is less than 3, provide your recommended solution to move characteristic up to a rating of 4 or 5.
After gaining an		
understanding of the		
prospective client's annual		
operations and reviewing		
relevant reports, there are no		
evidence that would regard		
the engagement as high-risk		
or warrant us to not want to		
associate with the client		
Our evaluation did not reveal		
any situations or events that		
raise substantial doubt about		
the entity's ability to continue		
as a going concern		
The prospective client does		
not operate in a highly		
specialized or regulated		
industry that is outside our		
firm's specialty - if rated 3 or		
less, see next question		
If the prospective client in		
the row above was rated 3 or		
less, we have identified a firm		
with the applicable expertise/		
specialty to affiliate with to		
assist us with this engagement		
[delete this question row		
for this client if the question		
above is rated 4 or higher]		

Characteristic	Client Rating (1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree, 5=Strongly Agree)	If Client Rating is less than 3, provide your recommended solution to move characteristic up to a rating of 4 or 5.
Our evaluation did not reveal		
any concerns relative to the		
attitude of the prospective		
client's principal owners,		
key management, and those		
charged with governance that		
would indicate aggressive		
interpretation of accounting		
standards and internal control		
over financial reporting		
There is not anything that		
causes us to be uncomfortable		
about the engagement		
There is not anything that		
would prevent us from		
complying with legal and		
ethical requirements		
Firm personnel have		
experience and have		
performed at least [#] similar		
engagements in this relevant		
industry or subject matter area		
Firm personnel have adequate		
and recent CPE (within last 12		
months) in the same relevant		
industry or subject matter area		
Firm personnel have the		
competence and knowledge to		
service the client and comply		
with specialized industry		
guidelines, regulations, etc.		
The firm is independent as		
required by GAGAS, AICPA,		
and other regulatory bodies,		
as applicable		

Characteristic	Client Rating (1=Strongly Disagree, 2=Disagree, 3=Neutral, 4=Agree, 5=Strongly Agree)	If Client Rating is less than 3, provide your recommended solution to move characteristic up to a rating of 4 or 5.
	3-3trollgly Agree)	4 01 3.
We currently have sufficient		
personnel, including the use		
of specialists, that is needed		
for the engagement in order		
to complete the engagement		
within the reporting deadline		
The firm has go-to resources		
to call upon for answers,		
should the engagement pose		
a situation of which we lack		
expertise		
The proposed fee is adequate		
for the time/resources that		
is required to do a thorough		
audit which will result in a		
quality profitable engagement		
Additional Considerations		
Total Score:	0	

Step 2: Based on the above evaluations in Step 1, document your acceptance decision. It is advisable to determine a firm policy for a minimum acceptable score to accept and/or continue with the engagement (e.g., Firm policy requires a minimum score of 75 in Step 1 to accept this client).

Step 3: If your analysis in Step 2 above is to not accept the audit engagement, document your consideration of working with the client in a different capacity. For example, if you are not comfortable performing the audit, offer your consulting services as their liaison to the new auditor in assisting the client in preparing for and during the audit.

# APPENDIX XII

# REFERENCE MATERIALS

*U.S. Government Auditing Standards*, 2018 Revision with technical updates dated April 2021: <a href="https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-368g">https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-368g</a> (The 2018 revision of the Yellow Book is effective for financial audits, attestation engagements, and reviews of financial statements for periods ending on or after June 30, 2020 and for performance audits beginning on or after July 1, 2019.)

Federal Information System Controls Audit Manual (FISCAM), Government Accountability Office (GAO)- 09-232G, Dated: Feb 2009: <a href="https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-09-232G">https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-09-232G</a>

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Omnibus Statements on Standards for Ac- counting and Review Services (SSARS), AR-C Section 90, Review of Financial Statements: <a href="https://www.aicpa.org/content/dam/aicpa/research/standards/compilationreview/downloadabledocuments/ar-c-00090.pdf">https://www.aicpa.org/content/dam/aicpa/research/standards/compilationreview/downloadabledocuments/ar-c-00090.pdf</a>

The following sections of the AICPA Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS) may be applicable to audits of Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) funds. The AICPA Codification of SASs may be obtained from the AICPA, 1211 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10036-8775 or at

Original Standard No.	Title	Section in professional Standards
	Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and	
SAS No. 122	the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards	AU-C Section 200
	Terms of Engagement	AU-C Section 210
	Audit Documentation	AU-C Section 230
	Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit	AU-C Section 240
	Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements	AU-C Section 250
	The Auditor's Communication with Those Charged With Governance	AU-C Section 260
	Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit	AU-C Section 265
	Planning an Audit	AU-C Section 300
	Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit	AU-C Section 320
	Performing Audit procedures in Response to Assessed Risks and Evaluating the Audit Evidence Obtained	AU-C Section 330
	Audit Considerations Relating to an Entity Using a Service Organization	AU-C Section 402
	Evaluation of Misstatements Identified During the Audit	AU-C Section 450

Original Standard No.	Title	Section in professional Standards
	Audit Evidence—Specific Considerations for Selected Items	AU-C Section 501
	External Confirmations	AU-C Section 505
	Opening Balances—Initial Audit Engagements, Including Reaudit Engagements	AU-C Section 510
	Analytical procedures	AU-C Section 520
	Audit Sampling	AU-C Section 530
	Related Parties This section addresses the auditor's responsibilities relating to related party relationships and transactions in an audit of financial statements.	AU-C Section 550
	Subsequent Events and Subsequently Discovered Facts This section addresses the auditor's responsibilities relating to subsequent events and subsequently discovered facts in an audit of financial statements. It also addresses a predecessor auditor's responsibilities for subsequent events and subsequently discovered facts when reissuing the auditor's report on previously issued financial statements that are to be presented on a comparative basis with audited financial statements of a subsequent period.	AU-C Section 560
	Written Representations This section addresses the auditor's responsibility to obtain written representations from management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance in an audit of financial statements.	AU-C Section 580
	Consideration of Omitted Procedures After the Report Release Date This section addresses the auditor's responsibilities when, subsequent to the report release date, the auditor becomes aware that one or more auditing procedures that the auditor considered necessary in the circumstances existing at the time of the audit were omitted from the audit of the financial statements.	AU-C Section 585
	Using the Work of an Auditor's Specialist This section addresses the auditor's responsibilities relating to the work of an individual or organization possessing expertise in a field other than accounting or auditing when that work is used to assist the auditor in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence.	AU-C Section 620

Original Standard No.	Title  Consistency of Financial Statements	Section in professional Standards
	Consistency of Financial Statements  This section addresses the auditor's evaluation of the consistency of the financial statements between periods, including changes to previously issued financial statements and the effect of that evaluation on the auditor's report on the financial statements.	AU-C Section 708
	Supplementary Information in Relation to the Financial Statements as a Whole This section addresses the auditor's responsibility when engaged to report on whether supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.	AU-C Section 725
	Required Supplementary Information This section addresses the auditor's responsibility with respect to information that a designated accounting standards setter requires to accompany an entity's basic financial statements (hereinafter referred to as required supplementary information).	AU-C Section 730
	Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks This section addresses special considerations in the application of AU-C sections 200-700A to an audit of financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework, which is a cash, a tax, a regulatory, a contractual, or an other basis of accounting	AU-C Section 800
SAS No. 134	Auditor Reporting and Amendments, Including Amendments Addressing Disclosures in the Audit of Financial Statements These sections address the auditor's responsibility to form an opinion on the financial statements and the form and content of the auditor's report issued as a result of an audit of financial statements.	AU-C Section 700 AU-C Section 701 AU-C Section 705 AU-C Section 706

		Section in
Original		professional
Standard No.	Title	Standards
SAS No. 137	The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements This section addresses the auditor's responsibilities relating to other information, whether financial or nonfinancial information (other than financial statements and the auditor's report thereon), included in an entity's annual report. An entity's annual report may be a single document or a combination of documents that serve the same purpose.	AU-C Section 720
SAS No. 142	Audit Evidence The primary focus of SAS No. 142, including its objective, is on considering the attributes and factors of information that contribute to an assessment of whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained. This standard is based on the premise that the auditor should evaluate information to be used as audit evidence notwithstanding the source from which it is obtained, or the procedures used to obtain the information. New attributes of information for the auditor to consider include whether the information is corroborative or contradictory to management assertions, the authenticity of the evidence and its susceptibility to bias.	AU-C Section 500
SAS No. 143	Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures SAS No. 143 is intended to enable auditors to appropriately address the increasingly complex scenarios that arise today from new accounting standards that include estimates and related disclosures, and to enhance the auditor's focus on factors driving estimation uncertainty and potential management bias. In our current environment, management's estimates related to asset impairments are particularly important and this standard will aid auditors in assessing management's estimates during a period of economic uncertainty and volatility.	AU-C Section 540

Original		Section in professional
Standard No.	Title	Standards
SAS No. 145	Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement SAS No. 145 enhances the requirements and guidance on identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement, in particular the areas of understanding the entity's system of internal control and assessing control risk.	AU-C Section 315

# Reducing Poverty Through Growth

